
 

 

 

 
COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

 
Venue: The Atrium, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 

Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ  
Date:   Tuesday, 7th September, 2021 
Time:   2.00 pm 
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby Tel: 07385 362806 

 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Minutes of the meetings held on 22 June 2021 and 28 July 2021  1 - 18 

3. Declarations of Interest in Agenda Items   

4. Chair's Announcements   

5. Petitions   

6. Questions from Members of the Public   

 To receive questions from members of the public.  Maximum time allowed 
30 minutes.  Questions must be submitted to the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer at least three working days prior to the meeting. 
 

 

 

7. Questions by Members   

 a) Written questions to the Mayor or any other Member of the Council 
in relation to content of any recommendations or reports before 
the Council.  Questions must be submitted in writing to the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer at least three working days prior to the 
meeting. (45 minutes allowed) – Procedure Rule 11.2. 
 

b) Oral questions to the Mayor on any matter where the Council has 
powers or duties or which affects the Borough.  (60 minutes allowed 
plus any unused time from (a) above) – Procedure Rule 11.1. 

 

 

 

8. Mayor's Executive Report  19 - 46 

9. Legionella and Asbestos Policy Update 2021/22  47 - 84 

Copeland Borough Council 
The Market Hall 
Market Place 
Whitehaven 
CA28 7JG 

Public Document Pack



10. Shopfront Design Guide SPD Adoption  85 - 124 

11. Copeland Local Plan 2021-38: Pre-Publication Focussed Consultation  125 - 182 

12. Date and Time of the Next Meeting   

 The next meeting of Council will be held on Tuesday 7th December 2021 at 
2:00pm in The Atrium, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, Whitehaven. 
 

 

 
 

Membership: Councillors Jeanette Forster (Chair), David Banks, Jackie Bowman, 
Hugh Branney, Graham Calvin, James Date, Gemma Dinsdale, Gwynneth Everett, 
Allan Forster, Joseph Ghayouba, Fred Gleaves, Jeffrey Hailes, Mike Hawkins, Tom Higgins, 
Linda Jones-Bulman (Deputy Chair), Joan Hully, John Kane, Charles Maudling, Ged McGrath, 
Michael McVeigh, Sam Meteer, Graham Minshaw, David Moore, Steven Morgan, 
Brian O'Kane, Sam Pollen, Andy Pratt, Russell Studholme, Peter Tyson, Carl Walmsley, 
Eileen Weir, Doug Wilson and Felicity Wilson 

 
Contacts:  Direct Dial: 01946 598328 
   E-mail:  clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk 
   Website: www.copeland.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 



COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 
 

Present: Councillor Jeanette Forster (Chair), Mayor Mike Starkie,  
Councillors  David Banks, Jackie Bowman, Hugh Branney, Graham Calvin, 
James Date, Gwynneth Everett, JosephGhayouba, Jeffrey Hailes, Tom Higgins, 
Linda Jones-Bulman, Joan Hully, John Kane, Charles Maudling, Ged McGrath, 
Michael McVeigh, Sam Meteer, David Moore, Steven Morgan, Brian O'Kane, 
Sam Pollen, Andy Pratt, Russell Studholme, Peter Tyson, Eileen Weir and 
Felicity Wilson. 
 
Officers: Pat Graham (Chief Executive), Sarah Pemberton (Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial Strategy (Monitoring Officer)), Steven Brown (Director 
of Financial Resources), Clinton Boyce (Solicitor), Stephanie Shaw (Electoral and 
Democratic Services Manager), Clive Willoughby (Democratic Services Officer), 
Rose Blaney (Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny)), Andrew Clarke 
(Communications and Engagement Manager) and Lesley Taylor (PA to the 
Mayor) 
 
 

C 21/11 Suspension of Rule of Debate 14.1  
 
Councillor David Moore moved a motion to suspend Rule of Debate 14.1 for this 
meeting, to allow Members to remain seated, if they wished. whilst addressing 
Council. It was seconded by Councillor Steven Morgan and 
 
RESOLVED –that Rule of Debate 14.1 be suspended for this meeting. 
 

C 21/12 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Allan Forster, 
Fred Gleaves, Mike Hawkins, Graham Minshaw and Doug Wilson. 
 

C 21/13 Minutes of the meeting held on 25 May 2021  
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 25 May 2021 be signed by 
the Chair as a correct record, subject to it being noted that during the meeting 
Councillor Charles Maudling notified Council that he had joined the Conservative 
Party.  
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



C 21/14 Declarations of Interest in Agenda Items  
 
Councillor Joan Hully declared a non pecuniary interest due to being in receipt of 
Council Tax benefits, a Cleator Moor Town Councillor and a member of Regen 
NE Copeland.  
Councillor Jackie Bowman also declared a non pecuniary interest due to being in 
receipt of Council Tax benefits.  
 

C 21/15 Chair's Announcements  
 
The Chair asked members to adhere to the Covid-19 restrictions around social 
distancing. 
 

C 21/16 Petitions  
 
It was noted that no petitions had been received from members of the public. 
 

C 21/17 Questions from Members of the Public  
 
There were no questions received from members of the public. 
 

C 21/18 Questions by Members  
 
a) Written Questions  
 
There were no written questions from Members.  
 
The Chair reminded Council that written questions should be submitted to the 
Monitoring Officer at least three clear working days in advance, as per the 
Constitution. 
 
b) Oral Questions  
 
Councillor Jackie Bowman referred to the Council meeting held on 27 April 2021, 
where the Chief Executive advised members that a briefing would be held 
regarding properties acquired by the Council, and asked when that briefing was 
going to take place. 
In response, the Chief Executive advised that a programme was being put 
together and that the action would not be forgotten. 
 
Councillor Jackie Bowman congratulated the Council staff for the work they had 
undertaken during the Covid-19 pandemic. Then asked since the Copeland Open 

Page 2



for Business Campaign started how many new businesses have opened and how 
many have closed, prior to the  
Covid-19. 
The Mayor undertook to provide a written response.  
 

C 21/19 Mayor's Executive Report  
 
In asking the Mayor, Mike Starkie to introduce his Executive Report, Members 
were advised that questions would be taken at the end of each portfolio report.   
 
The Mayor introduced the Executive report by highlighting a number of items. 
These included:- 

 £22.5m awarded to the Cleator Moor Town Deal and thanks was 
expressed to the Town Deal Board and the Officers for their work. 

 The result of the Millom Town Deal bid was expected soon and 
expectations were high for a similar outcome. 

 The Whitehaven Bus Station had now opened and Barclays Eagle Labs had 
reported a successful launch. The Peddler was also reporting positive 
feedback. 

 The former Barclays Bank building had been purchased and leased to 
Power Bikes. 

 Work was about to commence on The Edge. 

 The former Whittles building had been purchased by BEC and work was 
due to start there shortly. 

 Progress on Mark House and the former Bus Garage sites was also about 
to start. 

 The Red Lion and Tommy Kelly’s in Egremont had been demolished and 
purchased by BEC and is now ready for redevelopment. 

 A new Play Park had opened in Millom.  
 
The Mayor was confident that further funding opportunities were coming up 
and he stated he would be keen to obtain as much funding as possible for all 
areas of the borough. 
 
The Executive Report was then moved by the Mayor. 
 
Questions were then invited on the Mayor’s Strategic Leadership portfolio 
 
Councillor Steven Morgan welcomed the news on funding for Cleator Moor and 
asked if the Mayor would continue to support other areas of the borough with 
their funding bids specific projects in the future. 
The Mayor replied that he would. 
 

Page 3



Councillor Hugh Branney echoed the Mayor in thanking the volunteers of the 
Town Deal bid and the Council’s officers for their support. 
 
Note: Councillor Hugh Branney declared a non pecuniary interest at this point 
due to being a member of the Cleator Moor Town Deal board.  
 
Councillor Jackie Bowman referred to the Levelling Up bid and asked if the 
Whitehaven bid had gone in. 
The Mayor replied that the Cleator Moor bid had been submitted and the 
Whitehaven bid had not, as yet. A number of projects that were going to be 
included in the Whitehaven bid are going ahead regardless. 
 
In a supplementary, Councillor Bowman asked specifically about King Street. 
In response, the Mayor advised that a number of properties in King Street had 
been purchased and progress with these was being made. 
 
Councillor Michael McVeigh asked about the Borderlands fund and the £3m 
funding secured for Egremont, as reported in the Whitehaven News. However, 
when enquiring with Cumbria County Council, they confirmed that Egremont 
had received nothing. 
The Mayor replied that money from the Borderlands Fund was heading for 
Copeland and the Executive agreed to re-direct this to Egremont, a decision 
endorsed by the County’s Local Area Committee. Egremont now needs to come 
up with plans. 
 
Councillor Sam Pollen advised that Egremont had a Town Team set up and was 
looking towards an autumn submission. 
With regards communications, it was asked if when new projects were 
launched, the local people, local councillors and the staff involved should be 
included.  
 
Councillor Felicity Wilson thanked the council officers, the local community and 
the Mayor for their help in the submission of the Millom Town Deal bid and was 
hopeful for a successful outcome. Councillor Wilson also offered her support to 
other areas of the borough when they were preparing bids in the future. 
 
Councillor Dave Banks stated he was proud to be part of a council that was 
achieving, but was disappointed at the lack of information being shared with 
Members. As an example, Councillor Banks referred to the Red Lion site in 
Egremont, requesting that the Town and Borough councillors have input into 
what is going on that site and give them some involvement. 
The Mayor agreed to pick this up when the project moved into the next phase. 
 

Page 4



Councillor Joseph Ghayouba congratulated Millom on its new Play Park and 
asked if Copeland had taken on the maintenance, if not, who has, who funded it 
and who would pay. 
In reply, the Mayor stated it was funded through the accelerated funding of the 
Town Deal. 
Councillor Felicity Wilson confirmed that Millom Town Council owned the land 
and have taken on the responsibility for it, including maintenance. 
 
Councillor Linda Jones-Bulman referred to the poor road infrastructure and 
asked what could be done. 
The Mayor agreed but this was not within the council’s remit. Local Government 
Reform may help in this area. 
The Chief Executive also agreed and noted that the planning process picked up 
these issues through section 106 agreements. Funding was also available that 
the County Council could apply for. There was also an opportunity through 
Levelling Up 2 towards the end of this year. 
 
Councillor Hugh Branney referred to the Ennerdale Valley superfast broadband 
and asked if this was a casualty of Egremont getting borderlands funding. 
The Chief Executive clarified that this was a different funding stream. 
 
Councillor Eileen Weir, with regard to commercialisation, the Dixon’s building 
received £10k for repainting. Now that building is for sale, would the council 
receive a refund. A request was also made for an update from the Chief 
Executive regarding funding. 
The Mayor replied that the Pride of Place fund was available to every business 
across the borough. There was a clawback clause included in all the grants. 
 
In a supplementary, Councillor Weir asked if the Mayor would make public the 
plans for Whitehaven Town Centre and write a newspaper article. 
The Mayor stated that this was a public meeting, but he would be happy to 
write an article for the local newspaper.   
 
Councillor Sam Pollen stated there was a need for a change to be brought about 
by the Local Government Review as, like other district councils, Copeland was 
struggling due to the budget cuts. 
Councillor John Kane noted that a number of properties had been purchased 
and asked who authorised the purchases and why had they not come to full 
Council before going to the press. 
The Mayor replied that the Executive had delegated authority up to a certain 
level. He further stated that agenda papers for every meeting were available to 
all councillors. 
 

Page 5



Councillor Michael McVeigh explained why he did not attend Executive meeting 
and Councillor Jackie Bowman stated that all councillors need to know what was 
going on. 
 
 
Questions were then invited on Councillor Moore’s Nuclear and Corporate 
Services portfolio 
 
Councillor Sam Pollen referred to a newspaper headline and article regarding a 
possible Geological Disposal Facility in which the portfolio holder was quoted 
and asked if that represented the council’s position.  
Councillor Moore replied that his position was clear when representing the 
council and that was that council’s position had not been agreed and the 
newspaper article had been written by the journalist.  
 
In a supplementary, Councillor Pollen believed the article did not portray the 
council’s position. It was also stated that the nuclear waste was already in 
Copeland and the benefits should be here now. 
Councillor Moore responded that Copeland already received money from the 
Nuclear industry. The community would make the ultimate decision on GDF.  
 
Councillor Jackie Bowman asked what ‘STEP’ stands for  
The Chief Executive advised that it was the Spherical Tokamak for Energy 
Production.  
 
Councillor John Kane asked what had the NDA brought into the area, as their 
remit was to bring in other new industry.  
Councillor Moore replied by listing the Industrial Solutions Hub, Schools, NDA’s 
HQ and many others. The remit of the NDA was to mitigate the impact of the 
clean-up. 
 
Councillor Joseph Ghayouba agreed with Councillor Kane and stated that the 
NDA should be looking at the transition into new jobs as decommissioning 
progresses and asked what the NDA was doing in this respect. 
Councillor Moore replied that looking forward to STEP, SMR’s and AMR’s the 
NDA were developing training for existing Sellafield staff to take on new roles in 
those areas. 
 
In a supplementary, Councillor Ghayouba stated that, as a Sellafield employee, 
he did not believe that Sellafield Ltd were doing enough and were not meeting 
their own targets.  

Page 6



Councillor Moore noted the comments and advised Councillor Ghayouba that 
many of his questions could be asked through the Strategic Nuclear and Energy 
Board that Councillor Ghayouba was now a member of. 
 
Councillor John Kane commented that over recent years Sellafield Ltd had 
reduced their employees terms and conditions. 
 
Note: Councillor Brian O’Kane left the meeting at this point. 
 
 
Questions were then invited on Councillor Morgan’s Commercial Services 
portfolio 
 
Councillor Jackie Bowman asked if the street cleansing would be for all of 
Copeland. 
Councillor Morgan replied that it would cover the parts of the borough that had 
settlements. 
 
In a supplementary, Councillor Bowman referred to fly-tipping in Lowca and in 
particular the Parish Council wanting to provide and install a gate, but had been 
told ‘no’. 
Councillor Morgan said he would be happy to look into. 
 
Councillor Michael McVeigh raised an issue in Egremont where a large amount 
of rubbish remained after the waste team had been emptied bins. 
Councillor Morgan replied that he would investigate. 
 
Councillor Linda Jones-Bulman stated that the National Trust were offering 
reduced overnight parking rates and asked if this was something Copeland could 
introduced. 
Councillor Morgan agreed to investigate and consider this option. 
 
Councillor Peter Tyson referred to volunteers litter picking and asked if this was 
legal from a health and safety point of view. 
The solicitor confirmed that a risk assessment had been done and any proposed 
activity would also require a risk assessment. 
 
Councillor Graham Calvin referred to Moor Row Playing Field and a suggestion 
he had made to the Open Spaces Manager, but had not received a reply. 
Councillor Morgan agreed to visit the area with the Open Spaces Manager and 
report back to Councillor Calvin. 
 
 

Page 7



Councillor Sam Meteer asked  

 if defibrillators were installed in all Council owned buildings,  

 if defibrillators are not installed, could we install, and  

 where defibrillators are provided, are they accessible to the public and 
registered with the North West Ambulance Service. 

The Mayor responded stating that work is already underway to list all the 
defibrillators on Council premises, and a number of sports clubs have also asked 
regarding them. Discussions were also taking place with the North West 
Ambulance Service defibrillator co-ordinator. The Mayor undertook to provide a 
written response.    
 
 
Questions were then invited on Councillor Pratt’s Environment, Place and 
Inclusive Communities portfolio 
 
Councillor Sam Pollen paid tribute to the work of the homelessness officers 
during particularly difficult times and welcomed the new funding that had been 
achieved. 
Councillor Pratt replied that he would be happy to pass on the message to the 
team. 
 
Councillor Hugh Branney asked what actions were being undertaken in house 
building to take account of climate change.    
Councillor Pratt replied that the Planning team meet with potential developers 
prior to submission of applications and encourage them to incorporate such 
measures. 
 
In a supplementary, Councillor Branney suggested that the Council should be 
more forceful and not encourage, but demand such measures. He also asked 
what the Council was doing in this respect with its own properties. 
The Chief Executive advised that Copeland had applied for and received some 
decarbonisation funding. Home Group were also designing more sustainable 
homes. 
 
Councillor Joseph Ghayouba stated that 420 new homes were planned for his 
ward and asked how much the Council stood to earn from these, in terms of 
Government incentives, rates, etc.    
The Chief Executive confirmed that as the Planning Authority, no incentives 
were received that would influence any planning decision.  
 
In a supplementary, Councillor Ghayouba asked if the council received a New 
Homes Bonus. 

Page 8



The Chief Executive stated that the New Homes Bonus had been phased out. It 
was further stated that when new homes were built there were more bins to 
empty and more school places required, etc. 
 
In a further supplementary, Councillor Ghayouba expressed concern at the 
length of time some applications were being taken to process after a ‘minded to’ 
decision. 
In response, Councillor Pratt stated that the return of an application to the 
Planning Panel was determined by the developer and appreciated that some 
applications take longer than others.  
 
RESOLVED: That the Mayor’s Executive report be noted.   
 
 
Note: Councillor Russell Studholme left the meeting at this point. 
 
 

C 21/20 Cleator Moor Town Deal  
 
Council were informed of the offer received from the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) in the sum of £22.5m in respect 
of the Cleator Moor Town Deal bid.  
An update was also provided on the Millom bid which was still under 
consideration by MHCLG. 
 
Mayor Mike Starkie moved the report, which was seconded by Councillor Andy 
Pratt. 
 
Questions were then invited from Members. 
 
Councillor Michael McVeigh asked the Mayor and/or the Chief Executive to 
write to Robert Jenrick MP at MHCLG asking why Egremont had been omitted 
from the Towns Fund bid. 
The Mayor stated he was delighted that two towns in Copeland had successful 
bids. Other funding streams were coming along and he would continue to try to 
get as much funding as possible for all the towns in Copeland. He did not want 
to antagonise the minister and put future funding at risk by writing such a letter. 
 
Councillor Linda Jones-Bulman noted that delivery of the Cleator Moor project 
would be overseen by the Executive and asked if members of Cleator Moor 
Town Council would be involved. 
The Mayor and the Chief Executive confirmed that the Executive would be 
overseeing delivery of the project as the Council was the Accountable Body. The 

Page 9



Cleator Moor Town Deal Board would continue throughout the project 
development and implementation stage. 
 
RESOLVED: That  
a) the offer made by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local  
    Government (MHCLG) in the sum of up to £22.5m in respect of the 
    Town Deal bid for Cleator Moor as set out in the appendix to the  
    agenda report be accepted, 
b) the Chief Executive be delegated authority to sign heads of terms on 
     behalf of the Council accepting the grant referred to in a) above, 
c) a further report be submitted to Council on the Cleator Moor Town  
    Deal advising Council of the projects chosen by the Town Deal Board  
    to go forward to the next stage and the timescales for developing the 
     business plans for each project or should match funding in excess of  
    £200,000 be obtained, 
d) the position with the Millom Town Deal bid be noted, and 
e) if heads of terms are issued in respect of the Millom Town Deal bid in  
    similar terms to the Cleator Moor terms and provided that the terms  
    must be signed before the next ordinary meeting of Council  
    (7th September 2021) that the Chief Executive be delegated with  
    authority to (i) accept the grant offered and (ii) sign the heads of  
    terms on behalf of the Council. 
 
 

C 21/21 Parliamentary Boundary Review 2023  
 
Council considered a report on the Parliamentary Boundary Review 2023, which 
was seeking views on the initial proposals during the consultation period 
running until 2 August 2021. 
 
Councillor David Moore moved the report, which was seconded by Councillor 
Steven Morgan. 
 
Councillor Hugh Branney expressed a view that linking the west coast with 
Windermere was a nonsense. However, as the recommendation was to delegate 
formulating a response to the Electoral Review Panel, he would save his further 
comments for then. 
 
RESOLVED: That  

a) the initial proposals published by the Boundary Commission be noted, and 
b) responsibility for formulating a consultation response and reporting back 

to Council be delegated to the Electoral Review Panel. 
 

Page 10



C 21/22 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Annual Report  
 
Consideration was given to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 
2020/21, which was presented by Councillor John Kane (Chair of Overview and 
Scrutiny).  
 
In doing so, it was noted that the Covid-19 pandemic had restricted the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee over the last year and a number of items on 
their work plan could not be undertaken. 
It was also noted that the Scrutiny Officer had left during the year and Rose 
Blaney had now taken over that role. Rose was thanked for hitting the ground 
running and for the tremendous support she was already offering. 
Members were then reminded that a number of Task and Finish Groups were 
being set up and membership of those groups was not limited to just OSC 
members, other members would also be very welcome. 
   
Councillor John Kane moved the report, which was seconded by Councillor 
Michael McVeigh.  
 
During the discussion that followed Councillor Michael McVeigh thanked the 
Chair, Vice-Chair and the Scrutiny Officer for their work.  
 
Councillor Ged McGrath noted that the report did not show him as a member of 
OSC during that period. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2020/21 
be received and noted.  
 
 
Note: Councillors Dave Banks and Ged McGrath left the meeting at this point 
 
 

C 21/23 Outside Bodies Annual Report  
 
Consideration was given to the Outside Bodies Annual Report 2020/21.  
 
Councillor David Moore moved the report, which was seconded by Councillor 
Andy Pratt.  
 
Questions from members followed. 
Councillor Sam Meteer thanked Councillor Weir and Councillor Pollen for their 
comprehensive and interesting reports. 
 

Page 11



Councillor Felicity Wilson asked if it was possible to have substitutes appointed 
to outside bodies to cover for the appointed member if he/she was unable to 
attend. 
Councillor Moore responded that he would be happy to explore the possibility, 
but it did depend on the constitution of the outside body as to whether this was 
allowed. 
 
Councillor John Kane commented that it would be useful if an officer could 
accompany any member appointed to an outside body for the first time. 
 
Councillor Jackie Bowman asked who the portfolio holder was for the North 
West Employers Organisation (NWEO). 
In reply, Councillor Moore stated that most engagement between NWEO and 
the council took place at officer level. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Outside Bodies Annual Report 2020/21 be received and 
noted.  
 
Note: The meeting was adjourned at 4:40pm and re-convened at 4:50pm 
 

C 21/24 Exclusion of Press and Public  
 
RESOLVED – That the press and public be excluded for the remaining item items 
of business in view of likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 1, 2, 3 and 4 of part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended). 
 

C 21/25 Re-Organisation of Corporate Leadership Team  
 
Council considered a report from the Head of Paid Service regarding the 
restructuring of the Corporate Leadership Team. 
 
RESOLVED – That the recommendations as stated in the agenda report be 
agreed. 
 

C 21/26 Date and Time of the Next Meeting  
 
It was noted that the next meeting of Council would be an Extra-Ordinary 
meeting to be held at 2:00pm on Wednesday 28th July 2021.  
 
The Meeting closed at 5.10 pm  

 
Chair 

Page 12



COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 28 JULY 2021 
 

Present: Councillor Jeanette Forster (Chair), Mayor Mike Starkie, 
Councillors  David Banks, Jackie Bowman, Hugh Branney, Graham Calvin, 
Gwynneth Everett, Allan Forster, Joseph Ghayouba, Fred Gleaves, Jeffrey Hailes, 
Mike Hawkins, Tom Higgins, Linda Jones-Bulman, Joan Hully, John Kane, 
Charles Maudling, Ged McGrath, Sam Meteer, Graham Minshaw, David Moore, 
Brian O'Kane, Andy Pratt, Russell Studholme, Eileen Weir, Doug Wilson and 
Felicity Wilson. 
 
Officers: Pat Graham (Chief Executive), Sarah Pemberton (Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial Strategy (Monitoring Officer)), Steven Brown (Director 
of Financial Resources), Clinton Boyce (Solicitor), Clive Willoughby (Democratic 
Services Officer), Rose Blaney (Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny)) and 
Christina Cremins (Senior Communications and Engagement Officer). 
 
 

C21/27 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors James Date, 
Michael McVeigh, Steven Morgan, Sam Pollen and Peter Tyson. 
Stephanie Shaw (Electoral and Democratic Services Manager). 
 
 

C21/28 Declarations of Interest in Agenda Items  
 
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.  
 
 

C21/29 Local Government Reform - Verbal Update  
 
The Mayor provided Council with an update on Local Government Reform. 
It was stated that the consultation period had ended and Government was 
proposing two new unitary authorities on an East/West basis, one being formed 
by Copeland Bough Council, Allerdale Borough Council and Carlisle City Council 
and Cumbria County Council. 
Elections for the shadow authority would take place in May 2022 and this would 
run alongside the existing councils for 12 months. The term of Cumbria County 
Council would be extended by one year. 
In April 2023, the existing authorities would be abolished.  
 

Public Document Pack

Page 13



The Chief Executive added that this was a huge opportunity to redesign and 
transform service delivery in Cumbria. It was acknowledged that this was an 
unsettling time for staff, who were both excited and concerned, however, the 
changes would take place over a number of years. 
Council was advised that the Chief Executives of all the Cumbrian authorities 
were already meeting to identify the best way forward. 
Copeland councillors and staff were asked to remain focussed on delivering 
services up until vesting date when the authority ceases to exist. 
The next formal decision point for this council would be the Structural Changes 
Order which is expected to be laid before parliament at the end of 2021 or early 
2022. 
The Chief Executive committed to keep all Councillors involved and up-to-date. 
 
Questions from members were then invited. 
 
Councillor Dave Banks asked about the number of Councillors in the new 
authority and the difference between the existing Borough and County ward 
boundaries. 
The Mayor replied that no decision had yet been made, but he anticipated that 
the existing County ward boundaries would be used, of which there were 12 in 
Copeland with two councillors in each, but this was not confirmed. Across the 
new West authority, that would equate to 92 councillors. 
 
Councillor Joseph Ghayouba asked if any job losses were expected. 
The Mayor again replied that it was too early to tell, but believed any job losses 
would be minimal due to natural wastage, retirements and the existing number 
of vacancies across the county. Job losses would probably be at a senior level. 
 
In a supplementary question, Councillor Ghayouba asked if a programme of 
retraining for council staff would be considered. 
The Mayor advised that this was something already being explored. 
He added that Copeland was a very lean council and there would be 
opportunities for staff to progress. 
The Chief Executive added that there was a healthy training budget available 
and the Aim High process put staff in a good position. The management team 
was also working closely with the trade unions. 
 
Councillor Mike Hawkins expressed concern regarding adult social care, 
children’s services and highways and how they would be split. He then asked if 
there was provision for an overarching Mayor or if this was a decision for the 
new authorities. 
The Mayor advised that a decision regarding a combined authority and 
overarching Mayor would be for the new authorities. 

Page 14



The Chief Executive made clear that adult social care, children’s services and 
highways remained an absolute priority for the new authorities. 
 
Councillor Jackie Bowman asked where the centre of the new administration 
would be. 
The Mayor advised it was too early to answer that question at the present, but 
would expect there to be offices in the three areas of the existing authorities. 
The Chief Executive added that some County Councillors currently have large 
distances to travel for meetings, but would be disappointed if management and 
council meetings were not held around the new authority area. However, it 
would be for the new authority to decide. 
 
 

C21/30 Parliamentary Boundary Review 2023  
 
Councillor Eileen Weir, as Chair of the Electoral Review Panel, presented the 
report and recommendations of the Electoral Review Panel on the proposals of 
the Boundary Commission for England for revised Parliamentary Constituencies 
in Cumbria 
 
The report was seconded by Councillor Sam Meteer. 
 
During the discussion that followed Councillor David Moore stated that the 
Electoral Review Panel had failed to meet its brief as the proposal put forward 
falls outside the criteria set by the Boundary Commission for England. It also 
failed to consider the impact on the other proposed constituencies within 
Cumbria. He suggested that the original proposal put forward by the Boundary 
Commission for England be supported. 
 
Councillor Doug Wilson stated he was devastated by the proposal which 
removed Scafell, Blackcombe and Millom from the constituency. 
 
Councillor Sam Meteer, as a member of the Electoral Review Panel, stated the 
response followed the proposal put forward by this council in 2016. 
 
Councillor Eileen Weir stated that the Electoral Review Panel tried to keep the 
electorate numbers within the parameters and that the electorate needed a 
Member of Parliament who was local to them. 
 
Councillor Felicity Wilson appreciated the work undertaken by the Electoral 
Review Panel, however, the south of the borough should not be excluded. The 
proposal should be reconsidered. 
 

Page 15



Councillor Andy Pratt stated that if Copeland Borough Council wanted to be 
seen as a creditable organisation, the submission needed to meet the Boundary 
Commission for England’s criteria, the proposal did not meet the criteria and he 
could not support it. 
 
A vote by way of a show of hands was then taken on the recommendation as 
shown on the agenda report. 
On a vote of 14 votes for, 11 against and 1 abstention, it was 
 
RESOLVED: That a response based on the recommendations and alternative 
proposal put forward by the Electoral Review Panel, be agreed and forwarded to 
the Boundary Commission for England as the Council’s formal response to the 
Review of Parliamentary Constituencies consultation.  
 
 

C21/31 Constitution  
 
Councillor David Moore presented a report from the Standards and Ethics 
Committee recommending Council’s approval on changes to four parts of the 
Constitution. 
 
The report was seconded by Councillor Doug Wilson. 
 
Questions were then invited from Members. 
 
Councillor Linda Jones-Bulman asked for assurance that all photographs 
submitted with planning applications that meet legal requirements would be 
shown to the Planning Panel. 
The Council’s Solicitor provided the assurance, that provided they met legal 
requirements regarding copyright, ownership and were not distorted, they 
would be permitted. 
 
Councillor Graham Calvin asked if the Standards and Ethics Committee’s 
recommendation of increasing the quorum figure for Planning Panel from three 
to five would be adopted. 
The Monitoring Officer stated it would be, if agreed by Council. 
 
Councillor Joseph Ghayouba referred to Planning Panel’s ‘Minded to’ decisions 
and applications not returning to the next meeting. 
Councillor Moore replied that returning the application to the next meeting was 
not always possible as the applicant and /or objectors may submit further 
evidence. 

Page 16



The Solicitor further explained that the holding report would ensure the 
Planning Panel was kept informed if there was a delay in returning an 
application and for them to have a say in the matter.  
The Chief Executive added that the Planning Panel can only make decisions 
when they have all the information they need and on occasions, obtaining that 
information can take longer than one month. This occurrence was very rare. 
 
Councillor Brian O’Kane stated that he believed the holding report was 
requested to keep the Planning Panel informed and to provide a timeframe to 
work on. The Planning Panel could then make a suggestion on how to proceed.  
 
Councillor Joseph Ghayouba asked what relevance the constitution changes had, 
if the authority ceased to exist in six to twelve months time 
Councillor Moore responded that the Council would continue determining 
planning applications for the next two years. 
 
RESOLVED: That  
a) the appendices to the agenda report be approved and effective immediately, 
with publication on the Council’s website as soon as is practicable, and 
b) the four appendices to the agenda report form part of the constitution and 
that authority be delegated to the Director of Corporate Resources and 
Commercial Strategy, in consultation with the Chairs of the Standards and Ethics 
Committee and Overview and Scrutiny Committee to make minor changes to 
the whole of the current constitution to correct minor discrepancies, etc.  
 
(Note: Councillor Fred Gleaves left the meeting at this point) 
 
 

C21/32 Financial Matters Relating To Covid-19 - Distribution of Further Central 
Government 'Additional Restrictions Grant Scheme' - Noting of Urgent Action  
 
Mayor Mike Starkie presented a report updating the Council on a decision made 
by the Chief Executive, in accordance with chapters 7 and 19 of the Constitution 
(matters outside budget/urgent business), relating to financial matters as a 
result of Covid-19. 
 
The report was seconded by Councillor Andy Pratt. 
 
Questions were then invited from Members. 
 
No questions were forthcoming 
 
RESOLVED: That the urgent action taken by the Chief Executive be noted. 

Page 17



C21/33 Motion, received under rule 12 of Chapter 5 of the Constitution, from 
Councillor Joseph Ghayouba  
 
Councillor Joseph Ghayouba presented his motion which read: 
 
“This council believes planning works best when developers and the local 
community work together to shape local areas and deliver necessary new 
homes; and therefore calls on the Government to protect the right of 
communities to object to individual planning applications.” 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Linda Jones-Bulman.  
  
Councillor Brian O’Kane spoke in support of the motion and to strengthen it, 
suggested the following amendment: 
 
“All members of Copeland Borough Council believe that planning works best 
when developers and the community work together to shape the local area and 
deliver necessary new homes; The Council calls on the Government to fully 
protect the right of communities to object appropriately to planning 
applications.” 
 
A vote by way of a show of hands was then taken on the amendment.   
  
RESOLVED: unanimously that the amendment and the amended motion be 
AGREED.  
 
 
 
The Meeting closed at 3.11 pm  
 

 
Chair 

Page 18



Full Council 07092021 

1 
 

 
Executive Report to Full Council – 7 September 2021 

 
Strategic Leadership - Mayor Mike Starkie 

Communications 

The Communications team is working closely with county and district councils to inform 

colleagues of the ongoing local government reorganisation. In the last month the team has 

established a well-resourced intranet page featuring; staff updates, press releases, 

Government news, relevant documents, recordings from staff briefings and a series of 

frequently asked questions. The team has also committed to regular updates for staff and 

members and has created an area for members to access updates at their leisure in the 

Members’ Teams area. 

The team continues to play a key role in keeping colleagues and the community informed 

regarding the Covid-19 pandemic. With most restrictions now lifted, current messages 

include self-isolation changes for the fully vaccinated, vaccines for 16 and 17 year olds, 

regular testing, ventilation, face coverings and meeting people outside.  

Our Communications officers are continuing to support our regular markets including the 

Young Entrepreneurs Market, and the recently launched Bakers and Makers Market. They 

have also assisted in the promotion of the upcoming Social Prescribing Wellbeing Festival 

and the launch of our Young Entrepreneurs Mentorship Scheme.  

The team has supported the emergency communications of local incidents including the 

land slippage at Parton and recent small-scale flooding in Millom.  

Other services that have been supported by our communications function in the last month 

include our Copeland People’s Panel on Climate Change, Properties team, Work and Skills 

department, Bereavement services and The Beacon Museum.  

Services have been featured on/in BBC Radio Cumbria, The Whitehaven News, News and 

Star and on various digital publishing platforms.   

 

Revenues and Benefits   
 
Council Tax 
 
2021-2022 & 2020-2021 collection rate and earlier arrears 
 

 21/22 %  20/21% +/- Arrears 

30 April 21 11.04  11.01 +0.03 £4.1m 

31 May 21 19.93  19.74 +0.19 £4.0m 

30 June 21 29.01  28.73 +0.28 £3.9m 

31 July 21 38.03  37.54 +0.49 £3.8m 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



Full Council 07092021 

2 
 

In comparison to 2020-2021, the council tax collection rate for 2021-2022 has continuously 
improved for the first four months of the financial year.  
 
The arrears figure shown is all outstanding council tax debt from 1 April 2000 to 31 March 
2021. Of the £3.8m shown, £2.4m is currently at summons or liability order stage, which 
means it is pending action via the Magistrates Court, pending an Attachment Order, or 
awaiting referral to an Enforcement Agency.  
 
On 31 March 2021, Government data (Collection rates and receipts of council tax in 
England) shows a total of £4.4bn in council tax arrears nationally, which is an increase of 
£900m from the previous year. An increase was expected from the pandemic impact, 
however, looking beyond COVID, council tax arrears have consistently risen since 2016-2017 
when they totalled £2.8bn.  
 
The team is focussing on communication, affordability, and hardship for those struggling to 
pay. The Council also has a council tax hardship fund to support those affected as a result of 
the pandemic. A discount of up to £300 can be claimed towards 2020-2021 council tax 
balances.  
 
Business Rates 
 
2021-2022, 2020-2021 & 2019-2020 collection rate and all arrears 
 

 21/22 
% 

20/21 
% 

Diff % 19/20 
% 

Diff 
% 

Arrears £ 

30 April 21 75.06 78.34 -3.28 71.48 +3.58 £409,867 

31 May 21 77.50 80.29 -2.79 74.55 +2.95 £650,010 

30 June 21 79.77 81.85 -2.08 77.62 +2.15 £826,790 

31 July 21 78.89 83.19 -4.30 80.42 -1.53% £733,537 

 
As 100% Expanded Retail Relief was available during 2020-2021 and the first quarter of 
2021-2022, it is worth comparing the collection rate for the current year with 2020-2021 
and 2019-2020. Expanded Retail Relief reducing from 100 per cent to 66 per cent from 1 
July 2021 has resulted in a drop in collection for July 2021. Businesses have been offered 
instalments from August 2021 to March 2022 to pay what is due.  
 
Copeland has awarded over 9,000 COVID cash grants totalling £34.2m since March 2020.  
 
The one remaining grant scheme available is the third tranche of Additional Restrictions 
Grant funding. Copeland received £444,000 in July 21. The council designed a scheme to 
support businesses impacted as a result of the government’s decision to delay stage four of 
the roadmap. Once distributed, some funds will be used under wider support measures to 
ensure Copeland’s businesses are able to access specialist advice and support as they 
recover from the effects of the pandemic. Further information regarding the support 
available will be communicated in due course.  
  

Page 20



Full Council 07092021 

3 
 

Benefits 
 
Housing Benefit & Local Council Tax Support Processing Times 

Date HB & LCTRS New Claims HB & LCTRS Changes  

 Target 18.00 Days Target 10.00 Days 

30 April 21 31.18 8.82 

31 May 21 30.33 18.59 

30 June 21 28.76 21.84 

31 July 21 35.64 9.02 

 

The average processing times at the end of July is 35 days for new claims and nine days for 
changes in circumstances. It is anticipated that processing times will return to the target of 
18 days for new claims by the end of quarter two. 

Test and Trace Support Payments 

The team continue to administer test and trace support payments. Applications have 
increased significantly since early July. With effect from 16 August 2021, those fully 
vaccinated no longer qualify for support. So far, the scheme is due to end on 30 September 
2021. 

Housing Benefit Overpayments 

Housing Benefit Overpayment balance outstanding: 

Date Balance 

06.05.21 £794,070 

03.06.21 £787,215 

01.07.21 £808,481 

04.08.21 £800,855 

 
A full-time debt recovery officer has recently been appointed in this area.  
 
Discretionary Housing Payments 
 
The 2021-2022 budget for Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) has been split into two 
funding allocations. The second allocation will be determined following a mid-year review 
scheduled for September 2021.  
 
The review will consider local authority caseload data. This data is linked to the benefit cap, 
removal of the spare room subsidy deductions and local housing allowance (LHA) shortfalls, 
for both Housing Benefit and Universal Credit. Any allocation of secondary funding will align 
with the mid-year estimate process. 
 
The team continue to award to those residents of greatest need and/or impacted by specific 
welfare reforms. Due to the two-part allocation, most awards so far have been made for 
shorter periods.  

 

Page 21



Full Council 07092021 

4 
 

During 2021-2022, 137 claimants have received assistance from the scheme, 79 claimants 
have been unsuccessful. Successful claims have been made based on the removal of the 
spare room subsidy, LHA restrictions or additional impact. 74 per cent of our initial 
allocation has been awarded to date.  
 
The government contribution for Copeland based on an initial award for 2021/2022: 
 

 
2020/2021  
Allocation 

2021/2022 
Initial Allocation 

2021/2022 
Spend to date 

2021/2022 Budget 
Remaining 

CBC £207,191 £114,655 £84,844  £29,811 

 
Looking ahead; the aim is to have a near/total spend. The possible increase in demand for 
discretionary support continues to be based around several factors including, lifting the ban 
on evictions and the removal of the £20.00 uplift to Universal Credit.  
 
 

Economic Development 
 
Town Centre Regeneration 

Town Deal Funding 

On 28th June, the Council and Cleator Moor Town Deal Board accepted the Heads of Terms 

offer from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) of £22.5 

million to support investment into the Cleator Moor.  The five themes include supporting 

the development of an enterprise campus on the Leconfield Industrial Estate; investing in 

the Town Square through bringing vacant and under-utilised buildings back into active use; 

providing student accommodation to facilitate planned growth at the University of Central 

Lancashire’s Westlakes Campus; enhancing sports and leisure provision and improving 

sustainable transport networks.   

Since the end of June, the Town Deal Board has worked with project owners to agree 

reallocation of the Towns Fund budget across the programme to reflect the £22.5M offer.  

This process has completed successfully through increasing potential match funding from 

alternative sources.  Project confirmation has been reported back to Government within the 

two-month deadline by the end of August. 

Millom Town Investment Plan, received an offer £20.6 million from MHCLG at the beginning 

of July to support investment into four themes – the Iron Line, transforming the unique 

coastal lagoon into a major visitor attraction through the creation of a new linear park, 

fusing ecology, heritage and art; investing in the town centre by bringing derelict, vacant 

and under-utilised heritage assets back into active use; developing a new multi-purpose 

community and leisure hub and improving the town’s transport network.  Millom Town Deal 

Board accepted the Heads of Terms on 4th August and is now working through the projects 

to align the budgets against the MHCLG contribution, to be reported back by early October. 

 

 

Page 22



Full Council 07092021 

5 
 

Connecting Cumbria’s Hidden Coast Programme 

Our Connecting Cumbria Hidden Coast initiative continues to maintain momentum and is 

expected to provide a base for economic recovery in our tourism sector as we emerge from 

the pandemic restrictions.  Key highlights this quarter includes: 

 Silecroft Beach Café:  following the tender process in April/May we have appointed 
local company Samuel Sheldon’s from Millom as the main contractor.  It is expected 
that they will start working on the site in early September. 

 The Run the Edge Challenge event: The first live event will now take place on the 18th 
June 2022 and will include a 10k race, a half marathon and a 70k Ultra event between 
Millom and Whitehaven.  There will be an option to walk the 70k. More details can be 
found at https://theedgerace.com/   

 The Feasibility study for developing a river crossing over the river Esk has now been 
completed. Work with private and public sector partners will now commence to 
secure planning, landowner’s permissions, and fundraising. 

 The public art programme “Deep Time” is progressing well with 5 artists now 
developing works for the coastal commissions and another 5 visiting the area over the 
summer in order to develop proposals for a landmark piece.  A website will launch in 
late September to officially launch the programme and to showcase the artists and 
their works as are they are installed over the next 6 months. 

 Tale Trails: We have commissioned 6 interactive maps showcasing existing footpaths 
along the coast and which will be aimed at families using stories developed from the 
local history and heritage of the chosen locations.  You can see what to expect if you 
visit www.taletrails.co.uk. 

 The Adrenalin Feasibility study which has been accrued out by 4Global is due for its 
final presentation to partners and stakeholders, it is expected that this will take place 
in late September. 

 
 

 
  

Page 23

https://theedgerace.com/
http://www.taletrails.co.uk/


Full Council 07092021 

6 
 

 
Nuclear and Corporate Services – Deputy Mayor Councillor David Moore 

 
Nuclear Issues  
 

UK Atomic Energy Authority “STEP” Siting Process 
 
The Nuclear team continues to engage with Cumbria LEP, UKAEA and the Nuclear 
Decommissioning Authority in relation to the assessment of the Moorside site as the 
potential location for the prototype fusion facility known as STEP. 

The full list of nominated sites under assessment is available on the gov.uk website: UK's 
prototype fusion energy plant is one step closer to finding a home - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

A further shortlisting will take place later in 2021, ahead of a final siting decision by the 
Secretary of State for BEIS in 2022.  Further updates will be provided to SNEB and via 
Executive Portfolio Holder reports to Executive Committee and Full Council as appropriate. 

The UK Government’s approach to identifying a site for a Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) 
for higher-activity radioactive waste 
 
I have regularly reported to Council about the formation of the Copeland Working Group, 
which is the first formal step in the Government’s ‘Working with Communities’ policy with 3 
specific aims.  

 Engage with local people to begin to understand their views, based on achieving 
the twin aims of finding a suitable site and a willing host community.  

 Identify and propose a Search Area (or Areas) for further consideration.   

 Recruit initial members for a Community Partnership, that could take the process 
forward beyond the Working Group.  

The Working Group has continued to meet since its launch last November to consider taking 
forward the above work-streams. Members are reminded that reports of the Working 
Group discussions are available via the Working Group website Working Group Copeland 
(copeland.workinginpartnership.org.uk).  

The Communications and Engagement subgroup has continued to implement the 
communications plan with the aim ‘to engage with local people to begin to understand their 
views, based on achieving the twin aims of finding a suitable site and a willing host 
community’. The plan aims to: 

 Explain what it is and why a GDF is needed  

 Explain why the public’s view matters  

 Communicate how issues or questions can be raised   

 As it identifies a Search Area(s), the Working Group will start work to understand 
the local area and any issues or questions the community within it may have  

 Gather a range of views which can be taken forward to any potential Search Area 
discussion  

Page 24

https://copeland.workinginpartnership.org.uk/
https://copeland.workinginpartnership.org.uk/


Full Council 07092021 

7 
 

As previously reported the plan includes the following activities which continue to be 
utilised: 

 Regular press and media activities,  

 Utilisation of the Working Group website, links to a virtual exhibition and supporting 
information 

 Using social media via LinkedIn, Twitter and Facebook 

 A monthly newsletter is also published electronically and made available via the 
website and to those who have registered on the website to receive updates.   

 Information brochures have been distributed to stakeholders across the Borough 

 A number of webinars with local residents have been held covering specific topics as 
requested by participants - 2 were held in March, May and July.  

 Telephone surveys with over 400 local residents have been on-going seeking local 
resident’s views on related issues 

In addition to the above several ‘pop-up’ events have been held across the Borough during 
the months of July and August, arranged by the RWM Community Engagement Team who 
have been collecting the range of views and issues raised by local residents attending these 
events to feed into the analysis of the engagement activities. 

The programme of Borough-wide exhibitions originally planned for July has been delayed 
due to Covid-19 restrictions but recommenced on 1st September. The full programme is:  

• The Beacon Portal, Whitehaven: Sept 1 (10am-7pm); Sept 2 (9.30am-2pm) 
• Silecroft Village Hall: Sept 3 (10am-2pm) 
• Kirksanton Village Hall: Sept 3 (5pm-8pm) 
• Thwaites Village Hall: Sept 4 (10am-6pm) 
• Millom Rugby Union Club, Haverigg: Sept 6 (10am-6pm) 
• Drigg & Carleton Village Hall: Sept 7 (10am-6pm) 
• Egremont Methodist Church: Sept 8 (10am-6pm); Sept 9 (10am-6pm) 
• Cleator Moor Civic Hall: Sept 10 (10am-6pm); Sept 11 (10am-2pm) 
• St Bees Management Centre: Sept 13 (10am-6pm); Sept 14 (10am-6pm) 
• Whitehaven Golf Club: Sept 16 (10am-7pm); Sept 17 (10am-2pm) 

A leaflet from the Working Group promoting the dates and including details of how to 
register to attend has been delivered to Copeland households. 

The second subgroup is continuing its work to study the range of technical information to 
consider the identification of a Search Area, with a view to making a recommendation to a 
future meeting of the Working Group.  

The third subgroup is looking at matters relating to the potential establishment of a 
Community Partnership (CP) which is the next formal stage in the process, should a decision 
to proceed to the next be taken. This Group has been looking at: 

 The shape of the initial work plan to transition from a Working Group to a CP  

 The processes required to appoint a Chair and CP members 

Page 25



Full Council 07092021 

8 
 

 What support mechanisms are required to enable the CP to function 
appropriately  

 A draft Community Partnership Agreement (CPA) between the CP parties  

 Defining arrangements for the management of the Community Investment 
Funding.  

In relation to the draft CPA, this was considered by Members of SNEB and then the 
Executive at meetings in June, with comments from Members being fed back to RWM 
lawyers. Progress on the remaining items is continuing and is reported on a regular basis to 
the Working Group. 

Members may also be aware from media activity that RWM have been engaged in 
discussions with other localities across England about the potential for hosting a GDF. 
Although at the time of writing this report no firm plans for establishing Working Groups 
have been announced, it is understood that discussions continue with interested parties and 
local authorities in Lincolnshire and Hartlepool. 

Nuclear Decommissioning Authority Group Update 
 
NDA Departmental Review and Magnox Inquiry 
 
IN July, the Department for BEIS and the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority have 
published responses to the Magnox Inquiry and Departmental Review of the NDA, which 
were published in March and June of this year respectively. You can read the responses to 
the recommendations here: Magnox Inquiry and Review into the Nuclear Decommissioning 
Authority (NDA): responses from government and NDA - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
 
Chapter 5 of the BEIS response and Section 10.3 of the NDA response may be of particular 
interest, as they relate to the NDA’s socio-economic obligations and sustainability strategy. 
 
Annual Reports and Accounts 

In July, the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority and Sellafield Ltd published their annual 
reports and accounts, which can be accessed via the following links: 

NDA: NDA Annual Report and Accounts 2020 to 2021 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
Sellafield Ltd: Sellafield Ltd Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020/21 - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk) 
 
The strategic report of the Sellafield Annual report provides a concise summary of activity 
undertaken on the site during 2020/21. 
 
Low Level Waste Repository 
 
On 12th July, LLWR Ltd became a wholly owned subsidiary of the NDA after its ownership 
was transferred from UK Nuclear Waste Management Ltd. 
 

Page 26

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nuclear-decommissioning-authority-annual-report-and-accounts-2020-to-2021/nda-annual-report-and-accounts-2020-to-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sellafield-ltd-annual-report-and-financial-statements-202021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sellafield-ltd-annual-report-and-financial-statements-202021


Full Council 07092021 

9 
 

An update was posted on the gov.uk website: Low Level Waste Repository becomes a 
subsidiary of the NDA - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
 
This is a key milestone in the creation of One NDA Group of Companies, and the move 
towards a single Nuclear Waste Services division of the NDA incorporating both LLWR Ltd 
and RWM Ltd. 
 
Sellafield Ltd Employment Tribunal 
 
An employment tribunal involving parties including Sellafield Ltd and NDA concluded in July, 
resulting in all claims being dismissed by the court. 
 
Sellafield Ltd Planning Performance Agreement (PPA) 
 
A new PPA has now been signed between the Council and Sellafield Ltd. 
 
Sellafield Ltd incident update – Potential gap in emergency arrangements, 28/04/2021: 
 
As previously reported, during inspection of the criticality detection system in the Magnox 
Reprocessing plant at Sellafield, a number of detectors were identified as not fit for 
purpose.   Sellafield Ltd immediately initiated a review of the system and a programme of 
work has been completed to address the issue which included repositioning a number of 
detectors.  
 
There was no risk to the workforce or the community, and Sellafield Ltd has engaged with 
the regulators. 
 

Corporate Services  
 
Information Governance 

Freedom of Information Requests 2021 

 April May June July Total 

Opened 39 62 43 41 185 

Closed 39 62 43 41 185 

Ongoing 0 0 0 0 0 

Monthly figures do not include any open FOIs carried over from the previous month.  

Total FOIs received for the same period in 2020 was 200 – a decrease ytd of 7.5%. 

There is a statutory criteria of 20 days to reply in full to an FOI request. The Council’s target 
is currently 90%; the first 4 months indicate a completion and response rate of 99%. 

Month 2021/22 Total FOI’s Responded to within 
20 days 

Completion rate 

April 39 37 95% 

May 62 62 100% 

June 43 43 100% 

July 41 41 100% 

Page 27

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/low-level-waste-repository-becomes-a-subsidiary-of-the-nda
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/low-level-waste-repository-becomes-a-subsidiary-of-the-nda


Full Council 07092021 

10 
 

FOIs received in 2021 summary:  

Revenues and Benefits are continuing to receive higher number of FOIs in comparison to 
other departments – requests for information are generally for business rates data. 

The Parks & Open Spaces department are receiving a higher number of requests due to a rise 
in request for burial and cremation data. June and July requests for this department also 
included an increased interest in Public Health Act Funeral data.  

Electoral and Democratic Services 

 

Electoral Registration Annual Canvass 

The Electoral Registration Annual Canvass commenced in July.  Each year, the Electoral 

Registration Officer has a legal duty to conduct an annual canvass to ensure the electoral 

register is up to date and accurate.  At the start of the canvass, a national data matching 

exercise is undertaken, which then determines the canvass route and actions required for 

those properties.  

Route 1 Properties - those identified as a match and therefore unlikely to have any major 

changes.  A total of 83% of properties in Copeland are allocated to this route, a slight 

increase from last year.  These properties have been contacted by email, text message 

and/or letter to advise them of the information we currently hold on the electoral register.  

These properties only need to respond to our communications if the information currently 

held is incorrect. 

Route 2 Properties – those that have not been matched as part of the matching process, 

which would indicate that there may be changes to be made.  These properties will have 

now received an email, text message and/or letter setting out the information we currently 

hold and details of how they can respond.   Unlike Route 1 properties, those in Route 2 must 

respond, and we are required by law to make three contact attempts with these properties.    

To date, a total of 41% of these properties have responded. 

Canvassers will be employed later in the year to undertake door to door canvassing of the 

properties that do not respond. 

Route 3 – A small number of properties, mainly Nursing Homes fall into this category.  These 

are canvassed separately by email, telephone or by letter to obtain the relevant 

information. 

On completion of the canvass, the revised Electoral Register will be published on 1st December 

2021. 

 

2023 Parliamentary Boundary Review 

 

The Council’s response to the initial proposals was submitted to the Boundary Commission 

on 2nd August 2021.  We now await their response, which will be published early 2022 and 

followed by a secondary consultation stage. 

Page 28



Full Council 07092021 

11 
 

Democratic Services 

Since resuming in person meetings in May 2021, a total of 20 meetings have now been held 
in the Atrium.  Average member attendance at these meeting was 77%, down from 89% 
during the same period last year.   
 
A number of Task and Finish Groups have been agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  Whilst the groups have the required number of members to proceed, the 
numbers are low, with most having just three members.  We would encourage as many 
members as possible to get involved with these groups.  
 
The current Task and Finish Groups are: 
 

 Effective Digital Engagement – Following an audit recommendation, this group will 
be looking at how OSC can improve their engagement with the public. 

 Social Media Policy Review – Reviewing the Social Media policy that was 
implemented in 2017. 

 Health & Wellbeing (North & South Copeland) – looking at the current provisions in 
Copeland for Children and Young People and Mental Health Services, identify gaps 
in services and what improvements could be made. 

 Housing – This group is due in commence in October with the scope still to be 
agreed. 

 

Human Resources and Health and Safety Update  
 
Local Government Reform 
 
The government announced the preferred model of a two unitary authority to deliver 
Council services within Cumbria.  In respect of the Human Resources workstream initial 
workforce data has been captured to assess the common terms and conditions within 
Allerdale, Carlisle, Copeland, and Cumbria County Council. 
 
Covid 19 Advice and Support 
 
The HR and H&S Service continues to offer advice and support to Managers to ensure that 
all employees’ health and safety requirements are met during the current pandemic. The 
Covid 19 Return to Work Policy is updated on a regular basis with changes in government 
guidance.  Isolation figures remain low, and all employees are encouraged to test twice 
weekly. 
 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
Within this period the organisation was assessed against the bronze criteria of the TUC 
Health at Work Award.  The Council received positive feedback at the end of the assessment 
and the assessor stated that Copeland Borough Council would be recommended for the 
Bronze award.  Please note the Council has to complete a verification process and will be 
informed officially by the end of September. 
 

Page 29



Full Council 07092021 

12 
 

Reshape of Delivery of Services 
 
A minor organisational change process has commenced within the Councils Nuclear and 
Energy team with the main purpose to ensure that the Council, on behalf of Copeland’s 
residents, communities and environment, is able to meet the demands placed upon it by the 
nuclear industry. 
 
Vacancy Management 
 
There has been key recruitment activity below since June 2021 in various operational areas 
of: 

RECRUITMENT  
 

External Appointments 
 

Project Management Office Analyst ICT 

Community Services Apprentice Community Services 

Social Inclusion Administration Apprentice Housing and Social Inclusion 

Specialist Crisis Prevention & Support Officers (x1) Strategic Housing and Social Inclusion 

Accountant Finance 

Internal Appointments  
 

Specialist Crisis Prevention & Support Officers (x1) Strategic Housing and Social Inclusion 

Ranger Parks and Open Spaces 

Trainee Bereavement Officer Parks and Open Spaces 

Manager Revenues & Benefits 

Housing Benefit Overpayments Debt Recovery Officer Revenues & Benefits 

Community Development Officer Cumbria Community Fund 

 
Review of Human Resources Policies and Processes 
 
With the impending local government reform, a review has been completed on key priority 
policies to be addressed to ensure our policies are compliant with current employment 
legislation and fit for purpose for implementation to the preferred model. 
 
Embedding the People Strategy 
 
Learning and Development continues to be delivered ensuring all our employees complete 
our Corporate requirements of; Induction, H&S essentials, Safeguarding, Equality 
and Diversity, Copeland Systems, Cyber Security, GDPR, Digital and embedding our 5 P’s. In 
addition, research has been completed on delivery of Corporate training to all employees on 
the Climate Change agenda. 
 
Two Apprentices have been appointed in this period in the operational areas of Community 
Services and Social Inclusion. 
 
HR Digital Agenda 
 
In this period the MS Dynamics 365 HR System has been populated and workflows 
developed so that the planned roll out of the self-serve options to a pilot group for 
employees and managers is addressed in September 2021. 

Page 30



Full Council 07092021 

13 
 

Commercial Services – Councillor Steven Morgan 
 

Community Services 
 
Waste Collections 

Our refuse and recycling teams continue to work hard with tonnages collected continuing to 
be higher than those pre pandemic. In the first quarter April to June 2021, there has been 
1,055 tonnes of recyclable material, 1,902 tonnes of garden waste and 4,035 tonnes of 
general waste collected from our residents.  
 
We have not been immune from the Pingdemic which had unfortunate implications and a 
decision was taken to suspend the Green Waste service for 2 weeks. This was not unique to 
Copeland with some areas still struggling to maintain full service in this area.  
 

Trade Waste 
 
Our Trade waste continues to grow with over 700 businesses signed up to our service, 
collecting 563 tonnes of waste (April – June). There has been an increased demand from the 
pop-up campsites many of which are requiring additional bins to accommodate the increase 
in visitors to the area. This has resulted in an additional vehicle being used on a Saturday to 
cover the increased demand. 
 
We are also starting to make progress on introducing a recycling collection for glass, tins, and 
plastic to our customers and as such encouraging greater environmental responsibility. 
 

Street Cleansing 

The increase in visitor numbers because of the staycations has resulted in increased amounts 

of waste, a total of 166 tonnes was collected in the first quarter.  This is because litterbins are 

filling faster, bags of waste are being left alongside them and the teams have not been 

immune from the ongoing pandemic.  

The team has also supported 21 volunteer litter picks April - August including collecting over 

a tonne of waste collected by West Lakeland Rotary from the coastal path at Braystones.  

Enforcement and Car Parks 

The car parks have generated over £56.5k of income in the first quarter. This shows that the 

car parks are being well utilised again. We are also continuing to support the testing efforts 

by providing space on the Sports Centre car park for the centre. 

Environmental enforcement are also kept busy with dog barking complaints, fly tipping and 

abandoned vehicles totalling 239 jobs in the first quarter. In addition to this they have 

completed walkabouts with Elected Members, undertaken dog fouling patrols and 

community engagement activities. 

 
 

 

Page 31



Full Council 07092021 

14 
 

Open Spaces and Bereavement Services 
 
Open Spaces  
 
It has been a very busy time for the Open Spaces department. The spring and summer 
months are always much busier because of the increase of grass growth and the rise in 
usage of all facilities. With some of the work done in open spaces you can’t always see the 
direct effects, but I am pleased to say that the seeding of wildflowers earlier in the year was 
a great success as they are all out now and enjoyed by all.  
 
The pandemic alongside long term illness within the team has challenged the available 
labour hours. Although at one point staff levels were down by 50% the delivery of essential 
services was maintained. 
 
We are enjoying the benefits from the Community Payback services (summary below) who 
are working hard for the community in the old part of Whitehaven Cemetery where the 
improvements are noticeable. Also, for one day a week, a team are working in the 
Distington Walled garden and are making great progress reforming the site. 
 

Date Location  Manpower hours completed  

19/06/2021 – 20/08/21 Whitehaven Cemetery 521 

04/07/2021 – 20/08/21 Distington Walled Garden  121 
 

 
A Tree and Woodland Strategy has been agreed for CBC which will help in the managing of 
all our trees and woodlands and for those still to be planted in the future. 
 
Below a summary of all our activities. 
 

 Updates of CBC intranet for both Spring & Summer including Olympic planting and 
Love Parks Week links.  Parks & Open Spaces Intranet - Home (sharepoint.com) 

 Customer contact numbers from May to Jul 122 increase of 40% compared to 
previous quarter 

 Sowing wildflowers in several locations covering an area of 751 sqm  

 Compliments 3/ complaints 0 

 Streetlights – Reduction in lights reported due to lighter nights - temporary hold on 
the consultation in light of LGR – report being drafted for scrutiny in October 

 Completion of planting on two sites for “Get Cumbria Buzzing.” This is inclusive of 
Wordsworth Daffodils, Wildflower seed mixes native to Cumbria and some beautiful 
Alliums and other flowers. 

 The introduction of new tracking systems on sharepoint for:  
Tree inspections / Works   Parks and Open Spaces - Tree Works 2021 - All Items 
(sharepoint.com) new inspection processes and including inspections to cover bat & 
wildlife checks being recorded 

 Finance recording 

 Cost codes/ suppliers 

 Play inspections Parks and Open Spaces - Play Area Inspections 2021 - All Items 
(sharepoint.com) 

Page 32

https://copelandbc.sharepoint.com/sites/ParksOpenSpacesIntranet
https://copelandbc.sharepoint.com/sites/ParksandOpenSpaces/Lists/Tree%20Works/AllItems.aspx?viewid=2ded861f%2D8bd3%2D4974%2Dbf81%2D76e573ddc9cc
https://copelandbc.sharepoint.com/sites/ParksandOpenSpaces/Lists/Tree%20Works/AllItems.aspx?viewid=2ded861f%2D8bd3%2D4974%2Dbf81%2D76e573ddc9cc
https://copelandbc.sharepoint.com/sites/ParksandOpenSpaces/Lists/Play%20are%20Inspections%202021/AllItems.aspx
https://copelandbc.sharepoint.com/sites/ParksandOpenSpaces/Lists/Play%20are%20Inspections%202021/AllItems.aspx


Full Council 07092021 

15 
 

 Work tracking Parks and Open Spaces - Work Tracker 2021 - All Items 
(sharepoint.com)      

 Copeland Direct team and new starters were given an overview and update on 
current running issues 

 Communications & Copeland Direct have been made aware of the strain on 
resources to manage customer queries and expectations 

 Changes made in recording inspections using risk measures.  

 We have had 2 accidents on play areas both non CBC faults (2 x claims) neither will 
be paid out as fault falls with parental/guardian supervision. 

 Jacktrees play area has been updated with external funding, some teething issues 
but has been very well received and is heavily used. 

 We have taken on 4 new play area inspection contracts both within Copeland and 
external of the Borough.  Calderbridge, Workington, Moresby, Harrington 

 Department worked with external agency to allow them to host an event in Castle 
Park 

 Update of departmental assets list inclusive of re tagging 

 Recording of HAVS figures for teams to ensure H&S of team and ensuring safe 
working practices. 

 
Bereavement Services  
 

 Chapel of Remembrance opened to the public 

 Father's Day and Mother’s Day area and inner garden at the crematorium enhanced 
with planting 

 Crematorium now accommodating 80 attendees 

 Bereavement services now has its own vehicle to improve service provision. 

 Now offering live streaming of services, which is seeing a high take up by families  

 Since last report we have had :140 Burials, 45 Strewing’s, 833 Cremations, 3 Baby 
burials. 

 
Procurement 
 
By working alongside Project Teams, Procurement have successfully advertised or obtained 
quotations for the following opportunities to ensure value for money and compliance with 
Public Contract Regulations 2015 and our Contract Standing Orders, including: 
 

• Silecroft Beach Café build (re-tender) 
• Playing Pitch Strategy 
• Site Access Assessments 
• Landscape Character Assessments 
• Reboot Branding services 

 
Other projects currently being tendered/evaluated include: 

• Revitalised Town Funding 
• Nuclear Knowledge Capture 

 

Page 33

https://copelandbc.sharepoint.com/sites/ParksandOpenSpaces/Lists/Work%20Tracker%202021/AllItems.aspx
https://copelandbc.sharepoint.com/sites/ParksandOpenSpaces/Lists/Work%20Tracker%202021/AllItems.aspx


Full Council 07092021 

16 
 

Another scheduled project which may potentially result in a new procurement but is 
currently in the project scoping stages and liaising with Procurement is: 

 Extension to Whitehaven Cemetery 
 

Future projects 
 

The following are larger projects expected in the near future. Procurement is closely 
supporting the Departments by attending regular scheduled project/operations meetings 
and providing advice/completing actions wherever necessary: 

 Towns Fund Deal 

 Fleet Replacement Project 
 

The proposed use of framework agreements for the following: 

 Continuing electronic payment collection services for residents 

 New IT System for social housing allocations – County wide procurement with other 
Local Authorities and Housing Associations (led by South Lakes District Council)  

 Postal Services for Revenues and Benefits 

 Water supply 

 Multi-disciplinary team for Towns Fund 

 
 

Diversification and Growth 

Copeland Tourism Sector Development 

Copeland Cycling Destination  

As part of the tourism growth, our goal with partners is to establish Copeland as destination 

for cycling, building on identified growing markets for development, including gravel biking, 

adrenaline biking, family facilities incorporating family biking and multi-activities to cater for 

non-bikers as well, plus motorhomes/e-bikes. 

To support the strategic positioning of Copeland as a cycling destination we are working 

with Cumbria County Council to develop the Hadrian's Wall Cycling & Walking Corridor as a 

potential submission for future Levelling Up Fund; linking with LDNPA on See More Lakes 

and reflecting through Town Deals Cleator Moor’s role as a gateway to Ennerdale and the 

lakes and Millom as a gateway to Lake District Coast. 

A number of quick wins are being delivered including mapping all cycling products on virtual 

platforms; temporary car parks in Ravenglass, Ennerdale, Wasdale – options for mobile bike 

hire to be piloted through TVM group; incorporating bikes into attractions, Wheels for All – 

Millom Hub, etc. 

Cultural Strategy  

Copeland and Allerdale Borough Councils have identified the need for a cultural 

strategy.  Cumbria LEP holds a Creative and Cultural Strategy for the county, with some 

districts holding a more detailed document to capture local opportunities and priorities.  We 

are seeking to maximise the role of culture and the creative industries in our approach to 

Page 34



Full Council 07092021 

17 
 

place, economy and communities and therefore require a more detailed localised document 

to help develop our cultural sector.   

As part of our Towns programmes, we require a cultural strategy to draw down match 

funding to against investment through programmes including Town Deals, Levelling Up Fund 

and Borderlands.  A cultural strategy can help to unlock different types of grant funding, 

including Arts Council.  

The cultural strategy will co-ordinate our approach and develop a shared vision across all 

our strategic documents going forward from climate change to creating healthier 

neighbourhoods.  A joint approach with Allerdale has been viewed as the best way forward 

in terms of value for money, strategic overview and holding a cultural approach based on 

geography, rather than local government boundaries.   In addition, the Arts Council has 

agreed to part fund the development of a cultural strategy on the basis that we move 

forward with a joint approach. 

The Cultural Strategy will be delivered by early New Year 2022 through a dedicated steering 

group, wide engagement and workshops.  

Work of Tactical Visitor Management (TVM) Group  

Local Action Plans for Wasdale & Ennerdale – Shuttle Bus Pilot  

The new service is aimed at getting people out of their cars and reducing traffic volumes to 

the popular tourist area by providing an alternative transport option.  The new shuttlebus 

will run daily for the rest of August – and weekends in September.  Operated by Reays, it has 

been funded by Cumbria’s Tactical Visitor Management Group, which was set up as a 

collective, county-wide response to help manage the flow of visitors around the county and 

support local residents during the busiest times of year.   

Boots on the Ground  

Our own Covid 19 ranger Glen Elliott working with the multi-agency and safer lakes team to 

protect our communities and giving our visitors a warm and informative welcome.  

Attract & disperse Campaign #ThePerfectPlacetoBe 

Attract and disperse has been an integral aspect of Cumbria’s visitor economy strategy for 

many years. Over recent years data has evidenced increased visits and economic value to 

Cumbria’s coast. The strategy is led by Cumbria Tourism and this year is focused on 

increasing visits to the West Coast, Carlisle and to Upper Eden along with increasing 

overnight stays through provision of additional camping and motorhome facilities across the 

county. We have been working with landowners to support opening additional pop-up 

campsites, particularly in less visited areas, to reduce some of the pressures.  There all also 

multiple campervanning trials running in car parks to help reduce roadside camping. 

A brand-new Cumbrian Coastal Route 200 is the perfect way to experience the area by 

motorhome.  The guide also highlights responsible overnight camping locations and includes 

a code of conduct for those new to the pursuit.  Cumbrian Coastal Route Itineraries - Visit 

Lake District 

Page 35

https://www.visitlakedistrict.com/itinerary-planner/cumbrian-coastal-route-itineraries
https://www.visitlakedistrict.com/itinerary-planner/cumbrian-coastal-route-itineraries


Full Council 07092021 

18 
 

Customer Services 

The Market Hall and Millom Office remains closed to the public at present. Further 

monitoring of our customer base, benchmarking with neighbouring LA’s will continue to 

inform our approach to unlocking and ultimately will be corporate led.  We continue to 

promote a strong digital offering via phones, emails and website platforms. 

 

Service Area Q2 2020 Q2 2021 +/- 

Calls 8651 11034 +28% 

Svc Level  98.3% 97.7% -0.6% 

Time to answer 17s 33s +16s 

Emails 3594 2533 -41% 

 

Demand in calls remains strong as we move into mid Q3 as expected. Average of 28% 

increase in calls and of interest a decrease in email traffic has been observed over Q2 in 

comparison to 20/21 Figs. This decrease may indicate an increased preference over 

telephony than email. The traffic streams support the strong performance from the Team 

who have worked hard to meet the increased demand. Resourcing of staff over both sites is 

presently 5.5 FTE, 1.99 FTC and 1 Reprographic Asst, giving a total resource of 8.49 FTE. 

Staff continue to work a blended model of office or home working. 

 

Public appetite for interaction continues to remain low – No appointments requested for 

services within Customer Services and one for the Revenues Department. 

 

Increased telephone access 

 

As of 1 September 2021, phone lines will be open from 9am rather than 10am on a 

Wednesday to provide increased access and continuity of service. 

 

The Beacon Museum 

 

Currently we are hosting the Jorvik touring Medieval Medicine exhibition and rediscover 

Copeland photographic exhibition. We successfully managed to secure funding from 

Cumbria County Council Community Grant Fund. This funding has permitted the Beacon 

Museum to give back some fun to our families following a difficult 18 months with the 

Covid-19 pandemic. Our theme of Free family Thursday has seen the following footfall into 

the Museum as follows: 

 

Page 36



Full Council 07092021 

19 
 

We have seen a mixture of family dynamics and have embraced a new audience who we 
hope to capitalise on and bring back into the Museum as repeat visitors. The recent 
feedback we have received has been very positive. 
 
Free Tourism Friday – due to commence on Friday 24 September and then on the following 
dates 22 October, 26 November and 31 December 2021. A great opportunity to promote 
West Cumbria with the Beacon Museum with free access to the museum following a 
successful funding bid through Cumbria County Council Community Grant fund. 
 
National Masterpiece Tour  
The Beacon Museum has been successful in securing the Masterpiece Tour as part of the 
National Gallery’s commitment to promote the understanding, knowledge, and appreciation 
of Old Master paintings to as wide an audience as possible. This opportunity to bring three 
hugely popular works to the public’s doorstep is being made possible by the generous 
support of Christie’s. The tour will last 3 years with a different masterpiece on display 
annually.  
 
https://www.nationalgallery.org.uk/about-us/the-gallery-nationwide/the-national-gallery-
masterpiece-tour 
 
 

Visitor Hosts 

 

Our Visitor Hosts have undertaken training to promote engagement with the customer 

following an extended period on furlough. We are currently advertising for 3 VH’s, volunteer 

coordinator and opportunity for a Museum Apprentice to support our resourcing.  

 

Digital Project 

 

Our digital project is nearing completion. The VR mining experience is expected to open 

imminently following some snagging that is to be completed by supplier. 

 

 

Digital Trails App 

 

Our digital trails app has launched and is available for both Android and IOS users. The free 

app, called West Cumbria with the Beacon Museum, guides users on walks around 

Whitehaven, or a drive around West Cumbria, seeking out exciting, augmented reality 

characters and interesting content along the way. It also has all the information people 

might need about the museum itself, and list events at the harbourside attraction. 

https://apps.apple.com/gb/app/west-cumbria-beacon-museum/id1579068392 

 

International Engagements 

 

We are continuing to explore the opportunity for Education and Engagement through the 

following projects: 

Page 37

https://www.nationalgallery.org.uk/about-us/the-gallery-nationwide/the-national-gallery-masterpiece-tour
https://www.nationalgallery.org.uk/about-us/the-gallery-nationwide/the-national-gallery-masterpiece-tour
https://apps.apple.com/gb/app/west-cumbria-beacon-museum/id1579068392


Full Council 07092021 

20 
 

 

Durham University – Using the Beacon Museum collection we are looking to loan suitable 

exhibits for the purposes of collection care. Possible onsite visits to support the care of the 

collection to assist Curator. 

 

Barbados Museum – Opportunity to provide a relevant, sensitive update to Whitehaven’s 

historical trading routes and slave trade involvement. This project will then inform an 

upgrade to our Trading area. 

 

Corning Museum of Glass, New York – The Beilby goblet has noted interest with a visitor 

contacting the Beacon Museum asking for further information. The exhibition is running till 

January 2022 and the link is attached. 

https://whatson.cmog.org/exhibitions-galleries/sparkling-company-glass-and-costs-social-

life-britain-during-1700s 

 

 

 Audience development project – Near completion and await findings to report on 

core audience and engagement. Developing opportunities and overcome challenges 

to bring a new audience to the Beacon Museum.  

 

 Website - The Beacon Museum website is due to be launched w/c 6 September 

2021. A new booking platform has been incorporated into the offer – a first for the 

Beacon Museum. Moving forward we hope to digitise the collection with a scanner 

we have purchased to help deliver creative content. To offer our collection to a 

wider audience, to educate, inform and inspire. 

 

 Beacon Shop We are actively seeking out shop local produce to showcase and sell 

within our shop. New stockists brought onboard this quarter are Herdy Home | The 

Herdy Company and enhanced collection from  wild and fruitful Jams, Marmalades & 

Chutneys - Wild & Fruitful Preserves Cumbria (wildandfruitful.co.uk) From the heart 

of Cumbria, Wild & Fruitful have been creating amazing tastes from local produce for 

over 20 years. 

 

 Social Inclusion – We are working closely with the Social Inclusion team to reach out 

to identified groups within our Community who would not normally consider a visit 

to the Beacon Museum. We have recently held a digital take over day by Digital 

Takeover Day – Friday 25 June 2021. It was part of the national Kids in Museums 

Digital Takeover Day event, when young people take over the social accounts of 

museums, galleries, historic homes, archives and heritage sites across the UK. 

Supported by Arts Council England, Kids in Museums.  

 
 

 

Page 38

https://whatson.cmog.org/exhibitions-galleries/sparkling-company-glass-and-costs-social-life-britain-during-1700s
https://whatson.cmog.org/exhibitions-galleries/sparkling-company-glass-and-costs-social-life-britain-during-1700s
https://www.herdy.co.uk/
https://www.herdy.co.uk/
https://wildandfruitful.co.uk/
https://wildandfruitful.co.uk/


Full Council 07092021 

21 
 

 
Environment, Place and Inclusive Communities – Councillor Andy Pratt  

 
Development Management 
 
Workload 

The Development Management Team are very busy with several significant major planning 

applications currently in the system awaiting determination. These are summarised below: - 

 Harras Moor, Whitehaven – Outline application for up to 370 dwellings 

 Elizabeth Crescent, Whitehaven – Outline application for 50 dwellings 

 Land at Low Road, Whitehaven – Full application for 99 dwellings 

 Land at Harras Road, Whitehaven – 2x Reserved Matters applications for a total of 
90 dwellings 

 Former Romar Factory, Main Street, Hensingham – Reserved Matters for 26 
dwellings 

 Land at Howbank Farm and Former Orgill School, Egremont – Full application for 
114 dwellings 

 Land to north of Cleator Mills, Cleator – Full application for 115 dwellings 

 Pow Beck House, Meadow Road, Whitehaven – Erection of new care home 

 Full application for final phase of West Cumberland Hospital redevelopment  
 

Performance 

The Council has recently been recognised as one the top Councils with the highest approval 

rates for planning applications based on MHCLG figures for the last financial year 2020-

2021. 

The team continue to perform at a high level. Performance is based on the speed at which 

they determine planning applications against agreed timescales. The table below shows the 

performance against the set criteria for the first quarter of the 2021/2022 period. The final 

column provides a comparison against all the Local Planning Authorities in England for the 

last set of data published by the MHCLG (up to end of 2020).  

Speed of Determination of Planning Applications – the following results were achieved for 

the first quarter of 2021/2022: - 

   1st Quarter 
(Apr – June 
2021) 

Cumulative 
(April 2020 
– June 
2021) 

Position in 
National 
Tables 
(up to end 
of 2020) 

PI 157 (a) 
Major planning applications dealt within 13 
weeks or agreed extension of time 
Target is 65% 

  
100% 
(1 out of 1) 

  
100% 
(1 out of 1) 

Joint 1st out 
of 345 

Page 39



Full Council 07092021 

22 
 

PI 157 (b) and P157 (c) 
Minor and Other planning applications dealt 
within 8 weeks or agreed extension of time 
Target is 80% 

  
99% 
(113 out of 
114) 

  
99% 
(113 out of 
114) 

36th out of 
345 

  

Whitehaven Bus Station 

The Bus Station has been shortlisted for two awards by the Royal Town Planning Institute 

North West branch in the following categories: - 

1. Excellence in Planning for Heritage and Culture 

2. Excellence in Planning for a Successful Economy 

 

Nick Hayhurst, Head of Planning and Place alongside Michael Pemberton CEO of BEC and 

Robin Stewart of Norr Architects are scheduled to present the scheme to the RTPI judging 

panel on 07th September 2021.  

The winners are due to be announced in September 2021. 

Strategic Housing & Social Inclusion 
 
Social Inclusion 

In July, in partnership with Well Whitehaven, the Department for Work and Pensions 

launched their first Youth Hub in Mirehouse.  The hub will bring together local community 

and partner organisations who specialise in the wellbeing and support of young people aged 

18-24 who are not in employment, training, or education (NEETS). It will create 

opportunities for young people to access help, support and move them closer to or into 

work, apprenticeships, or education.  The hub is based in Mirehouse community centre and 

not a job centre, which is more appealing to young people. 

In September, Well Whitehaven, in partnership with the Princess Trust and Copeland 

Borough Councils Work and Skills team, will start recruiting young people for the ‘Get into’ 

programme. The programme will create opportunities for young people in Mirehouse to 

access help, support and move them closer to or into work, apprenticeships or education. 

Each young person will have the opportunity to develop sector specific skills and experience 

to enable them to move into secure employment 

Social Prescribing 

In June the Council’s Social Prescribing team in partnership with Cumbria County Council, 

the Social Prescribing NHS Copeland Locality Team and Active Cumbria, successfully 

launched a Wellbeing Festival in Millom. A further free, one-day session covering the same 

topics (including suicide awareness, mindfulness, heart start and mini-MOT sessions) was 

held at Whitehaven Rugby Club on 25th August.   

Our Social Prescribing team are winding down their support with the vaccination 

programme at Seacliff pharmacy. 31 volunteers were recruited, who accrued 1766 

volunteering hours since March.  

Page 40



Full Council 07092021 

23 
 

The Social Prescribing Directory is now on version 7 with 65 groups and 79 services 

registered. To the end of July, 231 new referrals had been made into groups, 136 of which 

were self-referrals.  

The Social Prescribing team have worked in partnership with Always Another Way to create 

Tea and Chat groups for residents and NHS Social Prescribing patients.  

The Social Prescribing team are working in partnership with the Sellafield Health and 

Wellbeing Forum to create the first Health and Wellbeing conference in October.  

We are still working with our funders to reposition and expand social prescribing, building 

on and learning from the two years of the initial project and ensuring it aligns and 

contributes to our recovery strategy for Covid.  

Housing and Homelessness 

The Domestic Abuse Act has now come into force, placing duties on First Tier Council’s to 

provide support around accommodation – which the districts are responsible for. We have 

recruited two new full-time Prevention and Crisis Support Officers for 12 months, with the 

funding allocated through Cumbria County Council, to increase the support we are able to 

provide.  

Allerdale and Copeland have also recently recruited a full time, 12-month fixed term Private 

Rented Sector Officer, through MHCLG funding, to work with local private sector landlords 

to increase the amount of accommodation available to people we are working with, who for 

various reasons are unable to access social housing. The successful candidate already 

worked for Allerdale within their Housing Options Team and has already established good 

relationships with local landlords.  

Home Group’s Move on Scheme is due to open in September 2021. This will provide 2 

blocks of 12 en-suite units with communal areas and 24/7 support in Whitehaven Town 

Centre and 26 dispersed 1-bedroom units through Mirehouse, Greenbank, Woodhouse and 

Cleator Moor, which will be used as transitional units with floating support to build life and 

tenancy skills. This will help our team accommodate clients we have struggled to house in 

the past, due to their support needs and tenancy history and will be a real asset for 

Copeland.  

The new Cumbria Choice Based Website and Allocation Policy are due to go live in 

September, simplifying the qualification rules, reducing the number of bands applicants can 

be placed in and simplifying the application process, based on feedback from users.  The 

rules regarding housing related debt have been changed, following input from Citizens 

Advice, which should make it easier for applicants who are actively trying to reduce their 

debt secure social housing.  

We have just drafted our Rough Sleeper Future Prevention Plan for MHCLG, outlining our 

objectives on the themes of prevention, intervention and recovery for the year to end single 

homelessness and end rough sleeping. The previously mentioned schemes along with the 

Changing Futures programme reported within the previous briefing are all instrumental to 

us achieving our identified objectives.  

Page 41



Full Council 07092021 

24 
 

 

Environmental Update 
 
Copeland Climate Programme - Climate Steering Group 
 
The Climate Steering Group continues to meet monthly, chaired by myself, along with Cllrs 
Studholme, Morgan and Jones-Bulman. The role of the Steering Group is to provide oversight 
of delivery of the climate programme and to hold the informal climate programme team of 
officers to account in implementing the 10-point plan and Climate Action Plan. 
 
In coming meetings, the Steering Group will consider: 

 How to support the recommendations of the Copeland People’s Panel on Climate 
Change 

 Identification and analysis of climate risks to Copeland and the Council 

 The Council’s tree planting plans 

 Green Jobs in Copeland 
 
Terms of Reference for the group can be made available upon request. 
 
Copeland People’s Panel on Climate Change 
 
The Copeland People’s Panel on Climate Change met four times in July, launched by the 
Mayor and myself. So far, the panel has heard from several experts on topics including 
sources of emissions nationally and locally, the impacts of climate change, and how change 
happens. Following initial discussions, the Panel has selected the topics it would like to 
discuss further, including transport and behavioural change. 
 
The Panel will meet again throughout September, before making a set of recommendations 
to the Council and other stakeholders on “what action is needed in our homes, business and 
community to respond to climate change?”. 
 
The Copeland People’s Panel on Climate Change is part-funded by the National Lottery 
Community Fund as part of the Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership’s ambitious emission 
reduction programme to make Cumbria carbon neutral by 2037. 
 
More information on the panel and the process, as well as links to presentations from the 
meetings are available on the Council’s website: 
 
Climate Change People's Panel | Copeland Borough Council 

Social Inclusion: 

Copeland Work & Skills Partnership 

The following progress has been made during the last quarter: 

 Sector Development – Unemployed Copeland residents now have a better 

understanding of how to access job opportunities with employers whose focus is 

outdoor adventure and environmental conservation.  The pilot initiative was supported 

Page 42

https://www.copeland.gov.uk/copeland-peoples-panel-climate-change


Full Council 07092021 

25 
 

by local employers, West Lakes Adventure, West Cumbria Rivers Trust and Lake District 

National Park.   

 

Participants gained an insight into the different employment opportunities through 

taking part in a range of work-related opportunities.  This included, hearing personal 

career journeys of those staff currently employed; gaining an understanding of employer 

working practices and skills/qualifications required to gain access into jobs/volunteering 

was also covered.   

 

On a separate initiative, Wyndham Manor Care Home, based in Cleator Moor, engaged 

with the Partnership through the SBWA route to fill a number of care sector vacancies. 

 

 Employability Fund – Unemployed individuals have benefited from support through the 

Employability Fund over the reporting period.  They include support towards DBS & 

medical in order to gain a taxi licence, contribution towards gaining SIA Licence, 

equipment to support self- employment start-up, CSCS Card/H&S test and additional 

support for clients with bespoke needs. 

 

 Wage Subsidy – Unemployed individuals have secured employment via the wage 

subsidy workstream this quarter.  Employers who have recruited include: Hi Def; St Bees 

Little Learners; Bankend Cattery; Rosehill Care Home and Wyndham Manor Care Home.  

 

The on-going support towards the development of the Whitehaven Youth Hub is now 

complete.  The facility is open to the public and will provide services to the unemployed 

youth 16-24) in the Mirehouse community. 

 

Environment Services  

Roadmap out of Lockdown – Step 4 (19th July 2021) 

Step 4 of the Roadmap out of Lockdown was activated on 19th July removing many covid 
control restrictions such as mandatory table service and the rule of six.  Step 4 was very 
welcome though we must remember the pandemic is not over.  Step 4 does not mark the 
end of the need for caution and restraint and the following key protections remain in place : 

 Testing when you have symptoms and targeted asymptomatic testing in education, 
high risk workplaces and to help people manage their personal risk. 

 Isolating when positive or when contacted by NHS Test and Trace or when advised to 
by the NHS COVID-19 app. 

 Border quarantine: for all arriving from red list countries, and for those people 
arriving from amber list countries, other than those UK residents fully vaccinated in 
the UK vaccine programme. 

 Cautious guidance for individuals, businesses and the vulnerable whilst prevalence is 
high including: 

Page 43



Full Council 07092021 

26 
 

 whilst Government is no longer instructing people to work from home if they 
can, Government expects and recommends a gradual return over the 
summer 

 Government expects and recommends that people wear face coverings in 
crowded areas such as public transport 

 being outside or letting fresh air in 

 minimising the number, proximity and duration of social contacts. 

 encouraging and supporting businesses and large events to use the NHS 
COVID Pass in high risk settings to help to limit the risk of infection. The 
Government will work with organisations that operate large, crowded 
settings where people are likely to be in close proximity to others outside 
their household to encourage the use of the NHS COVID Pass. If sufficient 
measures are not taken to limit infection, the Government will consider 
mandating the NHS COVID Pass in certain venues at a later date. 

 

The Government continue with a five-point plan to manage the risks of living with the virus 
on our careful and cautious pathway back to normality. 
1. Reinforce the country’s vaccine wall of defence through booster jabs and driving 

take up. Government will encourage vaccine take up among young adults and those 
yet to be vaccinated, ensure all adults have had the opportunity to receive two doses 
of the vaccine by mid September, and offer booster jabs to the most vulnerable 
subject to final advice from the JCVI. 

2. Enable the public to make informed decisions through guidance, rather than laws. 
Government will reopen the remaining closed settings and remove regulations from 
19 July, provide guidance for individuals, businesses, and those who are Clinically 
Extremely Vulnerable on the behaviours that can help to protect everyone. 
Government will look to operate public services in a way that supports everyone 
feeling safe to access them, and work with businesses to the same effect. 

3. Retain proportionate test, trace and isolate plans. Government will keep our testing 
system in place; continue to offer free lateral flow tests to help people manage their 
personal risk; maintain current domestic isolation requirements until 16 August 
before introducing an exemption for fully vaccinated contacts and under 18s; and 
maintain support for self isolation, with practical and financial support available until 
the end of September. 

4. Manage risks at the border and support a global response to reduce the risk of 
variants emerging globally and entering the UK. Government will continue to operate 
a traffic-light system for international travel, reassessing the red, amber and green 
lists this week, and every three weeks, through the summer; remove quarantine 
requirements for fully vaccinated UK travellers returning from amber countries from 
19 July, while retaining PCR testing crucial for identifying new variants; and 
accelerate global vaccination by prioritising access to vaccines in developing 
countries. 

5. Retain contingency measures to respond to unexpected events, while accepting that 
further cases, hospitalisations and deaths will occur as the country learns to live with 
COVID-19. Government will continue to monitor the data on a regular basis to 
ensure there is no danger of the NHS facing unsustainable pressure; work with local 

Page 44



Full Council 07092021 

27 
 

authorities and provide national support to local areas that need an enhanced 
response to COVID-19; and maintain contingency plans for reimposing economic and 
social restrictions at a local, regional or national level if evidence suggests they are 
necessary to suppress or manage a dangerous variant. Such measures would only be 
re-introduced as a last resort to prevent unsustainable pressure on the NHS. 

 

Covid Contact Tracing – Contain Outbreak Management  

 

Copeland and all councils in Cumbria continue with enhanced contact tracing of covid 
positive cases.  Contact Tracing is an essential part of the Contain approach. 

From 16 August, you will not be required to self-isolate if you are notified you have had 
close contact with someone with COVID-19 and any of the following apply: 

 you are fully vaccinated 

 you are below the age of 18 years 6 months 

 you have taken part in or are currently part of an approved COVID-19 vaccine trial 

 you are not able to get vaccinated for medical reasons 

Fully vaccinated means that you have been vaccinated with an MHRA approved COVID-19 
vaccine in the UK, and at least 14 days have passed since you received the recommended 
doses of that vaccine. 

If you are not legally required to self-isolate you will be provided with advice on testing and 
given guidance on preventing the spread of COVID-19.  Even if you do not have symptoms, 
you will be advised to have a PCR test as soon as possible. Children aged 4 and under will 
not be advised to take a test unless the positive case was someone in their own household. 

You should not arrange to have a PCR test if you have previously received a positive PCR test 
result in the last 90 days, unless you develop any new symptoms of COVID-19, as it is 
possible for PCR tests to remain positive for some time after COVID-19 infection. 

Even if you are vaccinated, you can still be infected with COVID-19 and pass it on to others.  
If you are identified as a contact of someone with COVID-19 but you are not required to self-
isolate, you can help protect others by following the guidance on how to stay safe and help 
prevent the spread. As well as getting a PCR test, you may also consider: 

 limiting close contact with people outside your household, especially in enclosed 
spaces 

 wearing a face covering in enclosed spaces and where you are unable to maintain 
social distancing 

 limiting contact with anyone who is clinically extremely vulnerable 

 taking part in twice weekly Lateral Flow Testing  

This advice applies until 10 full days after your most recent contact with the person who has 
tested positive for COVID-19. 

Page 45

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/covid-19-coronavirus-restrictions-what-you-can-and-cannot-do#keeping-yourself-and-others-safe
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/covid-19-coronavirus-restrictions-what-you-can-and-cannot-do#keeping-yourself-and-others-safe


Full Council 07092021 

28 
 

Additional guidance is in place for health or social care workers identified as a close contact. 
 

(Close contacts include - face-to-face contact including being coughed on or having a face-to-
face conversation within one metre, been within one metre for one minute or longer 
without face-to-face contact, been within 2 metres of someone for more than 15 minutes 
(either as a one-off contact, or added up together over one day) 

Page 46



     

Council 7 September 2021 

Industrial Solutions Hub 

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Cllr David Moore, Portfolio Holder for Nuclear & 

Corporate Services 

LEAD OFFICER:  Pat Graham, Chief Executive 

REPORT AUTHOR:  Barbara Vernon, Property & Estates Manager 

SUMMARY 

The Council has legislative statutory compliance obligations relating to various 
building related matters.  This report sets out the Council’s policies in relation 
to the management of Asbestos which is present in Council owned buildings 
and the control of Legionella in property assets where the Council has 
responsibility.  These policies have been updated from those already in place 
to ensure compliance with updated legislation and obligations. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is recommended that Council: 

Agrees to adopt the attached updated policy documents  

 

1 INTRODUCTON 

1.1 Copeland Borough Council is committed to ensuring the health, safety and 

welfare of all of its employees, visitors and other persons affected by its 

work activities.  The Council is committed to ensuring that accommodation 

is provided to occupiers safely and all persons who use the premises are 

protected from harm. 

1.2 The Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 (CAR 2012) – Regulation 4 ‘duty 

to manage asbestos in non-domestic properties’ sets a legal requirement 

for owners and occupiers of non-domestic buildings to carry out suitable 

assessments to determine whether asbestos is present or likely to be 

present.  CAR 2012 provides the framework for the Council’s Asbestos 

Policy, Procedures and Asbestos Management Plan. 

1.3 The control of legionella in Council owned and/or managed properties are 

governed by the  provisions of the ACOP L8 (4th edition) 2013. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 9



     

2 CURRENT POSITION 

2.1 This policies attached to this report have been updated to reflect current 

legislation and responsibilities in line with the Regulations and Approved 

Codes of Practice outlined above.  The policies apply to all areas of the 

Council without exception and relate to Council owned and managed 

assets.  Failure to comply with these policies could result in an Industrial 

accident causing exposure which would lead to a criminal prosecution 

which may extend to individuals under the Health and Safety at Work Act 

and Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations. 

3 CONCLUSION 

3.1 Members are asked to agree to adopt the Council’s updated policies 

relating to the Management of asbestos and control of legionella in 

Council owned and managed property assets. 

4. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  

4.1 Legal and Monitoring Officer Comments are: The draft policies refer to 

the relevant and essential legal provisions relating to asbestos and 

legionella and no further legal comment is required. 

 
4.2 S151 Officer Comments are: None  

LIST OF BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS - NONE 

LIST OF APPENDICES 

Appendix A – Asbestos Management Policy and Management Plan 

Appendix B - Policy for the Control of Legionella Bacteria in Water Systems 

 

Page 48



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

THE CONTROL OF LEGIONELLA 
BACTERIA IN WATER SYSTEMS

 
Version: Draft – Rev C 
Date: Date of final publication 
 
 

Page 49



 

Page 2 of 16 

2 
 

Document Control  
 

Organisation Copeland Borough Council 

Title The Control of Legionella Bacteria in Water 
Systems 

Version Revision C 

Author Barbara Vernon 

Filename Legionella Policy Document 2020 

Owner Barbara Vernon 

Subject Statutory Compliance 

Protective Marking  

Review Date 9/8/21 

 

Revision History 
 

Version 
Reviewed 

Date Reviewed Reviewed By Description of Revision 

Rev 0 9/8/21 Barbara 
Vernon 

Updating of legionella policy, following 
changes to legislation & Management 
structure.  

 

Document Approval  
 

Version Approved By Date 

 Corporate Leadership Team 18th August 2021 

 Full Council 6th September 2021 

 

Document Distribution 
 
This policy is to be distributed to all staff and elected members of Copeland Borough Council 
and placed on the Council’s Intranet Site. A copy must also be provided to contractors and 
third parties undertaking work on Copeland Borough Council premises.   
 

Page 50



 

Page 3 of 16 

3 
Contents 
 

1 Purpose  ............................................................................... page 4 
 

2 Introduction  ……………………………………………………………………… page 4 
 

3 Scope  ……………………………………………………………………………….. page 5 
 

4 Roles and Responsibilities  ………………………………………………… page 5 
 

5 Policy Details and Procedures  ………………………………………….. page 6 
5.1 Identification of Risk  ……………………………………………….   page 7 
5.2 Control and Management of Risk  …………………………….. page 9 
5.3 Competency and Training  ………………………………………. Page 10 
5.4 Record Keeping  ……………………………………………………… page 11 

 
6 Policy Monitoring  …………………………………………………………….. page 12 

 
7 References  ……………………………………………………………………….. page 12 

 
Appendix A – Legionella Risk Assessment Guidance  ………………. page 13 
 
Appendix B – Safety Guidance Note  ………………………………………. page 14 
 
Appendix C – Record of Alterations to an Existing Water System page 15 
 
Appendix D – Record of Installation of New Water System …….. page 16 

 

Page 51



 

Page 4 of 16 

4 
1. Purpose 
The purpose of this document is to define the procedure for controlling the risks from the 
legionella bacteria from activities undertaken within premises operated and/or occupied by 
the Council so that; 

- there are robust systems in place to comply with HSE guidance, 
- that the risk from legionellosis is controlled in all premises for which the Council has 

responsibility, 
- the identification and assessment of sources of risk from legionellosis in premises is 

robust, 
- there is a scheme for prevention and/or controlling risk from legionellosis, 
- the implementation and management of the scheme is controlled by appointing 

responsible person(s), 
- robust and adequate records are maintained, 
- adequate training, instruction and supervision of persons with responsibilities under 

this policy is undertaken. 
 

2. Introduction 
Legionella bacteria are common and can be found naturally in environmental water sources 
such as rivers, lakes, and reservoirs, usually in low numbers.  Legionella bacteria can survive 
under a wide variety of environmental conditions.  Water temperatures in the range 20°C to 
45°C seem to favour growth.  The organisms do not appear to multiply below 20°C and will not 
survive above 60°C.  They may however remain dormant in cool water and multiply when 
water temperatures reach a suitable level.  Legionella bacteria also require a supply of 
nutrients to multiply. 
 
Legionella bacteria is responsible for a group of pneumonia-type diseases collectively termed 
‘Legionellosis’. The diseases can be fatal or permanently debilitating.  
 
Legionnaires’ disease is normally contracted by inhaling legionella bacteria deep into the lungs, 
either in tiny droplets of water (aerosols), or in droplet nuclei (the particles left after the water 
has evaporated) which is contaminated with legionella.  Legionnaires’ disease can be treated 
effectively with appropriate antibiotics. 
 
Copeland Borough Council is committed to ensuring the health, safety and welfare of all of its 
employees, visitors and other persons affected by its work activities.  The Council is committed 
to ensuring that accommodation is provided to occupiers safely and all persons who use the 
premises are protected from harm. 
 
This document states and describes the allocation of responsibilities and arrangements for the 
implementation of the Council’s Policy and Procedure for the management of water hygiene 
and the control of legionellosis. 

Page 52



 

Page 5 of 16 

5 
 

3. Scope 
This policy and procedure applies to all areas of the Council without exception. Copeland 
Borough Council recognises the need to protect its employees and others from the harmful 
effects of legionella by: - 
 

 Complying with relevant legislation and the requirements of this policy; 
 Providing where reasonably practicable standards not less than those set out in the 

Approved Code of Practice (ACOP L8 (4th edition) 2013); 
 Appointing a person or persons, to take managerial responsibility and to provide 

supervision. 
 Taking all reasonable steps to prevent its employees and others from breathing in 

droplets of water containing harmful levels of legionella. 
 Keeping appropriate records 
 Providing appropriate training 
 

Copeland Borough Council owns a number of various different built assets with uses including; 
office accommodation, commercial, industrial, health care, leisure and storage. Each asset is 
managed differently and there are 5 relationships which exist, they are as follows: 

 
1. Council owned, occupied properties, fully maintained by the Council. 
2. Properties leased to and occupied by the Council where the Council have no 

repairing responsibility.  
3. Properties owned by the Council, managed by other (Sports Centre, Swimming Pool 

etc.) The Council are not responsible for maintaining the property but do contribute 
financially to it.  

4. Council owned properties leased to tenants – where the tenant has full repairing 
responsibility  

5. Council owned properties leased to tenants – where the Council has full repairing 
responsibility.  

 

Where the Council is responsible for the maintenance of the property which includes the water 
supply, this policy must be applied in full without exception (Relationships: 1 & 5).  

 
If the Council has employees occupying a property which is not owned nor maintained by the 
Council, it must be established by the Responsible Person with the controlling party (i.e. 
landlord) their legionella policy and procedure.  Copies of the following documents shall be 
requested; 

 
 A copy of the legionella policy/procedure 
 A copy of the property specific risk assessment and confirmation that the items 

identified on the risk assessment are being undertaken/ managed 
 Any schemes in place 

 
Although the Council may not be responsible for the property it retains a duty to employees 
under The Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 which is to ensure the health and safety of 
employees whilst at work (Relationship 2). 

Page 53



 

Page 6 of 16 

6 
 

Where a property is owned by the Council and fully managed by a third party, the 
responsibility for legionella must be defined at the start of the contract. If it is considered to be 
the Council’s responsibility the Council’s policy and procedure will apply in full without 
exception. Alternatively, if it is to be considered as a third party responsibility, the RP will 
ensure that the contractual duties are met (Relationship 4).  

 
Where a property is owned by the Council and leased to a third party with full repair and 
maintaining responsibilities they are to be considered as the controlling party and therefore 
shall have a duty to carry out risk assessment and manage the risk of legionellosis (Relationship 
5).   Evidence of compliance with the legislation should be sought by the Responsible Person.    

 
If there is doubt over the Council’s responsibility, it should be determined if the council is in 
‘control’ of the water supply in the building. If the council is in ‘control’ of the water supply the 
policy must be applied. 

 
Where a building is unoccupied the Property & Estates team must notify the ‘Responsible 
Person’ and measure will be put in place to control legionella bacteria.  
 

4. Roles and Responsibilities 
The provisions of the ACOP L8 (4th edition) 2013 imposes responsibility on the Council to 
appoint members of staff to fulfil the following roles:  
 
Duty Holder 
The Duty Holder is the Head of Paid Services. 
The duty holder will take all reasonable steps to ensure the competence of those carrying out work and 

that responsibilities and lines of communication are properly established and clearly laid down.   The 
Duty Holder will appoint a suitable competent person to take day-to-day responsibility for 
controlling any identified risk from legionella bacteria, known as the Responsible Person.  
 
Responsible Person 
The Responsible Person (RP) has the necessary skills and training to implement the control 
measures and strategies.  
 
The RP will have sufficient authority, competence and knowledge of the installations to ensure 
that all operational procedures are carried out effectively and in a timely way.  The RP has the 
delegated responsibility for the implementation of the Council’s policy and for the 
management of the water systems across all properties for which the Council has maintenance 
responsibilities, in accordance with the ACOP.   
 
The RP or an authorised deputy will be contactable at all times. 
 
Appointed Contractor 
The RP will appoint an external contractor through a formal robust procurement procedure.  
The Appointed Contractor will have the necessary skills and training to implement the control 
measures and strategies under instruction from the RP. 
The Appointed Contractor, under the direction of the RP, will undertake the following: 

Page 54



 

Page 7 of 16 

7 
 Risk assessments that follow the requirements of ACOP L8 (4th edition) 2013 
 Carry out tests, as required, on water systems 
 Carry out investigations and remedial works as instructed 
 Carry out all weekly/monthly inspection, monitoring and maintenance tasks as 

instructed (see Appendix B for inspection frequencies) 
 Ensure all necessary documentation is completed and returned to the RP  in a 

timely manner 
 Inform the RP of any immediate concerns in relation to Legionella and the Council’s 

water systems as soon as practicably possible 
 Ensure compliance with this policy and laid down specifications 

 

5. Policy Details including Procedures 
The RP will follow the procedures outlined below to identify, control and manage the risk of a 
legionella outbreak. 
 

5.1. IDENTIFICATON OF RISK 
The Appointed Contractor will undertake a suitable and sufficient assessment of the risk of 
exposure to legionella bacteria from work activities and water systems on all premises for 
which the Council has responsibility, and identify any precautionary measures needed. The 
assessment will also consider the risks to people not employed by the Council who may be 
affected.  Risk assessment guidance is attached at Appendix A. 
 
The Appointed Contractor will undertake the measures needed to comply with the 
requirements in COSHH and will draw up and implement precautionary measures carrying out 
their tasks competently and safely.    
 
In particular, the Appointed Contractor will know;  
(a)  all potential sources of legionella bacteria and the risks they present;  
(b)  the measures to adopt, including the precautions to take to protect the people 

concerned,  
(c)  the measures to take to ensure that the control measures remain effective, and their 

significance.  
 
The risk assessment will identify and evaluate potential sources of risk and the particular 
means of preventing exposure to legionella bacteria or, if prevention is not reasonably 
practicable, the particular means of controlling the risk from exposure to legionella bacteria. 
 
The assessment will also advise whether the potential for harm to health from exposure is 
reasonably foreseeable, unless adequate precautionary measures are taken, and the necessary 
measures to prevent, or adequately control, the risk from exposure.  
 
Where the assessment demonstrates there is no reasonably foreseeable risk or that risks are 
insignificant and unlikely to increase, and are properly managed, no further assessment or 
measures are needed.  However, the assessment will be reviewed on a regular basis, and 
particularly if circumstances change.  
 

Page 55



 

Page 8 of 16 

8 
If the assessment shows that there is a reasonably foreseeable risk and it is reasonably 
practicable to prevent exposure or control the risk from exposure, the Approved Contractor 
will undertake the measures needed to comply with the requirements in COSHH.  The RP will 
take all reasonable steps to ensure the competence of those carrying out work who are not 
under their direct control and that responsibilities and lines of communication are properly 
established and clearly laid down.  
 
The assessment of risk is a living document that must be reviewed to ensure it remains up-to-
date.  Each assessment will be reviewed regularly and specifically whenever there is reason to 
suspect it is no longer valid.  Each assessment will be reviewed annually and specifically when; 
(a) there are changes to the water system or its use 
(b)  there are changes to the use of the building in which the water system is installed 
(c)  there is availability of new information about risks or control measures 
(d)  checks indicate that control measures are no longer effective 
(e)  there are changes to key personnel 
(f)  there is a case of legionnaires’ disease/legionellosis associated with the system 
 
As part of the risk assessment, the individual nature of each site will be taken into account and 
consideration given to the system as a whole, including dead legs and parts of the system used 
intermittently.    
 
In complex systems, a site survey of all the water systems will be carried out, including an asset 
register of all associated plant, pumps, strainers and other relevant items.  This will include an 
up-to-date schematic diagram showing the layout of the plant or system, including parts 
temporarily out of use to inform the risk assessment process.  
 
The following list contains some of the factors that will be considered, as appropriate, when 
carrying out the risk assessment:  
(a)  the source of system supply water, eg whether from a mains supply or not;  
(b)  possible sources of contamination of the supply water in the premises before it reaches 

the cold water storage tank, calorifier, cooling tower or any other system using water 
that may present a risk of exposure to legionella bacteria;  

(c) the normal plant operating characteristics;  
(d)  unusual, but reasonably foreseeable operating conditions, eg breakdowns;  
(e)  any means of disinfection in use;  
(f)  the review of any current control measures;  
(g)  the local environment.  
 
The final risk assessment will be issued to the Council and retained by the RP. 
 
The RP shall ensure full compliance with ACOP L8 (4th Edition) and in particular undertake any 
such actions required to comply with preventing or controlling the risk from exposure to the 
legionella bacteria.  This will include the following (this list is not exhaustive); 

 
 risk assessments are undertaken that follow the requirements of ACOP L8  
 tests, as required, on water systems are undertaken 
 investigations and remedial works as instructed are undertaken 

Page 56



 

Page 9 of 16 

9 
 all inspections/monitoring/maintenance tasks as instructed are undertaken  
 all systems are designed and installed to ensure compliance with the ACOP L8  
 flushing of outlets is carried out as required, and records kept 
 the inspection and monitoring regime is adhered to 
 the Appointed Contractor’s performance is monitored on a regular basis 
 completion of any remedial work identified is undertaken 
 a comprehensive database is maintained 
 risk assessments are reviewed and any remedial work identified is undertaken  
 contractors carrying out weekly/monthly inspection, monitoring, and maintenance 

tasks are supervised  
 systems and designs are reviewed to ensure compliance with this policy 
 risk assessment findings will be communicated appropriately and technical advice 

obtained and communicated where appropriate 
 policy and procedures for the control of legionella bacteria in water systems are 

adhered to 
 monitoring , inspection and remedial work is facilitated 
 no modifications/alterations or additions to water systems are carried out without 

the written approval of the RP 

 
5.2  CONTROL MEASURES AND MANAGEMENT OF RISK  

Where a risk assessment shows that there is a reasonably foreseeable risk and this cannot 
be totally eliminated, a written scheme for controlling the risk from exposure will be 
implemented.  The scheme will specify measures to be taken to ensure that it remains 
effective and will include; 
 

 an up-to-date scheme showing layout of the plant or system, including any part 
temporarily out of use 

 a description of the correct and safe operation of the system 
 the precautions to be taken; 
 checks to be carried out to ensure efficacy of the scheme and the frequency of such 

checks 
 remedial action to be taken in the event that the scheme is shown not to be 

effective 
 
The risk from exposure will be controlled by measures, which do not allow the proliferation 
of legionella bacteria in the system and reduce exposure to water droplets and aerosol.  
Control measures will generally include the following precautions where appropriate; 
 

 controlling the release of water spray 
 avoiding water with temperatures between 20°C and 45°C 
 avoiding water stagnation, which may encourage the growth of biofilm 
 avoiding the possibility of materials which provide a harbour for nutrients which 

encourages the multiplication of bacteria e.g. dead animals, wood etc., which can 
fall into open water tanks 

 avoiding the use of materials in systems that can harbour or provide nutrients for 
bacteria and other organisms 

Page 57



 

Page 10 of 16 

10 
 keeping systems clean to avoid the build-up of sediments which may harbour 

bacteria 
 the use of suitable and safe water treatment programmes 
 effective monitoring and management systems, which ensure correct and safe 

operation together with effective maintenance of the water system 
 

If the scheme includes the use of chemicals, it must contain manufacturer’s details on the 
effectiveness, the required concentrations and contact time required for effective treatment.  
It should also contain the health and safety information for the storage, handling, use and 
disposal of the chemical. 

 
Cleaning and disinfection procedures will be clearly stated.  Where monitoring procedures are 
required the scheme will clearly state the required frequency, sampling locations and 
procedures to ensure consistency.  It will make clear the acceptable physical and chemical 
parameters together with allowable tolerances.  There will also be guidance on the remedial 
action to be taken in case the control limits are exceed, including lines of communication, 
which should include as a minimum the RP. 
 
Where there is a significant risk the RP or his Appointed Contractor will review control 
measures and will monitor routine inspections to ensure that the control measures remain 
effective. 
   
The frequency and extent of the routine monitoring will depend on the operating 
characteristics of the system. 
 

The RP will report to the Duty Holder who will have the authority to close affected 
systems and if appropriate close establishments that pose a significant risk to persons 
using that premises from the identified potential releases of legionella bacteria into the 
air. 

 

5.3 COMPETENCY AND TRAINING 
Training is an essential part of the RP and Appointed Contractor’s ability to carry out the work 
safety, however instructions, experience and knowledge are also crucial to perform a task 
safely. 
 
The Duty Holder will ensure that all employees involved in work that may expose the 
employee, other employees or other persons to legionella are given suitable and sufficient 
information, instruction and training, including training on the significant findings of a risk 
assessment and the appropriate precautions and actions they need to take to safeguard 
themselves and others.    
 
The RP will undergo such training, which will be reviewed and updated whenever significant 
changes are made to the type of work carried out or methods used.  The RP will ensure that as 
part of the robust procurement process that the Appointed Contractor has up to date and 
sufficient training and relevant qualifications in order to perform the specified tasks safely and 
competently. 
 

Page 58



 

Page 11 of 16 

11 
Poor communication has been indicated in previous outbreaks as a contributory factor, 
therefore all lines of communication should be clear, unambiguous and audited regularly by 
the Council’s Health and Safety Advisor to ensure they are and remain effective. 

 
This also applies to communications to external contractors and consultants who may be 
responsible for parts of the control regime.  All competent persons will be identified in the 
written scheme proposed under section 5.2 above, which clearly states their duties.   

 
These key personnel will be provided with specialist training and regular refresher training, 
which will be recorded on their personal training records. 

 
The RP along with all staff who are involved in the running and maintenance of water systems 
must be given information to ensure they are aware of the risks associated with the 
equipment.  They should have access to the written scheme and risk assessments. 
 

5.4 RECORD KEEPING 

To meet COSHH, regulations 6 and 9, Management Regulations 3 and 5, the Health & Safety at 
Work Act sections 2, 3 and 4, a record of the significant findings of the risk assessment, 
together with the steps taken to prevent exposure to substances hazardous to health will be 
made. Records of examinations, tests and repairs of control measures will also be made.  This 
will include any groups of employees identified as being particularly at risk and the steps taken 
to prevent or control risks.  The resulting information is to be held by the RP.   A copy is also to 
be retained on site. 
 
These records will contain; 
(a) the appointed Responsible Person(s) for conducting the risk assessment, managing, and 

implementing the written scheme 
(b) any significant findings of the risk assessment  
(c) the written scheme and its implementation 
(d) details about the state of operation of the water system, ie in use/not in use  
(e) the results of any monitoring inspection, test or check carried out, and the dates 
(f) any changes to any installed water system (see form at Appendix C) 
(g) any new water system installations (see form at Appendix D) 
 

Records will be retained throughout the period that they are current and for two years after 
that.  All records should be signed by those performing the various tasks assigned to them.  
Records and dates of inspections, tests and checks will be retained for five years. 
 
 

6. Policy Monitoring and Reporting 
The RP and Corporate Health & Safety Advisor is responsible for auditing compliance with this 
policy.  The policy will be reviewed annually and, where appropriate updated, to ensure that 
the policy remains effective and to ensure the Council meets its required statutory obligations.  
 
All employees with related areas of duties will need to ensure that they comply with this policy 
and any specific instruction from the RP or their deputy. 
 

Page 59



 

Page 12 of 16 

12 
Any deviation from this policy could be construed as misconduct, and in certain 
circumstances gross misconduct, which could lead to disciplinary action, including dismissal. 
 
The Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013 (RIDDOR) 
requires accidents and some diseases that arise out of or in connection with work to be 
reported to the HSE.   Cases of legionellosis are reportable under RIDDOR if; 

 
(a) a doctor notifies the employer, and  
(b) the employee’s current job involves work on or near cooling systems which are located 
in the workplace and use water, or work on water service systems located in the 
workplace which are likely to be a source of contamination 

 
The Safety Representatives and Safety Committees Regulations 1977 and the Health and Safety 
(Consultation with Employees) Regulations 19966 require employers to consult trade union 
safety representatives, other employee representatives, or employees where there are no 
representatives, about health and safety matters.  

 
This includes changes to work that may affect their health and safety at work, arrangements 
for getting competent help, information on the risks and controls, and planning of health and 
safety training.  

 
More information in the HSE leaflet Legionnaires’ disease: A brief guide for duty holders - 
www.hse.gov.uk/legionnaires/index.htm. 
 

7. References 
ACOP L8 (fourth edition) November 2013. 
Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations (COSHH). 
Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 
Legionnaires’ disease Part 2: The Control of legionella bacteria in hot and cold water systems 
 

 

Page 60

http://www.hse.gov.uk/legionnaires/index.htm


 

Page 13 of 16 

13 
 

APPENDIX A - LEGIONELLA RISK ASSESSMENT GUIDANCE 
 

Risk assessments are currently carried out by specialists appointed by the RP 
 
A typical risk assessment will need to consider these basic issues; 
 

 the source of system supply water, for example, whether from a mains supply or 
not 

 possible sources of contamination of the supply water within the premises before it 
reaches the cold water storage cistern, calorifer, cooling tower or any other system 
using water that may present a risk of exposure to legionella bacteria 

 the normal plant operating characteristics  
 usually, but not reasonably foreseeable operating conditions, for example 

breakdowns 
 recommendations 
 schematics/Drawings showing the system and its characteristics 

 
The assessment will be reviewed every 12 months as a minimum or whenever there is reason 
to suspect that it is no longer valid.  An indication of when to review the assessment and what 
needs to be reviewed should be recorded.  This may result from, for example; 
 

 changes to the water system or its use 
 changes to the use of the building in which the water system is installed 
 the availability of new information about risk or control measures 
 the result of checks indicating that control measures are no longer effective 
 a case of Legionnaires’ disease/legionellosis is associated with the system. 

Page 61



 

Page 14 of 16 

14 
APPENDIX B - SAFETY GUIDANCE NOTE 

Monitoring of treatments for Hot and Cold Water Systems 
 
This document summarises the recommended minimum inspection frequencies for different 
types of water systems.  Each system should however be looked at individually after assessing 
the risks it poses and an appropriate inspection regime put into place: 
 

System / 
Service 

Task Frequency 

Hot water 
services 

Arrange for samples to be taken from hot water 
calorifiers, in order to note condition of drain 
water 

Annually 

Check temperatures in flow and return at 
calorifiers 

Monthly 

Check water temperature up to one minute to see 
if it has reached 50°C in the sentinel taps 

Monthly 

Visual check on internal surfaces of calorifiers for 
scale and sludge.  Check representative taps for 
temperature as above on a rotational basis 

Annually 

Cold water 
services 
 
 

Check tank water temperature remote from ball 
valve and mains temperature at ball valve.  Note 
maximum temperatures recorded by fixed max / 
min thermometers where fitted 

Six Monthly 

Check that temperature is below 20°C after 
running the water for up to two minutes in the 
sentinel taps 

Monthly 

Visually inspect cold water storage tanks and carry 
out remedial work where necessary.  Check 
representative taps for temperature as above on 
rotational basis 

Annually 

Shower 
heads 

Dismantle, clean and descale shower heads and 
hoses 

At least Quarterly or as 
deemed necessary 

Little-used 
outlets 

Flush through and purge to drain, or purge to drain 
immediately before use, without release of 
aerosols 

Weekly 

showers and 
eye wash 
sprays 

Flush through and purge to drain Six monthly or more 
frequently if 
recommended by 
manufacturers 

Vehicle 
washes   

Check filtration and treatment system, clean and 
disinfect system 

See manufacturers’ 
instructions 

Page 62



 

Page 15 of 16 

15 
APPENDIX C 

 

RECORD OF ALTERATIONS TO AN EXISTING WATER SYSTEM 
 

    

Date:    

Property:    

Address:  Reference:  

    

    

    

Contractor:  
 

Date:  

Description of 
work: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Authorised By:  
 

Risk assessment 
reviewed? 

Yes / No 
Comment: 
 
 
 

Signed:  
 

Date:  
 

 

Page 63



 

Page 16 of 16 

16 
APPENDIX D 

 

RECORD OF INSTALLATION OF NEW WATER SYSTEMS 
 

    

Date:    

Property:    

Address:  Reference:  

    

    

    

Contractor:  
 

Date:  

Description of 
work: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Authorised By:  
 

Risk assessment 
completed? 

Yes / No 
Comment: 
 
 
 

Signed:  
 

Date:  
 

 
 

 
 

Page 64



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

ASBESTOS MANAGEMENT POLICY 
 

 
  
 
 
 

Date:    18th August 2021 Revision D: Draft 
 

Page 65



 

2 
 

DOCUMENT CONTROL 

 
Document History 

 

Author Revision Status Reason for amendment Issue Date 

B Vernon DRAFT (Rev A) DRAFT Completion of asbestos 
policy, following change to 
legislation & Management 
structure. Original draft 
changed as additional 
information was required 
to align with 2017/18 
Service Plan.  

16/7/18 

B Vernon DRAFT (Rev B) DRAFT Any amendments to policy 
to accommodate 
comments received from 
Senior Management and 
the legal and 
Environmental Health 
Teams.  

22/8/18 

B Vernon FINAL (Rev C) FINAL Final document for 
publication 

22/8/18 

B Vernon DRAFT (Rev ) DRAFT Any amendments to policy 
to accommodate 
comments received from 
H&S Advisor 

 
 
 
9/8/21 

 

Document Control  
 

Organisation Copeland Borough Council 

Title The Control of Legionella Bacteria in Water 
Systems 

Version Revision D 

Author Barbara Vernon 

Filename Asbestos Management Policy 

Owner Barbara Vernon 

Subject Statutory Compliance 

Protective Marking  

Review Date 9/8/21 

 

Revision History 
 

Version 
Reviewed 

Date Reviewed Reviewed By Description of Revision 

Rev D 9/8/21 Barbara Updating of asbestos policy, following 

Page 66



 

3 
 

Vernon requested addition from the Council’s 
H&S Advisor  

 

Document Approval  
 

Version Approved By Date 

 Corporate Leadership Team  

 Full Council  

 

Document Distribution 
 
This policy is to be distributed to all staff and elected members of Copeland Borough Council 
and placed on the Council’s Intranet Site. A copy must also be provided to contractors and 
third parties undertaking work on Copeland Borough Council premises.   

Page 67



 

4 
 

Contents 

 
1 Purpose  ............................................................................... page 4 

 
2 Introduction  ……………………………………………………………………… page 4 

 
3 Scope  ……………………………………………………………………………….. page 4 

 
4 Roles and Responsibilities  ………………………………………………… page 4 

 
5 Policy Details and Procedures  ………………………………………….. page 5 

5.1 Identification of Risk  ……………………………………………….   page 5 
5.2 Control and Management of Risk  …………………………….. page 7 
5.3 Competency and Training  ………………………………………. Page 9 
5.4 Record Keeping  ……………………………………………………… page 10 

 
6 Policy Monitoring  …………………………………………………………….. page 11 

 
7 References  ……………………………………………………………………….. page 11 

 
Appendix A – Asbestos condition Inspection Template ……………. page 13 
 
Appendix B – Asbestos Management Plan  ………………………………. page 14 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



 

5 
 

1. Purpose 
The purpose of this document is to define the procedure for controlling the risks from the 
presence of asbestos within premises operated and/or occupied by the Council so that; 

- there are robust systems in place to comply with HSE guidance, 
- that the risk from asbestos is controlled in all premises for which the Council has 

responsibility and where known asbestos containing materials (ACMs) are present, 
- the identification and assessment of risk from ACMs in premises is robust, 
- there is a process for controlling risk from ACMs 
- robust and adequate records are maintained, 
- adequate training, instruction and supervision of persons with responsibilities under 

this policy is undertaken. 
 

2. Introduction 
The Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 (CAR 2012) – Regulation 4 ‘duty to manage 
asbestos in non-domestic properties’ sets a legal requirement for owners and occupiers of 
non-domestic buildings to carry out suitable assessments to determine whether asbestos is 
present or likely to be present.  CAR 2012 provides the framework for the Council’s Asbestos 
Policy, Procedures and Asbestos Management Plan. 
 
Copeland Borough Council is committed to ensuring the health, safety and welfare of all of its 
employees, visitors and other persons affected by its work activities.  The Council is 
committed to ensuring that accommodation is provided to occupiers safely and all persons 
who use the premises are protected from harm. 
 
This document states and describes the allocation of responsibilities and arrangements for the 
implementation of the Council’s Policy and Procedure for the management of Asbestos in the 
work place. 
 

3. Scope 
This policy and procedure applies to all areas of the Council without exception and relates to 
Council owned and managed assets.  Failure to comply with this document could result in an 
Industrial accident causing exposure which would lead to a criminal prosecution which may 
extend to individuals under the Health and Safety at Work Act and Control of Substances 
Hazardous to Health Regulations. 
 
Where the Council needs to take control of assets not within its ownership or formally under 
our management, we will apply this policy and seek to recover costs of any required action 
relating to the presence of asbestos from the owner of the asset. 
 

4. Roles and Responsibilities 
Copeland Borough Council (CBC) acknowledges and accepts its responsibilities under the 
Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 (CAR 2012), and the Approved Code of Practice (ACOP) 
L143 ‘Managing and Working with Asbestos’, and associated legislation shall be taken as the 
adopted standard 

Page 69



 

6 
 

 
CBC is responsible for ensuring that the buildings it owns have an Asbestos Management Plan 
in place, which complies with the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012.  The Council’s 
Asbestos Management Plan is attached at Appendix B. 
 
Property & Estates is required to manage the day-to-day process of the Asbestos Management 
Plan.  The Property & Estates Manager (or a nominated deputy) is responsible for ensuring 
compliance with these procedures, issuing permits to work, where appropriate, and organising 
and dealing with asbestos removal contractors, consultants and analysis.  The FM Officer, who is 
part of the Property & Estates Team, liaises with the Council’s Health and Safety Officer to ensure 
that records and information are kept up-to-date.  The FM Officer provides information and 
advice to staff, contractors and external consultants carrying out building work.  All work, which 
includes a breach of the fabric of the building, MUST be routed through the Property & Estates 
BEFORE work is commenced on site.  
 

5. Policy Details including Procedures 
 

5.1. IDENTIFICATON OF RISK 
Property & Estates has responsibility to monitor and review the effective planning, organisation 
and control of preventative and protective health and safety measures.  They also ensure that the 
Asbestos Register is kept up to date and that all asbestos test results, certificates and air 
monitoring paperwork are held on file 
 
Results of the surveys are categorised according to risk.  An alpha numerical risk assessment 
score is allocated to each finding when combined with a rating of either very low, low, medium or 
high, according to the potential to release asbestos fibres. 
 
CBC will arrange, through a competent contractor, to either remove or make good those areas 
categorised as Medium or High risk.  
 
Any ACM requiring sealing or encapsulation will be recorded, re-categorised and will be managed 
by Property & Estates, along with existing areas identified as being very low or low risk.  The 
Asbestos Register and Management Plan will be updated accordingly. 
 
It is likely that deterioration in any one of a number of contributory factors will result in 
unacceptable deterioration.  It is therefore necessary for the asbestos to be removed on a 
programmed basis within a specified timescale. 
 

It is recommended that the maximum period for programming removal should be two years and 
that interim emergency repair and sealing operations should be undertaken where any 
deterioration or damage occurs.  
 

The following gives details of the likely implications for each category of risk:  
 
 
 

Page 70



 

7 
 

Category A – High Risk 
It is likely that individuals are currently being exposed to some level of asbestos fibre 
contamination.  Situations falling within this category warrant urgent consideration. 
 

Exposure will vary according to local conditions – for example, the intensity of use of a heating 
system or the nature of airflow and movement around a damaged ceiling.  It may be possible 
to clarify the exposure level by use of atmospheric fibre counts. In many circumstances, 
immediate plans for removal of the asbestos concerned should be implemented, or at least 
the rapid sealing of the affected area. 
 

Category B – Medium Risk 
It is likely that deterioration in any one of a number of contributory factors will result in 
unacceptable deterioration.  It is therefore necessary for the asbestos to be removed on a 
programmed basis within a specified timescale. 
 

Category C – Low Risk 
Situations within this category do not pose an imminent risk and likelihood of fibre release is 
low under existing conditions.  It would be most appropriate within this category to monitor 
the situation, as deterioration will occur with the passage of time.  It is recommended that 
situations within this category should be inspected on a six-monthly basis to ascertain any 
change in circumstances which could require reassessment of priority rating into Category B. 
 
Category D – Very Low Risk 
Situations within this category are low priority.  The situation should be monitored on the 
basis of a one-year inspection cycle to ascertain any change in category 
  

5.2 CONTROL MEASURES AND MANAGEMENT OF RISK   

To control the risks from Asbestos Containing Materials (ACMs) to employees, building users, 
contractors and others, the following measures have been adopted.                                                                                                                                                                      
 

 Asbestos Surveys are carried out by fully qualified persons. 
 

 An Asbestos Register, which consists of survey Information from all premises, will be 
maintained and held by Property & Estates. This Register will be updated by Property & 
Estates in the course of its property management function. 
 

 Property & Estates will provide an asbestos management plan for all CBC non- domestic 
properties.  A copy of the plan will be held at each property.  
 

 Dictated by the level of risk ACMs shall be re-assessed through arrangements put in 
place by the Facilities Management (FM) Officer.  This process shall be documented and 
monitored. 

 
 An Asbestos Register shall be held and maintained in every CBC establishment where 

ACMs are known to be present.  The information shall be available to staff, provided to 
consultants, maintenance staff, contractors and any other persons planning or 
undertaking work on the premises that may disturb ACM, prior to any work taking place 

Page 71



 

8 
 

either by Property & Estates when orders for works are issued, or by the Site Manager 
whichever is most appropriate. Where existing installations include ACMs that are 
damaged, deteriorating or inadequately sealed and repair is not practicable, they shall 
be removed by a specialist contractor and replaced with a material not containing 
asbestos. 

 
 Where existing installations include ACMs that are sound, in good condition and not 

subject to abrasion or deterioration, the material shall be left undisturbed and its 
condition monitored in accordance with the programme of assessments. 
 

 Where building or engineering works are due to be undertaken in premises, the 
appropriate procedures, defined in the Asbestos Protocols (attached to this document), 
shall be followed. 
 

Contractors appointed to undertake remedial work or removal of asbestos containing materials 
shall be competent and have, where appropriate, a License issued by the Health and Safety 
Executive.  Consultants who undertake testing, sampling and monitoring shall be accredited by 
an appropriate body as complying with EN45001.  Details of licenced contractors and other 
information is contained at http://www.hse.gov.uk/asbestos/licensed-contractor.htm  
 
Where following an inspection, removal of asbestos is recommended, it is the responsibility of 
the Property & Estates Manager to seek funding from CBC and to arrange for the ACMs to be 
removed in accordance with the Removal of Asbestos Protocol – Part B. 
 
Where re-inspection is recommended the inspection will take place on a timely basis in order 
to monitor the condition of the asbestos and check for any deterioration (see annual inspection 
template attached as Appendix A).  The recommendations made following the re-inspection 
will be dealt with as above as appropriate. 

 
Where minor maintenance (for example, but not limited to, changing a light fitting, gasket, 
fuse) is to be carried out in an area where there is a risk ACMs might be disturbed, the Officer 
overseeing the work has a responsibility to ensure that a check of the Asbestos Register is 
made, and that work is carried out so as not to expose the person undertaking the work to any 
risk.   A risk assessment (RA) must be carried out by a competent person in the employment of 
the contractor and a copy sent to the FM Officer to be retained by Property & Estates. 
 
For minor maintenance tasks, unless the work can be carried out in accordance with the HSE 
Guide – Asbestos in the work place. Then the work must be undertaken in conjunction with an 
HSE Licensed contractor. 
 
If a permit is required, a copy of the order and risk assessment should be passed to Property & 
Estates for a permit to be issued.  The original order should be sent to the contractor or given 
to the FM officer for the work to be undertaken, with a note requiring a permit to be issued 
before the work commences. 
 
If there is any doubt about the information contained on the order, or understanding of the 
work to be carried out, the work should not be started or continued and should be queried 

Page 72

http://www.hse.gov.uk/asbestos/licensed-contractor.htm


 

9 
 

with the FM Officer who will refer to the Property & Estates Manager for advice as appropriate. 
 
Use of Consultants/Analytical Laboratories/Contractors 
There are a small number of specialist contractors/consultants within the area who can provide 
specialist advice and/or arrange for the removal of ACMs.  When appointing a 
contractor/consultant, the following applies: 
 
(A) Consultants – only consultants who are UKAS accredited will be employed. 
The Following details must be supplied to and approved by Property & Estates;  

(i) Public Liability, Employer’s Liability and PI cover details; 
(ii) Training records and qualifications of staff to be employed on the contract; 
(iii) References from organisations who have used their services; 
(iv) Details of any action taken against them by the Health & Safety Executive; 
(v) Safety rules 

 
(B) Analytical Laboratories – Any laboratory must be accredited by UKAS accredited for air 
sampling fibres and are members of the Regular Inter-Laboratory Counting Exchanges (RICE). 
 
Use of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) and Respiratory Protective Equipment (RPE) 
In certain routine maintenance tasks the wearing of PPE and RPE is required, examples are: 
 

(i) Tasks where a risk assessment has identified the need for PPE and/or RPE – see 
HSE document ‘Asbestos Essentials – Task Manual’; 

(ii) If a visual inspection of an area is required in order to establish if any ACMs are 
concealed (eg ducts). 

 
Guidance as to when and where PPE and/or RPE is to be used will be issued separately in the 
form of generic risk assessments.  See HSE guidance;  
http://www.hse.gov.uk/asbestos/detail.htm  

 
5.3 COMPETENCY AND TRAINING 
Training will be provided for those staff involved in the operation of the Asbestos Management 
Plan to ensure an understanding of how asbestos is managed in the workplace.  Training will be 
given in two levels; 
 
All staff are to be provided with general awareness training to satisfy Regulation 10 of the 
CAR12 and ACOP L143, to include: 
 (i) the properties of asbestos and its effects on health, including the increased 
  risk of developing lung cancer for asbestos workers who smoke; 
 (ii)  the types, uses and likely occurrence of asbestos and asbestos materials in 
  buildings and plant; 

(iii)  The general procedures to deal with an emergency, eg. an uncontrolled 
 release of asbestos dust into the workplace; 

 (iv) how to avoid the risk of exposure to asbestos. 
 
Staff who undertake minor maintenance work, such as drilling holes, laying cables, removing 
floor tiles, cleaning or repairing sheet roofing or cladding, will be provided with general 

Page 73

http://www.hse.gov.uk/asbestos/detail.htm


 

10 
 

awareness training (outline above) together with training on non-licensable work and notifiable 
non-licensed work (NNLW) to include: 
 (i) how to make suitable and sufficient risk assessments about exposure; 
 (ii) safe work practices and control measures, an explanation of safe use of  
  control measures, protective equipment and working methods; 
 (iii) appropriate choice and use of protective equipment; 
 (iv) waste handling procedures; 
 (v) emergency procedures; 
 (vi) relevant legal requirements; 

(viii) circumstances when non-licenced work may be notifiable. 

 
5.4 RECORD KEEPING 

An Asbestos Register kept by the Property & Estates Team and will be updated each time work 
is undertaken to either remove or otherwise reduce the risk of asbestos fibres being released 
from any ACM.  A copy of the updated Register will be given to the relevant site manager and to 
contractors who undertake work which breaches the fabric of the building.  
 
Copies of reports, certificates and air tests will be retained by Property & Estates, and the 
Asbestos Register and Management Plan updated accordingly.  
 
It is the responsibility of the FM Officer to update the Asbestos Register as and when any 
changes are made to ACMs in the built assets and ensuring any certificates and supporting 
documentation is filed appropriately for future reference.   
 
The Asbestos Register will be updated every time work is undertaken to either remove or 
otherwise reduce the risk of asbestos fibres being released from an ACM.   
 
The Asbestos Register will be made available for inspection by any HSE authorised inspector or 
Copeland Borough Council authorised officer. 
 
The Asbestos Management Plan will be made available for inspection by any HSE authorised 
inspector or Copeland Borough Council authorised officer and is to be discussed at contract 
pre-start meetings. 

 

Providing Information to those who need it 
All contractors and consultants employed by Copeland Borough Council are required to confirm 
agreement to the conditions of the Permit to Work.  These conditions ensure that Person in 
Charge advises the Contractor of the details of known or presumed asbestos contained in the 
Asbestos Register, and that the register is to be consulted before any work starts.  They also 
explain what to do if asbestos is encountered unexpectedly.  
 
Where an agent is procured to manage a project (the Project Manager), it is the responsibility 
of the Property & Estates Manager and/or FM Officer to ensure that both the Project Manager 
and the Principal Contractor have sight of the Asbestos Register and Asbestos Management 
Plan at the pre-site meeting, and to ensure that any records, certificates and other supporting 
documentation is transferred to the Property & Estates once the works to any ACM is 
completed to allow the Asbestos Register to be updated. The Project Manager will ensure that 

Page 74



 

11 
 

contractors, consultants or staff have all the relevant information and are aware of 
requirements before any work is started. 
 
The Project Manager will organise the preparation of the Health and Safety Plan if 
Construction, Design and Management (CDM) Regulations apply and incorporate these 
procedures and Protocols into the Plan. 
 
The Project Manager is required to notify Property & Estates of any work to remove ACMs prior 
to work starting. 
 

6. Policy Monitoring and Reporting 
The Property & Estates Manager and Corporate Health & Safety Advisor is responsible for 
auditing compliance with this policy.  The policy will be reviewed annually and, when 
appropriate updated, to ensure that the policy remains effective and to ensure the Council 
meets its required statutory obligations.  
 
All employees with related areas of duties will need to ensure that they comply with this policy 
and any specific instruction or their deputy. 
 
Any deviation from this policy could be construed as misconduct, and in certain 
circumstances gross misconduct, which could lead to disciplinary action, including dismissal. 
 
The Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013 (RIDDOR) 
requires accidents and some diseases that arise out of or in connection with work to be 
reported to the HSE.    
 
Exposure to asbestos is reportable under RIDDOR when a work activity causes the accidental 
release or escape of asbestos fibres into the air in a quantity sufficient to cause damage to the 
health of any person. Such situations are likely to arise when work is carried out without 
suitable controls or where those controls fail. 
 
The Safety Representatives and Safety Committees Regulations 1977 and the Health and Safety 
(Consultation with Employees) Regulations 19966 require employers to consult trade union 
safety representatives, other employee representatives, or employees where there are no 
representatives, about health and safety matters.  

 
This includes changes to work that may affect their health and safety at work, arrangements 
for getting competent help, information on the risks and controls, and planning of health and 
safety training.  

 
More information www.hse.gov.uk/toolbox/harmful/asbestos.htm 

 

7. References 
Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 (CAR 2012),  
Approved Code of Practice (ACOP) L143 ‘Managing and Working with Asbestos’ 
Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations (COSHH). 

Page 75

http://www.hse.gov.uk/toolbox/harmful/asbestos.htm


 

12 
 

Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 76



 

13 
 

APPENDIX A 
ANNUAL ASBESTOS 
CONDITION            
INSPECTION TEMPLATE     

Property 
Name: 

 Date of Inspection:       Inspected by:     

Location/Description 
Asbestos 
Type 

Condition 
at Survey 

Condition at 
Inspection  Action Required 

 
Notes   

 
     

 
  

     
   

     
   

 
        

        

        

        

        

        

        

        

        

P
age 77



 

14 
 

 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B 
 
 
 
 
 

ASBESTOS MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date:    22nd  August 2018 Revision: Draft (Rev B)  
 
 
 

Copeland Borough Council 
The Market Hall, Market Place, Whitehaven CA28 7JG 

 
 

Page 78



 

15 
 

 
CONTENTS PAGE 
 
1. Introduction         Page 3 
 
 
2. Asbestos Surveys        Page 3 
 
 
3. Asbestos Reports        Page 3-5 
  Material Assessment Algorithm 
  Action Priority 
 
 
4. Management of Risk        Page 5-6 
  Areas with a Low Risk of fibre release 
  Areas with a Medium Risk of fibre release 
  Areas with a High Risk of fibre release 
 
 
5. Training         Page 6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 79



 

16 
 

1.0 Introduction 
Copeland Borough Council (CBC) has responsibilities under the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 (CAR 
2012), and the Approved Code of Practice (ACOP) L143 ‘Managing and Working with Asbestos’, together 
with associated legislation, which is taken as the adopted standard. To control the risks from Asbestos 
Containing Materials (ACMs) to employees, building users, contractors and others, the following 
measures have been adopted. 
 
2.0  Asbestos Surveys 
Asbestos Surveys are carried out for CBC by specialist consultants.  The complete Council property 
portfolio was re-surveyed in 2015 to update records from previous surveys and identify the presence of 
any remaining asbestos containing materials, their condition and risk of being disturbed in each of the 
buildings.  Standard non-intrusive Type 2 surveys were carried out to locate as far as reasonably 
practicable, the presence and extent of any suspect Asbestos Containing Materials (ACMs) in the buildings 
which could be damaged or disturbed during normal occupancy including foreseeable maintenance and 
installation and to assess condition as described within Health and Safety Executive Guidance Note HSG 
264 ‘The Survey Guide’ and the 2012 Control of Asbestos Regulations.  This information was collated and 
risk assessed to help ensure that any asbestos occurrences can be managed safely.   
 
All safely accessible areas within the premises were surveyed. Areas considered not accessible due to the 
non-intrusive nature of a Management Survey (décor or materials were not damaged to gain access) or 
areas where the surveyor could not safely gain access are listed in each report and assumptions made. 
 
Samples were taken of materials suspected of containing asbestos and specialist laboratory tests carried 
out to confirm if asbestos was present and determine the type of asbestos present.  
 
Inaccessible areas are presumed to contain ACMs. If access is required into the areas during future 
demolition/repair/refurbishment works a more intrusive type 3 inspection for the presence of asbestos 
will need to be carried out prior to the works commencing. 
 
3.0  Asbestos Reports 
Individual reports for each building were prepared with photographs, drawings, risk analysis and plans 
clearly identifying the following 
 

 The location and description of any ACMs 

 Type and amount of asbestos 

 The surface treatment 

 The action priority assessment 

 The condition of the material 

 The likelihood of accidental damage 

 The likelihood of the release of asbestos fibres 
 

The assessment of risk is based on the following material assessment algorithm definitions as outlined in 
the regulations. The risk score is based on the product type, asbestos type, its condition, the surface 
treatment and its accessibility.   Surveys for all CBC owned buildings are held by Property & Estates. 
 
 
 

Page 80



 

17 
 

                                          MATERIAL ASSESSMENT ALGORITHM 
    
The four main parameters for 
determining fibre release are     Each parameter is scored as:      Numerical value 
awarded as follows. 
   
1. Product Type                               HIGH                                                          = 3 
2. Damage                                       MEDIUM                                                      = 2 
3. Surface treatment                        LOW                                                          = 1 
4. Asbestos Type                              NEGLIGIBLE                                                = 0 
 

 

1. PRODUCT TYPE 
 

3 = HIGH                                                2 = MEDIUM                                         1 = LOW 
 
Lagging (pipes & boilers)                     Asbestos Insulating Board                Asbestos cement 
Spray Coats      Mill Board                                           Composites 
Loose Asbestos        Loose textiles, soft gaskets.           Plastics Mastics, Felts  
Mattresses or Packing          or ropes           Floor Tiles, Paints 
                                                                 Soft Papers and Felts                 Decorative Finishes (Artex) 

 

EXTENT OF DAMAGE / DETERIORATION 
 
3 = HIGH                          2 = MEDIUM                         1 = LOW                                    0 = NEGLIGIBLE 
 
Unsealed lagging    Unsealed AIB                      Enclosed lagging                       Reinforced plastics 
Unsealed sprays              Encapsulated lagging        Enclosed sprays         Resins 
                                           Encapsulated spray           AIB with exposed face             Vinyl tiles 
                                                                                         painted or encapsulated 
                                                                                         cement sheets 

 

2. ASBESTOS TYPE 
 

3 = HIGH                              2 = MEDIUM                                                             1 = LOW 
 
Crocidolite                      Amphiboles excluding crocidolite                             Chrysotile 
 

3. ACCESS 
 

 1 = Asbestos material not readily accessible e.g. Roof space, ducting ceilings 
 

2 = Asbestos material more likely to be accessed but not in areas of high usage e.g. Cleaners cupboards, 
Fuel stores 
 
3 = Asbestos material in area of high usage with likelihood of disturbance high e.g. classrooms, offices, 
corridors, toilets 
 

Page 81



 

18 
 

Action Priority 
The result of the material assessment algorithm is multiplied by the access number to attain the action 
priority figure. The Action Priority is a guide for those managing the asbestos materials identified in the 
reports. 
 
     Low  - 14 and Lower 
     Medium  - 15 to 20 
     High  - Above 20 
 

LOW                                                                       MEDIUM                                                HIGH 
Presents a low asbestos risk during        Does not present an immediate   Significant asbestos risk   
normal use of the building, may                    risk but remedial work required   Take immediate action     
require consideration during              i.e. Encapsulation or labelling      i.e. prohibit access to 
refurbishment or repair work.                          To be in management plan                    affected area 
                                                                                and instigated                                          plan removal 

 
The scores are outlined in the survey report sheets for each individual area and have been used to assess 
and prioritise actions required to instigate removal of the high risk asbestos by specialist contractors. The 
low and medium risk asbestos materials, where not removed, are to be managed in accordance with HSG 
264 The Survey Guide, Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012, and Approved Code of Practice L143. 
 
4.0 Management of Risk 
All work, which includes a breach of the fabric of the building, MUST be routed through the Property & 
Estates BEFORE work is commenced on site.  A copy of the Asbestos Register is issued to the Council’s 
term maintenance contractors along with all other contractors prior to undertaking work that may disturb 
ACMs, so that they have a record of all the asbestos identified in the buildings to enable them to 
implement a management plan to ensure operatives have an awareness of the risk areas. 
 
A copy of the relevant asbestos survey report for the premises is held by Property & Estates, however the 
details of any asbestos found in the building you occupy (asbestos register) is attached to this 
Management Plan. Contractors carrying out routine maintenance or any alterations are shown the 
asbestos register, and sign the Permit to Work as proof of being aware of the areas of risk.  All properties 
with ACMs are inspected by a competent person annually who will check the materials are not damaged 
or deteriorating.   All records of inspection are filed electronically with the relevant asbestos reports and 
held by Property & Estates. 
 
Areas with a low risk of fibre release 
The areas of a property with ACMs deemed as a low risk are to remain in situ and are deemed suitable for 
normal everyday use, with negligible risk of fibres being released if left undisturbed. 
 
The areas are to be inspected annually by Property & Estates and the records updated accordingly and 
inspection reports filed electronically with the relevant asbestos reports. 
 
Areas with a medium risk of fibre release. 
These areas will have restricted access and the material encapsulated where possible and labelled to 
ensure awareness of the presence of asbestos. 
 

Page 82



 

19 
 

An annual inspection by Property & Estates will be carried out, and recorded, to ensure the condition of 
the material has not deteriorated and the usage of the area has not changed. 
 
If encapsulation is not feasible and the material is at risk of being damaged, then a planned removal by a 
competent specialist contractor will be instigated, and site managers advised of the programmed 
removal. 
 
Areas with a high risk of fibre release 
High risk areas are to have access restrictions imposed to control entry into the area until such time as the 
materials can be safely removed by a specialist contractor and the area thoroughly decontaminated and 
certified clear of asbestos deposits. The asbestos survey records will be updated when ACMs are removed 
and the Asbestos Register updated accordingly upon completion of the works. 
 
5.0 Training 
Training will be provided for those staff involved in the operation of this Asbestos Management Plan to 
ensure an understanding of how asbestos is managed in the workplace.  All relevant staff are to be 
provided with general awareness training to satisfy Regulation 10 of the CAR 2012 and ACOP L143, to 
include: 
(i) the properties of asbestos and its effects on health, including the increased risk of 
 developing lung cancer for asbestos workers who smoke; 
(ii)  the types, uses and likely occurrence of asbestos and asbestos materials in buildings and 
 plant; 
(iii) The general procedures to deal with an emergency, eg. an uncontrolled release of asbestos 
 dust into the workplace; 
(iv) how to avoid the risk of exposure to asbestos. 
 
Please contact Property & Estates if you are a Responsible Person or occupy a premises where ACMs 
are present, but have not yet received general awareness training. 

 
 

 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



Council 7 September 2021 
  
 
Shopfront Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 
 
EXECUTIVE 
MEMBER:  

Councillor Andy Pratt, Portfolio Holder for Environment, 
Place and Inclusive Communities 

LEAD OFFICER:  Pat Graham, Chief Executive 

REPORT AUTHOR:  Chris Hoban, Strategic Planning Manager 
 

SUMMARY:  
 
The Council consulted on a Draft Shopfront Design Guide Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) between Monday 10th May and Monday 21st June 2021.   
 
Following this consultation a small number of minor changes have been made to 
the Draft SPD, and it is recommended that the amended Shopfront Design Guide 
be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document.   
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That Members adopt the Shopfront Design Guide as a 
Supplementary Planning Document.  
 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Good quality environments can significantly boost the attractiveness of a 

place.  A Shopfront Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
will help ensure attractive and effective shopfronts are provided and 
maintained in order to support the vitality of the borough’s town centres 
and villages.  Attractive shopfronts have the benefits of drawing customers 
into the premises as well as improving the wider public realm and quality of 
the town or village centre. 

 
1.2 Once adopted the Shopfront Design Guide SPD will provide further detail 

and guidance on the implementation of policies and proposals contained in 

Page 85

Agenda Item 10



the Copeland Local Plan and will be a material consideration when 
determining planning applications. 

 
1.3 Many of the shops are traditional in style and within historic buildings 

within the towns and villages, and so this Shopfront SPD will complement 
and add more detail to the Conservation Area Design Guide SPD. 

 
1.4 To this end a draft SPD was approved at Full Council on 27th April and a six 

week public consultation was held between Monday 10th May and Monday 
21 June to gather stakeholder and public views on the draft SPD.  The 
consultation documents were made available on the Council’s website and 
the consultation was promoted on the Council’s website and social media, 
as well as media releases. 

 
 
2. RESPONSES TO THE DRAFT SPD 
 
2.1 Supplementary Planning Documents are non-statutory documents and do 

not have Development Plan status; instead their purpose is to provide 
greater detail to support policies in the Local Plan.  As such, the Council can 
consider the comments received, make necessary changes and adopt the 
document without the need for an independent examination.  

 
2.2 The public consultation generated three responses.  Two of these supported 

the document and suggested minor formatting amendments to enhance the 
document, while the third talked about maintenance and wider public 
realm issues.  A consultation statement which provides full details of the 
consultation and the comments received can be found in Appendix A. 

 
2.3 The document has been updated to take account of these comments and 

the final draft of the Shopfront Design Guide can be found at Appendix B. 
 
 
3. CONCLUSIONS 
 
3.1 The Shopfront Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document will be a 

useful tool in ensuring that traditional shopfronts in the borough’s towns 
and villages are as attractive and effective as possible. 

Page 86



 
3.2 The support and relatively minor changes proposed through the 

consultation will enhance the document that is adopted. 
 
 
4. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  
 
4.1 Legal and Monitoring Officer comments are:  Legal and policy issues are 

addressed in paragraph 2 of the revised Shop Front Design Guide. The 
document is a supplementary planning document and will form part of the 
Council’s development framework and is therefore a matter reserved to 
Council. No other legal issues arise from this matter. 

 
4.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are:  There are no direct resource or 

value for money implications arising from this recommendation. 
 

4.3 EIA Comments:  There are no specific equality impacts arising from the 
Design Guide.  The Local Plan policies that this Design Guide provides 
further guidance on will be subject to an Equalities Impact Assessment in 
order to pass the tests of soundness for producing a Local Plan. 

 
4.4  Policy Framework:   

Ambition 2: Maximise Opportunities for Growth 
  Ambition 3: Protect and Enhance our Environment 
 
4.5 Other Consultee Comments, if any: None 
 
 
5. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
5.1 No additional resources are required to adopt the Supplementary Planning 

Document. 
 
 
6. HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE 

RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED? 
 

Page 87



6.1 The document does not identify proposals specifically, but will be used to 
guide development, improvement and maintenance of shopfronts in the 
borough 

 
 
7. WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS 

REPORT? 
 
7.1 The adopted Shopfront Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 

will be a part of the Council’s development plan and a material 
consideration when determining planning applications.   

 
List of Appendices  
 
Appendix A – Consultation Statement 
Appendix B – Draft Shopfront Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 
 

Page 88



Copeland Shopfront Design Guide SPD 

Consultation Statement: August 2021 

Copeland Borough Council undertook a statutory six week public consultation on the draft of the 

Shopfront Design Guide (SPD) between 10th May and 21st June 2021.   

 

The Draft SPD was made available on the Council’s website, with copies available on request, and 

the consultation was promoted via media releases, a radio interview, the Council’s website and 

social media, as well letters to stakeholders and posters to parish councils.  

A total of three comments were received in response to the consultation and these are shown in the 

table below: 

Respondent Comment Council response 

1 As a recent arrival in Copeland I fully support 
the principles and examples set out in the 
design guide. Shop frontages have a key role to 
play in the economic fortunes of a town. 
Particularly in an area such as Copeland where 
towns such as Whitehaven can benefit from 
tourism and attract spending by local residents. 
Attracting new retail business to an area is 
helped by an attractive townscape. Hope the 
feedback from the consultation is positive. 

Support and comments 
welcomed. 

2 Empty shops and filthy streets will not 
encourage anyone to Whitehaven .Workington 
employ a street cleaner and it’s much nicer to 
see clean weed free streets. Lovely display of 
flowers but the shop fronts have weeds and are 
very dirty. 

Comments noted.  The Council 
agrees that good maintenance of 
buildings and the public realm is 
very important in making a place 
attractive to shoppers and 
visitors.  Section 6.6 of the 
document covers maintenance 
matters that can be affected by 
this SPD. 

3 [We welcome] the production of Copeland’s 
Shopfront Design Guide; and particularly the 
involvement of your specialist conservation 
staff in its preparation. We support the 
production of design guidance that helps 
maintain and enhance the character of historic 
buildings and places. 

In terms of the guide’s detail, the document is 
generally clear and well laid out, with strong 
visuals. However, the chapter headings within 
the document - for example ‘6. What to avoid’ - 
are a little lost, so we recommend placing 
greater visual emphasis on these headings, 

Support and comments 
welcomed. 

Page 89



Respondent Comment Council response 

from which the test and images within that 
chapter will then flow. The chapter headings 
would also benefit from being emphasised 
within the guide’s index. 

 

The following changes were made to the draft in response to this feedback: 

 Changed Heading 1 style from Calibri Light (Headings) 14pt to Calibri 16pt 

 Changed Heading 2 style from Calibri Light (Headings) 13pt to Calibri 13pt 

 Added chapter heading to image at start of Chapter 6 

 Put chapter headings in Contents page in bold text 

 

Following these minor amendments the Council proposes to adopt the Shopfront Design Guide as a 

Supplementary Planning Document. 

 

Page 90



 

 

 

 

 

   

  
COPELAND SHOPFRONT 

DESIGN GUIDE 
 

SEPTEMBER  2021 
 

COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

P
age 91



 

 

 

1. Introduction ......................................................................... 1 

1.1. Purpose of this document ................................................... 1 

1.2. Do I need a new shopfront? ................................................ 1 

1.3. Do I need permission? ......................................................... 1 

2. Policy Context....................................................................... 2 

2.1. National Legislation ............................................................. 2 

2.2. National Policy ..................................................................... 2 

2.3. Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028 Core Strategy and 

Development Management Policies DPD ...................................... 3 

2.4. Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 Preferred Options Draft 

Policies ............................................................................................ 5 

3. Some Key Parts of a Shopfront .............................................. 7 

4. How Shopfronts Have Changed Over Time ............................ 9 

4.1. Georgian Period (approx. 1700-1840) ................................ 9 

4.2. Victorian Period (approx. 1840-1900) ............................... 10 

4.3. Edwardian Period (approx. 1900-First World War) .......... 11 

4.4. Modernist Period (First World War-approx. 1980) ........... 12 

4.5. Contemporary Shopfronts (Since 1980s) .......................... 13 

5. Things to consider............................................................... 14 

5.1. Proportions and detailing .................................................. 14 

5.2. How will it be lit? ............................................................... 15 

5.3. How is the signage designed? ........................................... 15 

5.4. Choice of timber ............................................................... 15 

5.5. Historic colour schemes .................................................... 16 

6. What to Avoid .................................................................... 17 

6.1. Bad Practice Example ........................................................ 18 

6.2. Poor Proportions ............................................................... 19 

6.3. Oversized Fascias .............................................................. 20 

6.4. Garish Colours and Patterns ............................................. 20 

6.5. Clutter and Poor Quality Projecting Signs......................... 21 

6.6. Poor Maintenance ............................................................ 22 

6.7. Unattractive Shutters ........................................................ 23 

6.8. Flatness ............................................................................. 23 

7. Good Practice ..................................................................... 24 

7.1. A Checklist, arranged from simplest to most involved ..... 24 

7.2. Good Practice Example ..................................................... 26 

7.3. Some Good Practice Case Studies .................................... 27 

8. Contact Details ................................................................... 32 

 

 

P
age 92



 

 
1 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 1 Introduction 

  1. Introduction 

1.1. Purpose of this document 

This guide is a supplementary planning document, meaning it is 

a material consideration in the planning decision-making 

process. 

It applies to the part of Copeland that’s outside the Lake District 

National Park. There are many settlements in this area with 

historic shopfronts, and many more with historic buildings that 

have lost their shopfronts. 

This document highlights the importance of these often 

overlooked and poorly adapted elements – maintaining them, 

repairing them, and creating well designed replacements where 

necessary. 

It will be of use to anyone involved in altering or creating a 

shopfront. 

1.2. Do I need a new shopfront? 

Repair is far better than replacement in cases where historic 

shopfronts survive, even when they have been damaged in 

localised areas, lost historic features such as glazing bars, or have 

had detail obscured by layers of paint. Unlike plastic, timber can 

be easily repaired. 

 

 
1.3. Do I need permission? 

Proposals that make a material alteration to the external 

appearance of a building may need planning permission.  

Additionally, if the building is listed, proposals that could affect 

its special historic or architectural interest will need listed 

building consent.  

Straightforward maintenance such as splicing in replacement 

timber or repainting will not need planning permission and is 

unlikely to need listed building consent. 

Advertisement consent is required for some forms of signage.  

Most work to shopfronts won’t require approval under the 

Building Regulations, however, changes that affect the access or 

make structural changes may require approval. 

 

The Council offers advice for free, so please get in touch to ask 

and we’ll be happy to help. 

See Section 8: Contact Details 

 

P
age 93



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 2 Policy Context 

2 

2. Policy Context 

This section will be updated to reflect Copeland’s new Local Plan 

2017-35.  

In this transitional edition of the Design Guide, both the current 

and the emerging Local Plan policies are reproduced together. 

2.1. National Legislation 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990: 

 Section 16(2) establishes a need “in considering whether 

to grant listed building consent for any works [for the 

Local Planning Authority to] have special regard to the 

desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 

features of special architectural or historic interest”.  

 Section 66(1) also extends this to the granting of 

planning permission affecting a listing building or its 

setting 

 Section 72(1) states that “special attention shall be paid 

to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 

character or appearance of [a conservation] area.” 

 

 

2.2. National Policy 

National Planning Policy Framework: 

 Paragraph 192 states that “In determining applications, 

local planning authorities should take account of the 

desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance 

of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses 

consistent with their conservation…” 

 Paragraph 193 states, in the case of designated heritage 

assets [e.g. listed building], “great weight should be given 

to the asset’s conservation.” 

 Paragraph 197 states the effect on the significance of a 

non-designated heritage asset [e.g. a historic but unlisted 

building] should be taken into account when making 

decisions. 

 Paragraph 200 urges that, in new development 

opportunities should be sought to enhance or better 

reveal the significance of conservation areas. 

 Paragraph 201 refers to heritage assets in conservation 

areas, stating that loss of an element that makes a 

positive contribution to the area should be treated as 

either substantial or less-than-substantial harm.  

 

 

P
age 94



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 2 Policy Context 

3 

2.3. Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028 Core Strategy and 

Development Management Policies DPD 

 ST1C(ii) highlights the importance of protecting, enhancing 

and restoring the Borough’s cultural and heritage features 

and their settings.  

 ST1D emphases the council’s commitment to creating and 

retaining quality places. 

 ST3B & C places regeneration sites in south and central 

Whitehaven (the town centre and harbourside, Pow Beck 

Valley, Coastal Fringe and the South Whitehaven Housing 

Market Renewal Area), and town centre renewal areas in 

Cleator Moor, Egremont and Millom, as strategic 

development priorities 

 ENV4A stresses the importance of protecting designated 

heritage assets, including conservation areas and other 

features considered to be of historic, archaeological or 

cultural value. 

 ENV4C aims to strengthen the distinctive character of 

Copeland’s settlements through high quality urban design 

and architecture that respect character and setting. 

 ER7B & C contain development objectives, including to: 

o Support Whitehaven’s role as a tourist and visitor 

destination linked to its unique heritage and 

independent and specialist retailers; 

o Protect and where possible enhance the services 

and facilities provided in the Key Service Centres of 

Cleator Moor, Egremont and Millom. 

 ER8I Development in Whitehaven Town Centre should 

maintain a high standard of design consistent with a 

conservation area of national significance. 

 ER9 Retail and service development which promotes the 

vitality and viability of Key Service Centres, Local Centres 

and other smaller centres, and is consistent with the spatial 

development strategy as defined in Policy ST2 and Figure 

3.2, will be supported.  

 DM6A The Council will protect and promote the vitality and 

viability of the defined town centres by requiring non-retail 

uses in premises with shop frontages to incorporate a 

suitable window display. 

 DM10 emphasises the need for high quality design and 

quality places. 

 DM27A outlines support in principle for developments that 

“protect, conserve and where possible enhance the historic, 

cultural and architectural character of the borough’s historic 

sites and their settings”. 

 DM27C outlines the restriction in principle of development 

within conservation areas to that which preserves or 

enhances the character or appearance of the area. 

 DM27D highlights the necessity of avoiding disrespectful 

alterations, substantial demolition, adverse effects on 

setting or views, or changes of use that harm the 

conservation or economic viability of a listed building. 

 DM29 contains policies on appropriate advertisements 

 

P
age 95



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 2 Policy Context 

4 

 

 

The Conservation Area Design Guide is a supplementary planning 

document adopted in 2017, which is a material consideration in the 

determination of planning applications within conservation areas.  

It offers more general design guidance, not focused solely on 

shopfronts, and should be read in conjunction with this guide. 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 96



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 2 Policy Context 

5 

2.4. Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 Preferred Options 

Draft Policies 

 DS4PO: Strategic Development Priority Projects 

Development that helps establish the Lake District Coast 
brand and enhances the experience economy and our 
natural and built environment is a strategic priority that will 
help transform our Borough, support economic growth and 
diversification and improve social and community 
infrastructure 

 DS5PO: Development Principles 
o Protection, enhancement and restoration of the 

Borough’s valued natural and cultural assets 
o Creation and retention of quality places 

 DS7PO: Design Standards 
The Council will expect all new development to meet high 
quality standards of design 

 E1PO: Economic Growth 
Promoting investment in the public realm of employment 
sites and working with owners to achieve improvement and 
regeneration of appropriate sites  

 R1PO: Vitality and Viability of Town Centres and other 
Identified Villages within the Hierarchy 
The Council will seek to enhance the vitality and viability of 
town centres and other defined villages identified in the 
settlement hierarchy by working with partners and 
applicants 

 R5PO: Whitehaven Town Centre 
Development that supports the role of Whitehaven Town 
Centre as the Principal Town will be encouraged and 
supported where it: 

o Provides improvements to public realm, shop front 
aesthetics, linkages and signage; 

o Improves the aesthetics of shop frontages and/or 
historic attributes; 

 R6PO: Whitehaven Town Centre Primary Shopping Area 
Whitehaven Primary Shopping Area is the focus for retail 
use in Copeland. To support and promote the vitality and 
viability of the centre, proposals for other main town uses 
(i.e. non A1) will be supported within the defined primary 
shopping area where the proposal complements the retail 
function and makes a positive contribution to the vitality, 
viability and diversity of the town centre, in terms of 
maintaining well designed active, continuous  frontages, 
appropriate signage and hours of opening 

 R7aPO: Cleator Moor Town Centre 
Development that provides opportunities to reduce the high 
level of vacancy rates, improve the viability, vitality and 
community spirit of Cleator Moor Town Centre will be 
encouraged and supported where it accords with the 
Development Plan and results in the repair, regeneration 
and refurbishment of derelict  buildings within the centre; 

 R7bPO: Egremont Town Centre 
Development that provides opportunities to reduce the high 
level of vacancy rates, improve the viability, vitality and lack 
of investment in the Town Centre will be encouraged and 
supported where it accords with the Development Plan and: 

o Results in the repair and renovation of derelict 
buildings; 

o Involves the repair and renovation of vacant units in 
the gateways to the town 

P
age 97



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 2 Policy Context 

6 

 R7cPO: Millom Town Centre 
Development that provides opportunities to decrease the 
need to shop on line, reduces the high level of vacancy 
rates,  and improves the viability and vitality in the Town 
Centre will be encouraged and supported where it accords 
with the Development Plan and: 

o Results in the regeneration of historic buildings; 
o Results in the repair and renovation of derelict  

buildings 

 R10PO: Non-retail development in Town Centres 
o Proposals should make a positive contribution to the 

vitality, viability and diversity of the town centres in 
terms of maintaining active continuous well-
designed frontages, appropriate signage  

o The proposal should not give rise, either alone or 
cumulatively, to a detrimental effect on the 
character and amenity of the town centres 

 R11PO: Shopfronts 
Well designed and appropriate shopfronts, whether original 
or reproduction, should be retained wherever practicable 
and restored when opportunity arises. Shopfronts should 
relate in scale, proportion, materials and decorative 
treatment to the façade of the building, conservation area 
and relate well to the upper floors and adjacent buildings 
and/or shopfronts. Proposals relating to shopfronts should 
accord relevant design guidance prepared by the Council 

 R12PO: Hot Food Takeaways 
Hot food takeaways (use class A5) will not be permitted 
where they harm the amenity of neighbouring uses and the 
character and appearance of the environment 

 BE1PO: Heritage Assets 
Heritage assets and their settings will be conserved and 
enhanced by: 

o Ensuring that new development is sympathetic to 
local character and history 

o Promoting heritage-led regeneration initiatives in 
the Borough, particularly within the town centre 

o Supporting proposals that increase the 
enhancement, promotion and interpretation of the 
Borough’s architectural and archaeological resources 

o Strengthening the distinctive character of the 
Borough’s settlements, through the application of 
high quality design and architecture that respects 
this character and enhances the setting of heritage 
assets 

 BE2PO: Designated Heritage Assets 
Development should preserve or enhance heritage assets 
and their setting. Proposals that better reveal the 
significance of heritage assets will be supported in principle 

 BE4PO: Non-designated heritage assets 
Development should preserve or enhance heritage assets 
and their setting. Proposals that better reveal the 
significance of heritage assets will be supported in principle. 
Proposals affecting heritage assets or their setting should 
demonstrate that consideration has been given to the 
significance of any heritage assets affected, including any 
contribution made by their setting. Where the scale of any 
harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset 
outweighs the benefits of the proposal the development 
will be resisted  

P
age 98



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 3 Some Key Parts of a Shopfront 

7 7 

3. Some Key Parts of a Shopfront 

  

P
age 99



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 3 Some Key Parts of a Shopfront 

8 8 

 
1 

Alignment of shopfront with façade – Here, the entrance lines up with façade elements above and the divisions of the shopfront 

respect the proportions and rhythm of the windows and bays above. 

Fascia signage – The fascia is the horizontal band at the top of the shopfront. Signage should be slim, discreet and not overwhelm the 

proportions of the façade. 

Mullion (vertical) and transom (horizontal) – These elements divide up the expanse of a window into smaller areas, allowing for 

smaller panes to make up a bigger area of glass, and introducing directional emphasis. Note how the transom lines up with the lintel 

over the entrance door. The small panes above the transom are called transom lights. 

Engaged column – A curved shaft that is attached to the wall and typically load bearing. Here, the engaged columns are used to 

emphasize the entrance and support the arch above. 

Enrichment of entrance – Details create elaboration at the entrance, introducing hierarchy, a sense of occasion and clarity to the 

front of the building. 

Fanlight – This is positioned over, not in, the door and makes the entrance appear taller while allowing light access. 

Pilaster – Similar to an engaged column but not structural, pilasters are an ornamental remnant of the classicism of many shopfronts, 

and they also provide framing that divides up the façade. 

Console – Consoles and corbels are often confused, but whereas corbels are structural elements that support something above them, 

consoles are decorative only. They often appear on Victorian fronts, curved, scrolled and otherwise decorated. 

Stallriser – The solid element of the wall below the window sill, typically divided up by the bases of pilasters. Earlier shopfronts tend 

to have taller stallrisers as they were more closely related to domestic architecture 

2

 

3

 

4

 

5

 

6

 

8

 
9

 

7

 

P
age 100



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 4 How Shopfronts Have Changed Over Time 

9 

4. How Shopfronts Have Changed Over Time 

The following section is intended to be helpful in the creation of a new shopfront. How old is your building? What style might be appropriate? 

4.1. Georgian Period (approx. 1700-1840) 

Georgian shopfronts are characterised, mostly, by simplicity, with small panes of glass (as manufacturing processes for larger panes had not 

been developed) and taller stallrisers. Shop fronts, generally speaking, draw origins from the temple architecture of classical antiquity. 

 

Figure 1 A Georgian-style shopfront, showing the connection to its classical origins. The labels are elements of a classical façade, showing 
how they are present within this design. The diagram features an earlier bay window on the left and a later bow window on the right 

P
age 101



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 4 How Shopfronts Have Changed Over Time 

10 

4.2. Victorian Period (approx. 1840-1900) 

Victorian shopfronts are usually more elaborate. Arches may feature across the main panes of the shopfront window, and cast ironwork, 

often in the form of colonettes. 

 

Figure 2 A Victorian style shopfront reminiscent of the latter 19th century. (A) An iron colonette serving as a mullion; (B) The pilaster is fluted, 
meaning it has grooves that introduce rhythm and lightness  

P
age 102



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 4 How Shopfronts Have Changed Over Time 

11 

4.3. Edwardian Period (approx. 1900-First World War) 

The Edwardian period was short but has its own distinct character as a result of technological advancements and the First World War. The 

Edwardian period is characterised by full-sized panes of glass, lower stallrisers, but still a richness of materials and proportion that is today 

viewed as characteristically historic. Entrance doors were often centrally mounted and recessed, sometimes with a lamp above and/or 

mosaic design on the step. 

 

Figure 3 An Edwardian style shopfront with retractable blind. You may wish to consider incorporating a blind of this design on your own shop. 

P
age 103



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 4 How Shopfronts Have Changed Over Time 

12 

4.4. Modernist Period (First World War-approx. 1980) 

Following the First World War, modernism became the predominant overarching typology, moving away from the classicism that had 

characterised two centuries of shopfronts by that point. This lasted until about 1980. 

Art deco could be seen as a kind of stepping stone between generally late-19th century styles such as Arts and Crafts and the sweeping, high-

tech modernism that characterised much of the 20th century. It evolved, from its lavish inception in the 1920s, into the more restrained 

industrially influenced Streamline Moderne that was internationally popular in the 1930s and 40s. It evolved again into the more locally-

responsive Brutalist solutions popular in the 1960s and 70s. 

 

Figure 4 An Art deco style building, which might have been built in the 1930s. Interwar cladding (faience, Vitrolite glass, granite etc.) is fragile 
and often difficult to repair/replace, so great care should be taken with it. 

P
age 104



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 4 How Shopfronts Have Changed Over Time 

13 

4.5. Contemporary Shopfronts (Since 1980s) 

Contemporary shopfronts tend to be characterised by large areas of glazing, bold, clear graphics and flat areas of aluminium cladding. 

Ornamentation is not in fashion and hasn’t been for decades, but this is perhaps due for a change as the pared-back, catalogue-specified and 

cost-driven shopfronts that have typified recent years start to appear lifeless. 

The Apple Store model has been very influential since the millennium, with the shopfront designed in a way that is as transparent as possible, 

emphasising the interior of the shop. However, many imitators have failed to attain the carefully contrived level of design needed to pull this 

off, resulting in a shopfront that lacks presence without the compensation of a truly frameless effect or an interior worth showing off. 

 

Figure 5 A shopfront of the 1980-2020 period. There is little in the way of philosophy or craft underpinning this design. It is simple and highly 
transparent, but is not committed to any particular ideas about what a shop is or how it should function. Note the unattractive external 
rollerblind shutter. A better security solution may be possible, e.g. an internal shutter.

P
age 105



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 5 Things to consider 

14 14 

  5. Things to consider 

5.1. Proportions and detailing 

Symmetricity – Where does the door go? 

 

 

 

Figure 6 (L) A shopfront with the door on the right hand side and 
three windows, splitting the area into quarters. (R) A wider 
symmetrical shopfront where the door is central 

Lining up elements with the rest of the façade to create a unified 

whole.  

 

Figure 7 Alignment with the facade elements above 

Should the windows be subdivided by transoms, mullions, 

glazing bars?  

Figure 8 Four different styles of window: (1) A plain picture 
window; (2) A single mullion; (3) Mullion and transoms; (4) 
Mullion, transoms and glazing bars 

Should the door be recessed? If so, is there a step? If so, is the 

step decorated e.g. by a mosaic? 

 

Figure 9 (Top) A flush door; (Bottom) A recessed door 

P
age 106



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 5 Things to consider 

15 15 

  5.2. How will it be lit? 

 

Figure 10 Lighting should be discreet. Here, uplighting is hidden 
above a fascia sign's architrave 

5.3. How is the signage designed? 

 

 

Figure 11 (Top) The most attractive option is often hand-lettered 
signwriting painted straight onto the fascia; (Bottom) However, 
a modest and proportionate fascia sign is generally fine too 

5.4. Choice of timber 

Modified timbers have excellent rot resistance and dimensional 

stability, meaning a shopfront so constructed will not decay, 

warp or split for years if well maintained. These are typically 

softwoods that have been modified by heat or acetylation. 

Embodied energy and woodland management should be 

considered when specifying. Many treated woods require large 

amounts of energy to treat and are also shipped large distances.  

The “Grown in Britain” certification provides an impetus to 

reduce transport waste and encouraging management of British 

broad-leafed woodland.  

Heat treated timber is often difficult to work, so would probably 

be unsuitable for ornate ornamental work such as a console 

bracket. Sustainably sourced hardwoods such as sapele or iroko 

are also viable options.  

Only certain plywoods are suitable for external use. Orientated 

strand board (OSB) is unlikely to be suitable for building a 

shopfront. 

See the Timber Research and Development Association for 

comprehensive info: www.trada.co.uk  

Poor lighting can be a major factor in causing 

light pollution and amenity issues, and affect 

the character of the place. 

It is also possible that objects projecting over 

the highway will need a license from Cumbria 

County Council, so this should be considered. 

P
age 107

http://www.trada.co.uk/


 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 5 Things to consider 

16 16 

5.5. Historic colour schemes 

There is flexibility with colours, but these samples show a few 

shades that would have been used historically. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Art Deco 

Doors/woodwork 

Gloss black 

 

Metalwork 

Stainless steel, brass 

 

 

Cladding 

This became a major departure – black granite, 

marble, travertine, faience (glazed terracotta 

tiles) and structural glass (e.g. Vitrolite) 

Edwardian 

Sash windows and render 

Off-white, cream or pale stone shades 

 

Doors/woodwork 

A range of greens, blues and creams was 

popular.  

Sometimes etched glazing 

 

 

Exterior metalwork 

Brass became popular 

 

Victorian 

Sash windows and render 

Off-white, cream or pale stone shades 

 

 

Doors/woodwork 

Brunswick greens, bronze greens, dark 

reds/maroons, purple-browns 

 

 

 

Railings 

Blue-grey (early 19th century) or bronze-

green (later 19th century) 

 

Georgian 

Sash windows and render 

Off-white, cream or pale stone shades 

 

Doors/woodwork 

Dark saturated brown, murky green 

Furniture is black, not polished brass 

 

Railings 

Blue-grey 

 

P
age 108



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 6 What to Avoid 

17 17 

6. What to Avoid 

P
age 109



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 6 What to Avoid 

18 18 

6.1. Bad Practice Example 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

A 

B 

C 

D 

E 

F 

Poor quality lighting that clutters the façade and causes light 

pollution. Is lighting really necessary? If so, how can it be 

concealed? 

Signage is intrusive, badly designed and dominates the shopfronts. 

Signage should generally not reach as high as the first floor window 

sills. 

The shopfronts have no relationship to the facades above, lacking 

any rhythm or cohesion. They appear chaotic and cobbled-

together. 

Posters, alarm boxes, cables, brackets etc. can create clutter that 

detracts from a frontage. Care must be taken to site additions 

discreetly, remove redundant accretions. Posters in windows 

should be avoided where possible, and attractively designed where 

needed. 

Colour schemes that are lurid and discordant. They dominate the 

street and project an unsophisticated image. 

 

Security shutters should preferably be of attractive design and 

located internally. External steel roller shutters present an 

unwelcoming appearance when closed and are often unattractive 

when open, if not integrated well. 

The following sub-sections show pitfalls 

to look out for in real life 

P
age 110



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 6 What to Avoid 

19 19 

6.2. Poor Proportions 

A shopfront is a part of the frontage of a building, and each 

building frontage is a part of the entire street. 

It is therefore important to understand the rhythm and form of 

the frontages on the street, and how the building sits within it. 

 

Figure 12 This shopfront has lost its original corner door, 
undermining the architectural effect.  

Additionally, the fascia is unsympathetically designed and the 
arrangement of openings underneath is both unbalanced in its 
own right and dissociated from the forms of the building and the 
street. 

 

Figure 13 The distinctive arrangement of buildings in a 
streetscape will tell you something of how a shopfront should fit 
in. 

 

Figure 14 These shopfronts are not accordant with rules of 
proportion. The lack of pilasters causes vertical emphasis, and 
definition of bays and plot widths, to be lost. 

P
age 111



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 6 What to Avoid 

20 20 

6.3. Oversized Fascias 

The fascia is the horizontal strip at the top of the shopfront. It 

corresponds to the frieze in the entablature of a classical temple 

façade (See page 9).  

It should not be too large or overbearing. It should generally stop 

short of the first floor window sills, and not dominate the 

proportions of the shopfront. 

 

Figure 15 This fascia is oversized. It occupies almost half the 
vertical height of the shopfront.  

In most cases, the fascia should not reach as high as the first floor 
window sills. 

 

6.4. Garish Colours and Patterns 

Bright colours should be used carefully. Care should be taken 

that the numbers of different colours is fairly minimal and that 

they are chosen to complement. 

 

Figure 16 This fascia design combines various bright colours.  

Although bright colours can have a warming and cheerful effect 
used sparingly, they can easily become overwhelming and 
detract from the rest of the façade.  

P
age 112



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 6 What to Avoid 

21 21 

 

Figure 17 This design would benefit from a simpler and more 
toned-down colour palette. When text is added, the effect is 
rather busy. This shopfront is also composed only of its signage: 
framing and organising elements would help its readability. 

 

Figure 18 As a general rule, the brighter the colour the more 
cautiously it needs deploying; tangerine and lime green are 
particularly volatile in combination. 

6.5. Clutter and Poor Quality Projecting Signs 

Shopfronts can become overwhelmed by small additional 

elements like standalone signs, railings, cables, lights, alarm 

boxes etc. 

Care must be taken to incorporate these as neatly as possible, 

and dispense with those that are not needed. 

 

Figure 19 This building has accumulated a number of accretions 
over the years that prevent it looking as good as it might: signage 
without a consistent appearance including projecting signs, 
lighting, cables, a litter bin, alarm boxes, and external shutter 
boxes. 

In cases like this it may be possible to remove elements that are 
no longer necessary or integrate them more discreetly.  

P
age 113



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 6 What to Avoid 

22 22 

6.6. Poor Maintenance 

Water damage is a major issue. 

Rainwater goods that are not properly cleaned and maintained 

can overtop and run water down the entire front of a building. 

Defective lead flashing across the top of a shopfront will allow 

water to penetrate down the back. 

Most softwoods compound this problem as they are not durable.  

 

Figure 20 A shopfront where the right pilaster has been rotted 
away by a missing rainwater pipe that has run water over it 
without being fixed.  

The shopfront was brand new only eight years before this photo 
was taken. Longevity and maintenance need factoring in. 

 

Figure 21 Algae and dirt caused by rain splashing on the base of 
the render. This is an easy fix with cleaning and repainting, if the 
render is sound. 

 

Figure 22 This shopfront’s difficulties are compounded by the 
dilapidation of the building it’s attached to. 

P
age 114



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 6 What to Avoid 

23 23 

6.7. Unattractive Shutters 

Security is important, but not all security measures are equally 

impactful. 

 

Figure 23 Heavy-handed external shutter. This projects a poor 
appearance when closed and necessitates the fitment of bulky 
housings for when it’s rolled up. 

Installing laminated or toughened glass may be justifiable in 

critical locations. Where shutters can be justified, an open mesh 

design on the inside of the glass should be used. 

Mullions, transoms and glazing bars are their own form of 

security – smaller panes are harder to access through and 

cheaper to replace should they become broken. 

6.8. Flatness 

This is one of the most common problems affecting new 

shopfronts: there should be relief, elements that stand out. If 

not, the shopfront appears flat, almost “painted on”. 

Consider how your design looks in section, or from the side. 

Which elements stand forward? Which take a framing role? 

Which are more recessed? 

 

Figure 24 Here, the gablet (small gabled element) is deep enough 
to have its own lead capping, with the downpipe neatly 
integrated behind, between stone blocks that subtly resemble the 
curved console brackets underneath the gablet.  

Note the depth of the cornice, the projecting moulding at the top, 
with small blocks – called dentils – underneath it. 

Recall the parts of an entablature shown on page 9. 

P
age 115



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 7 Good Practice 

24 24 

7. Good Practice  

7.1. A Checklist, arranged from simplest to most involved 

1. Keep the shopfront clean. Gentle cleaning is a good opportunity to notice where damage is beginning to occur without accidentally 

making it worse. 

2. Ensure your building’s gutters are clear and there are no plants growing out. 

3. Repair an existing historic shopfront if possible, rather than replacing it. 

4. Review the signage and consider whether its size, colour and style could be made more attractive. 

5. Review the colour scheme of the whole shopfront. External timber generally needs repainting every few years, so this can be a good 

moment. 

6. Consider whether clutter can be tidied up. Can redundant cables be removed, and others secured more neatly? Are there additional signs 

that are no longer really necessary? Are the shutters providing the right balance of security and welcomeness? 

7. If creating a new shopfront: 

a. Bear in mind that it’s part of the entire façade, and the façade is a component of the streetscape; 

b. Don’t limit your imagination. Good design can take a variety of forms. A shopfront does not have to take a traditional style, 

however this may be the most appropriate choice for a traditional shop on a traditional street; 

c. Use timber that is durable and will last many years; 

d. Consider how to add to local character and your street’s sense of place; 

e. Make sure the shopfront appears designed for the building. It should articulate separate bays of the frontage, suit its proportions, 

and have a clear entrance. Make sure signs, lighting, shutters etc. are discreet and well integrated. Colour schemes should be 

harmonious across shopfronts and the façades to which they belong; 

P
age 116



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 7 Good Practice 

25 25 

f. Ensure signage is attractive and fits well with the shopfront and surroundings. House styles/branding should be adapted as 

necessary; 

g. Understand what you are aiming for in advance. Do not achieve something half-hearted or watered-down for lack of a detailed 

plan; 

h. Remember, a shopfront is a framing device. It is intended to make the building more beautiful and inviting to visitors. It adds 

definition to the front of the building, provides rhythm and colour to the street scene, and displays the contents, style and 

character of your shop. A well designed and maintained shopfront is one of the best adverts to passers-by; 

i. Shopfronts are cumulative: groups of attractive shopfronts create an attractive street where people will want to be. By contrast, 

poor, dilapidated shopfronts harm the business of everyone in the area, and can, when widespread, lead to people losing faith in 

their town or village. 

P
age 117



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 7 Good Practice 

26 26 

7.2. Good Practice Example   

  

D 

C 

B 

A 

Shopfronts should respect the rhythm of 

the building, and not span multiple bays 

in unbroken expanses. 

 

 

Signage is carefully designed, discreet 

and complementary to the 

surroundings. 

 

 

Quantity of posters, stickers, images, 

banners and adverts in windows should 

be minimised. 

 

 

Colour schemes are chosen to be 

attractive and harmonious, not merely 

bright 

 

P
age 118



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 7 Good Practice 

27 27 

7.3. Some Good Practice Case Studies

 

Figure 25 An example on Wellington Street in Millom  

A simple, attractive colour scheme and discreet signage make 

the most of this original Victorian shopfront.  

This is interesting in making use of sliding sash windows, allowing 

a view in but also conveying a cosy appearance.  

The effect has been complemented by some neat etched-style 

signwriting and a selection of decorations – pastel-hued bunting 

and pot plants – to show off the purpose and character of the 

shop.  

The frontage itself is in a good state of repair, clutter is kept to a 

minimum, and the entrances are clear and inviting. 

 

Figure 26 A larger shop just opposite on Wellington Street,  

This impressive Victorian shopfront is also largely complete, and 

complements the grander status of this building.  

This shopfront would benefit from redecorating and a different 

arrangement of glazing bars, but would nonetheless provide an 

excellent window onto the interior if occupied.  

This clearly demonstrates the role of a shopfront both as a 

framing device for the shop contents – a kind of display case – 

and an architectural feature of the building façade. 

 

 

P
age 119



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 7 Good Practice 

28 28 

 

Figure 27 This shop on Lapstone Road in Millom is unusual in 
being fronted by a pair of canted bay windows.  

Here, the facia and cornice visually tie the bays and the entrance 

between them together, and the symmetry matches the 

symmetry of the façade.  

The shopfront is clearly a designed part of the overall building, 

and the colour scheme and mouldings unite the composition.  

The windows are not obscured by images or adverts, but are 

simply signwritten and used to display produce. 

 

 

 

Figure 28 An impressive example on South Street in Egremont  

Large, broad and richly ornamented pilasters with triangular 

gablets, fluting and swags (the pendant decoration) to mark out 

the three bays of the façade. Note that even though the 

shopfront is tall, it still stops well short of the first floor window 

sills.  

This example also makes clear the effect poor quality 

refenestration and choice of colour can have. The black scheme 

is likely not a reflection of the original, but the brilliant white 

section inserted on the right obscures rather than reveals the 

qualities here.  

The colour schemes outlined on page 16 would be a good 

starting point for redecoration ideas. 

 

P
age 120



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 7 Good Practice 

29 29 

 

Figure 29 A more modest example that is nonetheless positive 

This shopfront is not executed perfectly, and the building it’s 

attached to is of no great elegance, but this image demonstrates 

what can be achieved fairly simply by focusing on signage, colour 

and general neatness.  

It’s simple, understated, and makes the most of this property. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 30 An attractive Victorian building in Cleator Moor  

This makes use of large display windows with arched tracery and 

simple signage to show off its collection of wares.  

The symmetry of the shopfront matches the façade above and 

looks designed for it, rather than an afterthought.  

The location of the entrance is clear. Note the gate providing 

security – an attractive alternative to a shutter. 

One small change that could improve this example is switching 

from brilliant white to a colour that suits the red sandstone 

better. 

 

P
age 121



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 7 Good Practice 

30 30 

 

Figure 31 Surviving Victorian elements on King Street in 
Whitehaven  

This may initially not seem very special as the fascia is completely 

blank, but on closer inspection you will notice the wonderful 

Composite-style pilasters at either side, with their curled volutes 

at the top, leafy foliation, vertical fluting strakes and inlaid 

panels.  

Also very fine are the iron colonettes between the panes of glass. 

They feature pierced spandrels at the top, which flare out to 

create the impression of graceful arches. A great deal of 

attention has been put into creating something beautiful here. 

Brilliant white paint has been avoided, and the pilasters retain an 

authentic Victorian colour scheme, and there is no clutter of 

signage and graphics; just a display of produce and a pair of 

hanging flower baskets. 

 

Figure 32 The shopfront as it appeared in the early 20th century: 
T. Glessal’s outfitters. 

 

 

P
age 122



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 7 Good Practice 

31 31 

 

Figure 33 This building on Tangier Street, Whitehaven, dates from 
the turn of the 19th/20th centuries. It retains almost all of its 
original detailing, including this excellent shop front. 

Although a dark colour scheme has been used it is not black and 

does not obscure and flatten the detailing; the signage in the 

windows is fairly minimal. The sign above the door is small and 

fitted to the fascia; corporate colours have been avoided for the 

background and limited to the logo only. The sign on the side is 

minimal: just a logo on a background that matches the shop front 

colour. 

The shop front is subtly curved to follow the curve of the 

building, and pilasters are used to frame the two sections. 

 

 

 

 

If tempted to dismiss shopfront design as “traditional”, 

meaning outmoded, fusty or backward-looking, it’s all too 

easy to also dismiss the attention to detail and pride that 

went into them. 

Rediscovering this dedication to design – whether in 

classical, modernist or more contemporary forms – is one of 

the keys to regenerating our high streets. 

 

P
age 123



 

 

Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 8 Contact Details 

32 

8. Contact Details 

 

Guidance prepared by: 

Dr Sammy Woodford 

Conservation and Design Officer 

Copeland Borough Council 

 

Contact: 

Copeland Borough Council 

01946 598 300 

info@copeland.gov.uk 

 

Visit our front desk, or write to Development 

Management using the post box located at: 

Market Hall 

Market Place 

Whitehaven 

CA28 7JG 

 

P
age 124

mailto:info@copeland.gov.uk


Council 7 September 2021 
 
Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038: Pre-Publication Focussed Consultation 
 
EXECUTIVE 
MEMBER:  

Councillor Andy Pratt, Portfolio Holder for Environment, 
Place and Inclusive Communities 

LEAD OFFICER:  Pat Graham, Chief Executive 

REPORT AUTHOR:  Chris Hoban, Strategic Planning Manager 
 

SUMMARY:   
 
The Council is in the process of producing a new Local Plan for the area of the 
borough outside the Lake District National Park.   
 
A public consultation on a Preferred Options draft of the Local Plan took place in 
late 2020.  Following a review of the responses to the Copeland Local Plan 
Preferred Options consultation, as well as updates to the evidence base that 
informs the Local Plan, officers have identified a number of changes to be made to 
the final draft of the Local Plan. 
 
Most of these changes are straight forward and relatively minor, however some of 
the potential changes are of greater significance.  The purpose of this report is to 
present the significant potential changes to the Copeland Local Plan Preferred 
Options document, and to recommend holding a focussed 4 week public 
consultation to gather views on these significant potential changes.  The changes 
that are proposed for this focussed consultation can be found in Appendix A. 
 
The 4 week consultation will enable the Council to understand wider stakeholder 
and community views before finalising the final draft of the Copeland Local Plan. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That Members approve a 4 week focussed consultation on 
the significant potential changes to the Copeland Local Plan Preferred Options 
document.  This consultation will run from Wednesday 15th September until Friday 
15th October 2021. 
 

 
 

Page 125

Agenda Item 11



1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Council consulted on the Preferred Options for the Copeland Local Plan 

between 20th September and 30th November 2020.  Since that time officers 
have been reviewing the comments received and updating the evidence 
base that will support and inform the final draft of the Local Plan; the 
Publication Draft. 

 
1.2 This work has identified a number of potential changes to the Preferred 

Options draft that would make the final draft of the Local Plan, the 
Publication Draft, more sustainable, robust and deliverable. 

 
1.3 The majority of these potential changes are relatively straight forward 

updates, additions or changes to wording within policies or supporting text, 
and as such can easily be incorporated in the Publication Draft. 

 
1.4 However, there are a number of potential changes that are more significant 

and may need further consideration and public engagement before making 
a final decision on whether to incorporate them into the Publication Draft 
of the Local Plan.   

 
1.5 It is therefore proposed to undertake a short, four week, focussed 

consultation on the significant potential changes between Wednesday 15th 
September and Friday 15th October.  This will enable the Council to gather 
public and stakeholder feedback on them before completing the Publication 
Draft of the Local Plan at the end of the year. 

 
1.6 It is good practice to consult on significant changes, and doing so now 

should reduce objections to the Publication Draft, help ensure a sound plan 
and help the Public Examination of the Local Plan run more smoothly.   

 
 
2.0 THE CONTENT OF THE FOCUSSED 4 WEEK CONSULTATION 

2.1 As stated in paragraph 1.3 the majority of the changes to the Preferred 
Options document comprise factual updates and minor wording changes to 
policies and supporting text as suggested by respondents during the 
Preferred Options consultation.  As such they will be relatively straight 

Page 126



forward to incorporate into the final draft of the Local Plan without any 
further work.  However, some are either introducing something new, or 
removing policies or sites and therefore require further engagement before 
being incorporated into the final draft of the Local Plan. 

 
2.2 As the Local Plan is a large document it is proposed to draw out the 

significant potential changes into a short consultation document and hold a 
focussed consultation that just considers those significant potential 
changes.  That way it will be easier for people to see the significant changes 
and provide comments on them.  

 
2.2 Examples of potential changes to the policies and sites within the Preferred 

Options that are considered to be significant include: 

 Changes to the development strategy and settlement hierarchy 

 New policies 

 Deletion of a Preferred Options policy  

 Significant changes to a Preferred Options policy (e.g. those that may 
put additional requirements onto a developer) 

 New site allocations 

 Removal of Preferred Options allocations  

 Revisions to settlement boundaries 

 
2.3 The main issues arising from the Preferred Options consultation and the 

emerging evidence have been discussed with Members through a number 
of briefing sessions held earlier in the summer. 

 
2.4 During these sessions, discussion also took place regarding how the main 

issues could be addressed through potential changes to the draft Local Plan. 
Members comments raised at the time have been taken into account when 
formulating new and amended policies for consideration through this 
consultation. 

 
2.5 The draft consultation document outlining all the significant proposed 

changes can be found in Appendix A.  Should Council agree to the 
consultation this document will then form the basis of the consultation 
document. 

 

Page 127



2.6 Following the consultation, comments received will be reviewed and 
necessary changes will be made to the draft Local Plan to form the 
Publication Draft. The Publication Draft will then be subject to a full 6 week 
consultation in January 2022. 

 
 
3. CONCLUSIONS 
 
3.1 The Preferred Options consultation, and updates to the Local Plan evidence 

base have identified a large number of changes to be made to the Local 
Plan.  While most of these are relatively minor and can easily be 
incorporated into the Local Plan some are more significant. 

 
3.2 It is good practice to carry out a short consultation with the public and other 

stakeholders in order to fully understand the implications of these potential 
significant changes before deciding whether to incorporate them all into the 
Publication Draft of the Local Plan. 

 
3.3 As a result it is recommended that the Strategic Planning Team hold a 4 

week focussed consultation on the significant potential changes that might 
feature in the Publication Draft of the Local Plan in order to gather views 
before it is produced. 

 
3.4  This will ensure that the Council’s final, Publication Draft of the Copeland 

Local Plan is as robust as possible before its final consultation and 
submission to the Secretary of State for Examination in 2022. 

 
 
4. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  
 
4.1 Monitoring Officer and legal comments are:  No legal issues arise from this 

report 
 
4.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are:  There are no resource of value for 

money implications arising from this recommendation. 
 

4.3 EIA Comments:  There are no specific equality impacts that require testing 
in advance of this focussed consultation.  Any proposals that are taken 

Page 128



forward into the final draft of the Local Plan will be subject to an Equalities 
Impact Assessment, along with other assessments regarding sustainability 
and other impacts in order to pass the tests of soundness for producing a 
Local Plan. 

 
4.4  Policy Framework:   

Ambition 1: Ensure Communities can Thrive 
Ambition 2: Maximise Opportunities for Growth 

  Ambition 3: Protect and Enhance our Environment 
 
4.5 Other Consultee Comments, if any: None 
 
 
5. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
5.1 None.  The resources required for the production of the Local Plan is set out 

in the Council’s Local Development Scheme (LDS), which was approved by 
Full Council in September 2020.  This additional, short consultation will not 
require any additional resources. 

 
6. HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE 

RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED? 
 
6.1 A timetable for the production of the new Local Plan is set out in the Local 

Development Scheme (LDS) 2020.  Risks to the production of the Local Plan 
are also identified in the LDS along with an indication of how such risks will 
be managed. 

 
 
7. WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS 

REPORT? 
 
7.1 Agreement to commence 4 week public, focussed consultation on the 

significant changes proposed to the draft Local Plan in September/October 
2021.  The feedback from this will then inform the Council’s final draft of 
the Copeland Local Plan: The Publication Draft. 

 
List of Appendices  

Page 129



 
Appendix A – Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038: Pre-Publication Focussed 
Consultation 
 

Page 130



  

   

 

 
 

Copeland Local Plan 

2021- 2038  

Focused Pre- Publication 
Draft Changes Consultation 
September 2021 

 

Page 131



 
1 

Focussed Pre-Publication Draft Changes consultation document for public 

comment  

This consultation document is available for comment until 15th October 2021. To view and 

download an electronic copy of this Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038: Focussed Pre-

Publication Draft Changes Document please visit the Copeland Borough Council website: 

www.copeland.gov.uk. The document can also be viewed at the Copeland Borough Council 

offices in Whitehaven and Millom as the buildings opening hours and procedures allow.  

Please make any comments on the accompanying questionnaire and return to:  

Strategic Planning  

Copeland Borough Council  

Market Hall  

Market Place  

Whitehaven 

Cumbria  

CA28 7JG  

 

Email: localplanconsultation@copeland.gov.uk    

Telephone: 01946 598300  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 132

mailto:localplanconsultation@copeland.gov.uk


 
2 

Contents 

 Introduction .................................................................................................................... 3 

 Changes to the Development Strategy Chapter ............................................................. 5 

 Changes to the Development Standards Chapter ........................................................ 11 

 Changes to Copeland’s Economy Chapter................................................................... 13 

 Changes to the Climate Change and Clean Energy chapter ........................................ 17 

 Changes to the Retail Chapter ..................................................................................... 20 

 Changes to the Tourism Chapter ................................................................................. 24 

 Changes to Copeland’s Communities Chapter ............................................................. 25 

 Changes to the Health, Sport and Community Facilities Chapter ................................. 31 

 Changes to the Copeland’s Places Chapter ............................................................. 33 

 Changes to the Copeland’s Connectivity Chapter ..................................................... 36 

 Appendices .............................................................................................................. 38 

 Appendix A: Sites to be added to Settlement Boundaries ..................................... 38 

 Appendix B: Sites to be removed from Settlement Boundaries ............................. 40 

 Appendix C: Changes to Employment Allocations................................................. 44 

 Appendix D: Additional Housing Allocations .......................................................... 45 

 Appendix E: Deleted/ altered Housing Allocations ................................................ 47 

 

  

Page 133



 
3 

 Introduction  

 Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038 

1.1.1 Copeland Borough Council are in the process of developing a new Local Plan, covering 
the period of 2021-2038. This will become part of the Borough’s Development Plan, 
replacing the current Copeland Local Plan 2013- 2028 Core Strategy and 
Development Management Policies, (the Core Strategy), which was adopted in 
December 2013, and Saved Policies. 

1.1.2 The Local Plan has already undergone several stages. The most recent draft of the 
Local Plan, the Preferred Options Draft, was consulted on between September and 
November 2020. A full copy of the Preferred Options Draft can be seen on the CBC 
website1.  

1.1.3 The timetable for taking the Local Plan forward towards adoption can be viewed below. 

 

 Focused Pre-Publication Draft Changes Consultation  

1.2.1 During the production of the Publication Draft of the Local Plan, a number of significant 

proposed policy changes have been identified. These have come from a combination 

of comments received through the Preferred Options Draft Consultation, and through 

the findings of key evidence base documents.  

1.2.2 It is important that key Stakeholders and members of the public have enough 

opportunity to view and comment on these proposed changes to ensure that significant 

public engagement has been carried out, and that the draft plan is as robust as 

possible. For more information on how we engage the public in the planning process, 

please see our Statement of Community Involvement2.  

1.2.3 As a result of this, a four week consultation is being carried out. The purpose of this 4 

week, focussed public consultation is to seek views on the more significant changes 

proposed to the draft Local Plan.  

1.2.4 This consultation document contains all of the significant changes that are being 

proposed within the emerging Local Plan at present. These are changes which have 

                                                           
1 Local Plan Preferred Options | Copeland Borough Council 
2 Statement of Community Involvement | Copeland Borough Council 

Page 134

https://www.copeland.gov.uk/content/local-plan-preferred-options
https://www.copeland.gov.uk/content/statement-community-involvement


 
4 

been made since the Preferred Options Consultation, which was carried out between 

September and November 2020.  Significant changes can include: 

 Changes to the development strategy and settlement hierarchy 

 New policies 

 Deletion of a Preferred Options policy  

 Significant changes to a Preferred Options policy (e.g. those that may put 
additional requirements onto a developer) 

 New site allocations 

 Removal of Preferred Options allocations  

 Revisions to settlement boundaries 

 

1.2.5 A number of other changes to the plan are proposed in light of comments received to 

the Preferred Options draft. These are primarily more minor changes to the wording of 

policies and supporting text. These changes have not been included in this 

consultation document, and CBC will not be accepting comments unrelated to the 

content of this report.  

1.2.6 The Council will consider all responses received to this focussed consultation, and the 

draft Local Plan will be updated accordingly. The full amended version will form the 

Publication Draft that will be produced under Regulation 19 of the Town and Country 

Planning (Local Planning) Regulations 2012. This will be subject to a full 6 week 

consultation in early 2022. 

 

 How to use this document  

1.3.1 This document sets out all of the significant changes from the Preferred Options being 

proposed within the Local Plan. Policies are set out according to their chapter within 

the Local Plan Preferred Options document, and each one has an explanation of our 

proposed changes and the justification for this. The changes have been shown as 

follows:  

 Key 

Text with a strikethrough This shows text that we are proposing to delete from the 
Local Plan Preferred Options draft 
 

Red Text This shows text that we are proposing to add to the Local 
Plan. 

 

1.3.2 The policy numbering system shown in this report is an interim system. This is because 

of the addition of new policies, which fit between existing ones shown at the Preferred 

Options Consultation. The Publication Draft will contain a full list of policies and their 

superseded references to make the document easier to understand.  

1.3.3 We welcome feedback on the proposed significant changes set out in this document. 

Please refer to page 1 for information on how to get involved in the consultation 

process.  

 

  

Page 135



 
5 

 Changes to the Development Strategy Chapter  

 Strategic Development Priority Projects 

Proposed Change 

We propose to delete policy DS4PO below from the draft Local Plan and move the supporting 

text from the Development Strategy chapter and into the Spatial Portrait chapter.  

Justification 

This policy sets out the Strategic Development Priority projects section of the Local Plan. 

However it is worded as a statement rather than a policy and has the potential to date relatively 

quickly as key developments are delivered.  

The list of Strategic Development Priority Projects and their details is currently included in the 

Development Strategy chapter. It is considered that the policy should be removed and the list 

and descriptions should be moved into the Spatial Portrait chapter that describes the 

challenges and opportunities facing the borough. This ensures that the information is at the 

forefront of the plan, and clarifies our strategic development priorities.   

 
Policy DS4PO: Strategic Development Priority Projects 
 
The following developments are strategic priority projects that will help transform our 
Borough, support economic growth and diversification and improve social and community 
infrastructure. 
 

 Development that supports the Energy Coast brand, provides opportunities for training 
and education and helps establish the Borough as a Place for Innovation and Centre 
for Nuclear Excellence and Clean Energy in particular: 

o The development of Westlakes Science Park as strategic hub for science and 
engineering expertise and research and development industries 

o The creation of an Enterprise Campus and Innovation Hub 
o The development of the North Shore Innovation Zone in Whitehaven 
o The development of a Clean Energy Park 
o The development of a new strategic employment site on the Eastern Fringes of 

Whitehaven 
 

 Development that helps establish the Lake District Coast brand and enhances the 
experience economy and our natural and built environment, in particular: 

o The improvement of linkages between Whitehaven town centre and the 
Harbourside 

o The Establishment of “Experience Whitehaven” including the creation of new 
arcades and hubs in Whitehaven Town Centre 

o The establishment of a Sports and Leisure Quarter in East Whitehaven 
o The improvement of the sports and leisure offer in Millom 
o Development that enhances our offer to users of national cycle routes, 

promotes our location on Cumbria’s Hidden Coast and helps achieve our 
ambition to develop a coastal cycling route  

 

 Development that improves the Borough’s residential offer in order to meet needs and 
aspirations, in particular 

o The development of large, key regeneration sites  
o Town Centre renewal schemes in Cleator Moor, Egremont, Millom and 

Whitehaven 

Page 136



 
6 

 

 Infrastructure development which improves physical and digital connectivity within 
Copeland and between the Borough and surrounding districts, in particular: 

o The development of a new growth corridor to the East of Whitehaven 
o Improvements to the rail line and local stations 
o Improved Connectivity between Whitehaven Station and the Town Centre 
o The development of a Digital Grid in Whitehaven town centre and 

improvements to digital connectivity within Cleator Moor, Egremont and Millom 
 
 

 

 Settlement Hierarchy 

Proposed Change 

Changes to the Settlement Hierarchy are shown in revised Policy DS2PO in light of the latest 

village services survey. Extra text will also be added to the policy to clarify that there are a 

number of villages within Copeland that fall outside the remit of the Local Plan. 

Justification 

Copeland Borough Council carry out an annual Village Services Survey, which looks at the 

key services contained within each settlement in the borough and highlights where there have 

been changes. The latest survey was carried out in July 2021 and indicates that a number of 

settlements have more or less services than when the previous Settlement Hierarchy was 

produced for the Preferred Options Draft of the Local Plan. This means that they now fall within 

a different tier of the hierarchy.  

The revised hierarchy shows that Bigrigg and Calderbridge have both moved down a tier and 

Lowca has moved up a tier. Two settlements, Nethertown and The Hill no longer have 

sufficient services to maintain a position in the Other Rural Villages tier of the hierarchy and 

will therefore be classed as being within the open countryside.  

The Development Strategy Paper, available on the CBC website, explains the methodology 

behind the hierarchy, and the criteria that must be met for a settlement to be placed in a 

specific tier.  

 
 
Policy DS3PU DS2PO: Settlement Hierarchy 
 
The Council will support development within the settlements specifically listed below. 
Development must be proportionate in terms of nature and scale to the role and function 
of the settlement, unless it has been specifically identified within the Plan to meet the 
strategic growth needs of the Borough. 
 
The amount of development (housing, retail and leisure, employment) apportioned to each 
tier of the hierarchy is identified within the relevant chapter. Delivery will be closely 
monitored against these figures. 
 
 

Hierarchy of 
Settlement 

Definition Settlements 

Principal Town The largest settlement in terms of population by 
a considerable margin with the broadest range 
of day-to-day services including the West 

Whitehaven 

Page 137



 
7 

Cumberland Hospital, a number of secondary 
schools and an extensive choice of convenience 
and comparison goods stores and employment 
opportunities. Well connected to neighbouring 
Boroughs by public transport. 
 

Key Service 
Centres 

The Borough’s towns are self-sufficient 
providing a wide range of services, including 
convenience and comparison stores, 
employment opportunities, schools and 
healthcare. They also act as service hubs for 
nearby villages. 

Cleator Moor 

Egremont 

Millom 

Local Service 
Centres 
 
 

These centres have a supporting role to the 
Borough’s towns containing a broad range of 
services. Settlements operate independently to 
meet day to day needs or as a well-connected 
cluster, linked to a neighbouring town or village 
of a similar scale by a frequent public transport 
service and/or safe pedestrian routes a mile or 
less in length. 
 
Villages that scored over 15 points in the Village 
Services Survey July 2021 

Arlecdon & Rowrah 

Bigrigg 

Cleator 

Distington & 
Common End 

Drigg & Holmrook 

Frizington 

Haverigg 

Seascale 

St Bees 

Thornhill 

Sustainable 
Rural Villages 
 
 

Settlements which offer a limited number of 
services but which could support a limited 
amount of growth to maintain sustainable 
communities. 
 
Villages that scored between 10 and 14 points in 
the Village Services Survey July 2021 

Beckermet 

Bigrigg 

Calderbridge 

Ennerdale Bridge 

Moresby Parks 

Moor Row 

Lowca 

Parton 

Other Rural 
Villages 
 

Smaller settlements which offer one or two key 
services but which are physically separated from 
settlements within a higher tier. Public transport 
and pedestrian links are poor therefore reliance 
is likely to be on the private vehicle. Limited 
development would enable future housing needs 
to be met and support existing local services. 
 
Villages that scored between 5 and 9 points in 
the Village Services Survey July 2021 

Calderbridge 

Hallthwaites 

Keekle 

Kirkland 

Kirksanton 

Lowca 

Summergrove 

The Green 

Page 138



 
8 

The Hill3 

Nethertown 

Open 
Countryside  

Remaining parts of the Copeland Local Plan 
Area Borough including smaller settlements or 
areas of sparse development not listed above.  

 

Rural Service 
Centres in 
Copeland 
under the 
jurisdiction of 
LDNPA 

Settlements within Copeland but outside the 
jurisdiction of the Copeland Local Plan. Please 
see the Lake District National Park Local Plan 
for further information regarding these  

Bootle 
Remaining part of 
Ennerdale Bridge 
Gosforth 
 

 

 Settlement Boundaries 

Proposed Change 

Amend the proposed settlement boundaries as shown in Appendix A and B and described in 

the tables below. This includes the addition of three sites and the removal of seven sites. 

Recent evidence has shown that we would be unlikely to support windfall development on the 

removed sites.  

Justification  

This is to account for additional information received since the Local Plan Preferred Options 

Draft, including site information from statutory consultees and Cumbria County Council’s 

Highways and Lead Local Flood Authority departments.  

Individual justification for the proposed addition or removal of sites has been provided in the 

tables below. Please see the Copeland Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 

(SHLAA) for more information on individual sites.  

Please note, any additional developments granted planning permission prior to the Publication 

Draft of the local Plan will also be brought into the Settlement Boundary, where applicable. 

Please also see changes to policy H5PO to see proposed changes to draft housing 

allocations.  

Table 1: Sites Brought into Settlement Boundary  

Please see appendix A for maps showing these sites. 

Site name   Settlement  Reasoning  Map 
number  

Land south of 
Derwentwater 
Close 

Millom Site was missing in error from the settlement 
boundary shown in the Preferred Options Draft.  

1 

Crook Field Millom This site was previously considered as 
undevelopable due to flood risk issues, but has 
recently been promoted by the landowner. The 
latest evidence from the Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment (SFRA) shows that flooding issues 
at the site have now been overcome, meaning 
the site could come forward as windfall 

2 

                                                           
3 The Hill and Nethertown have been removed from the Settlement Hierarchy due to their low settlement 
service score, and are now within the Open Countryside. Please see the Development Strategy and Hierarchy 
paper for more information 

Page 139



 
9 

development if it was included within the 
settlement boundary.  

Land south of 
Fairladies 

St Bees Site has been proposed as a draft allocation 
(HSB3) and therefore will be included within the 
settlement boundary. See changes to H5PO for 
more information. 

3 

 

Table 2: Sites removed from Settlement Boundary  

Please see Appendix B for maps showing these sites. 

Site name   Settlement  Reasoning  Map 
number  

Land south 
Baybarrow 
Road  

Egremont Objection received from Cumbria County 
Council (CCC) Highways Department due to 
unsatisfactory access. Development would also 
be considered as backland.  

4 

Land north 
Back Bay View 

Millom Access is considered to be unsatisfactory. 
There is also uncertainty surrounding the 
availability of the site, landscape impacts and 
the issue of backland development.  

5 

Land to rear 
Hound Inn  

Arlecdon/ 
Rowrah 

Landscape and visual impacts  6 

Land north 
Wray Head 

Drigg/ 
Holmrook 

Impacts on the character of the village, 
unacceptable encroachment into the 
countryside and uncertainty surrounding the 
availability of the site.  

7 

Land north 
west Holme 
Forge  

Beckermet Objection received from Cumbria County 
Council (CCC) Highways Department due to 
unsatisfactory access. Development would also 
be considered as backland and would result in 
visual and landscape impacts.  

8 

Land at Moor 
Row 

Moor Row Potential issues with access into the site. There 
is also an issue with the scale of the site 
compared with its position within the settlement 
hierarchy.  

9 

Land behind 
Vicarage Lane 
Ennerdale 
Bridge 

Ennerdale 
Bridge  

Ecological constraints. 10 

 

 Strategic Development Principles 

Proposed Change 

Delete Policy DS5PO from the draft Local Plan and incorporate criteria into other policies.  

Justification 

This action has been proposed to avoid repetition within the Local Plan. The criteria listed in 

the policy are or will all be included within other specific policies in the Local Plan. For example, 

the Climate Change criteria will be included within revised policy CC1PO and criteria 

addressing the natural and built environment and design will be incorporated into the design 

policy in the Development Standards chapter.  

Page 140



 
10 

A new health policy will be added to the Local Plan within the Communities chapter to replace 

the health section in policy DS5PO. This policy is therefore no longer needed. This change 

will help to keep the Local Plan concise, ensuring that all information relating to each section 

within DS5PO is kept together for greater clarity. 

 

  

Policy DS5PO: Development Principles  

In order to achieve sustainable development in the Borough and meet Local Plan objectives, 
development must, where possible: 

Mitigation of and adaption to climate change 

 Minimise carbon emissions, maximise energy efficiency and help us to mitigate and 

adapt to the effects of climate change  

 Be located on sites where there is no risk of flooding and where the development does 
not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere  

 Protect, enhance and create new areas of green infrastructure, recognising the important 
role that the natural environment and healthy ecosystems have to play in the future 
social and economic, as well as environmental sustainability of Copeland   

 Make the most efficient use of land  by building at appropriate densities and reusing 
existing buildings and previously developed land  

 Minimise waste, maximise opportunities for recycling and use sustainable construction 
methods, taking into account circular economy principles4   

 Be located on sites which minimise the need to travel, with good, safe pedestrian links to 
services and facilities  

 
Protection, enhancement and restoration of the Borough’s valued natural and cultural 
assets 

Protect and enhance areas, sites, species and features of biodiversity or geodiversity value, 
important landscapes and the undeveloped coast including valued landscapes which form a 
setting to the Lake District National Park and areas of Heritage Coast. 

 Conserve and enhance the Borough’s cultural and heritage assets and their settings  

 Provide and enhance recreational opportunities for the Borough’s residents and its 
visitors, protecting existing provision where possible and ensuring that future 
development meets appropriate standards in terms of quantity and quality  

 Protect the Borough’s best and most versatile agricultural land from development 

 Support the reclamation and redevelopment or restoration of the Borough’s vacant or 
derelict sites, whilst taking account of landscape, biodiversity and historic environment 
objectives  

 Minimise air, ground and water pollution, ensuring that development does not have a 
negative impact upon water quality (including waterbodies and bathing waters)  

 
Creation and retention of quality places 

 Be of high quality in terms of design so that it retains and enhances locally distinctive 
places and raises aspirations  

 Provide or safeguard good levels of residential amenity and security, reducing the fear of 
crime and minimising the opportunities for crime and anti-social behaviour  

                                                           
4 This involves keeping resources in use for as long as possible, extracting the maximum value from them whilst in use, 
then recovering and regenerating products and materials at the end of each service life (wrap.org.uk). For example through 
the reuse of building materials on site. 

Page 141



 
11 

 Be supported by the relevant infrastructure, ensuring it can accommodate traffic and 
access arrangements in ways that make it safe and convenient for pedestrians and 
cyclists to move around  

 Address land contamination with appropriate remediation measures  
 
Healthy Communities  

 Adopt dementia-friendly design principles5  

 Provide opportunities for food growing  

 Contribute to the creation of mixed communities, helping to reduce social isolation and 

create community resilience 

 Retain and enhance valuable community facilities (including healthcare, cultural and 

education facilities)  

 Include community energy generation to provide low carbon heat and/or power and 

address energy poverty 

 Enhance local pedestrian links to promote physical activity 

 

 

 Changes to the Development Standards Chapter 

 Soils and Contamination 

Proposed Change 

We propose adding additional text to Policy DS11PO as shown below. 

Justification 

The additional wording proposed was put forward by a statutory body during the consultation 

on the Preferred Options Draft. This improves compliance with the NPPF and helps provide 

further clarity regarding what we require from developers in terms of remediating contaminated 

land. 

 

Policy DS10PU DS11PO: Soils and Contamination 

The Council will proactively work with developers and other partners to identify opportunities 

to remediate contaminated sites. 

Sustainable construction measures should be used to conserve good quality soils, protect 

soils from contamination and avoid soil compaction around root protection areas.  

Development should not result in the loss of best and most versatile agricultural land. 

In accordance with the NPPF, development sites likely to have caused detriment to land 
quality will need to be risk assessed. Some sites will be more sensitive due to the location of 
sensitive environmental and human health receptors e.g. flood risk areas, surface waters, 
vulnerable aquifers, housing, schools, hospitals, children’s play areas. 

                                                           
5 The Council will produce a Supplementary Planning Document relating to design which to support this Policy. This will 

provide further guidance for developers on issues such as how to incorporate dementia-friendly principles into their 

developments. 

 

Page 142



 
12 

 
It is the developer’s responsibility to secure safe development and provide the necessary 
information at the time of the planning application. The minimum information that should be 
provided by an applicant is the report of a Preliminary Investigation (desk study, site 
reconnaissance and preliminary risk assessment). The findings of this will determine if 
further investigation is needed. 

 

Where contamination issues are identified, development proposals should incorporate 

appropriate remediation and subsequent management measures to remove unacceptable 

risks. Full implementation of remediation measures would be secured via planning 

conditions and these measures are likely to be required prior to the first occupation of the 

proposed development. 

 

 Air Quality 

Proposed Change 

Add the new policy below to the Local Plan’s Development Standards chapter. 

Justification 

The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) has recommended that a policy relating to air quality is 

added to the plan to help maintain good air quality in the borough. Natural England have 

suggested that the policy contains reference to reducing ammonia emissions. The 

Government’s Code of Good Agricultural Practice shows that around 88% of ammonia 

emissions in the UK come from agriculture and the policy will help the government meet its 

target of reducing such emissions by 16% in 2030, compared to 2005 levels. 

 

Policy DS11PU: Protecting Air Quality 

The Council will continue to monitor air quality in the borough and will introduce Air Quality 

Management Areas as necessary.  

Development proposals will only be granted planning permission where they will not give rise 

to unacceptable levels of air pollution. 

Applications for new or extended farming developments involving new animal housing or 

livestock manure storage must include details of measures to reduce ammonia emissions.  

 

  

Page 143



 
13 

 Changes to Copeland’s Economy Chapter  

 Employment allocations 

Proposed Change 

Amend Policy E4PO as shown below to remove the proposed hierarchy of sites and also 

add existing employment sites at Red Lonning, Energy Coast Business Park at Haile, and 

Haverigg Industrial Estate.: 

Justification 

The evidence from the Economic Development Needs Assessment (EDNA) has identified a 

level of need that can currently be met from the existing sites.   

The accompanying Employment Land Availability Study (ELAS) suggested that there was no 

need for a new strategic site at Hensingham Common at present (although it may be 

required if the major projects at Moorside/the Cumbria Clean Energy Park happen).  As such 

it is proposed to remove Hensingham Common from the hierarchy, although it will be 

retained as a longer term direction for future employment growth in the borough when the 

demand arises. 

In addition to this, Leconfield has been identified as the location for a business cluster to 

maximise the economic potential from the supply chain at Sellafield.  As such, it is proposed 

that this site has its own policy to reflect its importance (see Policy E4PU for further details 

below). 

The remaining sites can then be grouped together in a more simple policy as outlined below. 

 
Policy E5PU E4PO: Employment Sites and Allocations 
 

 
 
Development within the boundaries of the following employment sites and allocations 
will be supported where criteria set out in policies E1PO and E2PO is met.  
Development is restricted to B1 E(g), B2 and B8 Use Classes. 
 

Site 
Total Site Size (Approx - 

hectares) 

Whitehaven Commercial Park, Moresby Parks 
12ha 

Sneckyeat Rd, Whitehaven 
4.9ha 

Haig Business Park, Whitehaven 
2.6ha 

Red Lonning, Whitehaven 
1.7ha 

Bridge End, Egremont 
12.5ha 

Furnace Row, Distington 
3.1ha 

Frizington Rd, Frizington 
1.6ha 

Page 144



 
14 

Energy Coast Business Park, Haile 
3.6ha 

Seascale Rural Workshops 
1.4ha 

Devonshire Rd, Millom 
5.9ha 

Mainsgate Rd, Millom 
3.4ha 

Haverigg Industrial Estate, Haverigg 
2.6ha 

 Site  
 

Strategic Employment Site Hensingham Common, 
Whitehaven* 

Leconfield Industrial Estate 

Major Employment Sites Whitehaven Commercial Park, 
Moresby Parks 

Bridge End, Egremont 

Local Employment Sites Sneckyeat Rd, Whitehaven 

Haig Business Park, Whitehaven 

Furnace Row, Distington 

Frizington Rd, Frizington 

Seascale Rural Workshops 

Devonshire Rd, Millom 

Mainsgate Rd, Millom 

 

 Cleator Moor Innovation Quarter 

Proposed Change 

The creation of new policy relating to the development of the Cleator Moor Innovation 

Quarter, which will be centred around the existing Leconfield Industrial Estate and future 

expansion land.  As it is a strategic site for the borough it is proposed that it has its own 

policy in a similar way to Westlakes Science Park. 

Justification 

The Cleator Moor Innovation Quarter (CMIQ) is aimed at leveraging the economic growth 

potential of the Sellafield supply chain, through a cluster approach to growing and 

diversifying the West Cumbria economy.  Included within this is the creation of an Industrial 

Solutions Hub (“ISH”) which will provide bespoke accommodation that will be a focus for 

collaboration, innovation and diversification across the Cumbrian nuclear and engineering 

sectors.  The CMIQ lays the foundations for change, via improvements to connectivity, 

community facilities and creating the Industrial Solutions Hub to support businesses to 

diversify beyond nuclear and to grow exports. 

The CMIQ will provide opportunities for the supply chain in west Cumbria to grow and broaden 

their markets, exporting skills, processes and technologies developed in west Cumbria to the 

rest of the UK and other world markets.   

Page 145



 
15 

The policy and some initial supporting text for the new policy are included below: 

 

There are three areas that can form the CMIQ at Leconfield, which are shown in Figure 1 

below: 

 Area 1 – the existing Leconfield Industrial Estate (14.4ha) 

 Area 2 – land to the east towards Heather Bank and Cleator Moor Medical Centre 

(4ha approx.) 

 Area 3 – expansion land to the north (14ha approx.) 

Figure 1: Cleator Moor Innovation Quarter at Leconfield – Areas for Development 

-  

It is expected that development will be brought forward in accordance with an approved 

masterplan and site-wide outline planning application, which will outline matters such as 

design and sustainability requirements, scale and massing, phasing, and connections 

Page 146



 
16 

through and to through the site to integrate it with the wider community.  This will enable a 

comprehensive and coordinated approach to site development and infrastructure provision, 

and ensure that each phase of development is sustainable.   

 

 
New Policy E4PU: Cleator Moor Innovation Quarter at Leconfield 
 
Leconfield Industrial Estate and Associated Growth Areas will be redeveloped to create 
the Cleator Moor Innovation Quarter as the location to attract new businesses and 
investment, develop new markets and increase collaboration and economic clustering.  
The boundary of the existing allocated site and future Associated Growth Areas are 
outlined in Figure 1. 
 
Existing Leconfield Industrial Estate (Area 1) 
 
The primary uses on the Cleator Moor Innovation Quarter development will be limited to 
Use Class B2, Use Class B8 and Use Class E(g) only.  
 
Community infrastructure, community facilities and secondary uses to support to the 
primary uses on the development will be supported within a single building or small cluster 
of buildings within the development to act as a focal point for the development and local 
community. 
 
Any development will be required to demonstrate how it retains and where possible 
enhances existing connections and linkages through the site and to the wider settlement 
of Cleator Moor. 
 
Associated Growth Areas (Areas 2 and 3) 
 
It is expected that development will initially be focussed on the existing Leconfield 
Industrial Estate.  However, the development of the Associated Growth Areas as an 
extension of the Cleator Moor Innovation Quarter will be supported when one of the 
following can be demonstrated: 
 

 The Existing Leconfield Industrial Estate has been fully redeveloped; or 

 It can be demonstrated that the requirements of the businesses seeking to occupy 
the Cleator Moor Innovation Quarter cannot be met on the Existing Leconfield 
Industrial Estate. 

 
The primary uses on Growth Area 2 will be limited to Use Class E(g) and student 
accommodation linked to the site.  
 
The primary uses on Growth Area 3 will be limited to Use Class B2, Use Class B8 and 
Use Class E(g) only. 
 
Any development will be required to demonstrate how it links to the redevelopment of the 
existing Leconfield Industrial Estate and retains and where possible enhances existing 
connections to the wider settlement of Cleator Moor. 
 

 

  

Page 147



 
17 

 Changes to the Climate Change and Clean Energy 

chapter 

 Climate Change 

Proposed Change 

Delete climate change policy CC1PO and replace it with the revised policy below, which will 

be at the forefront of the Local Plan after the Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 

Development policy. 

Justification 

Addressing climate change is one of the most challenging issues that we currently face. 

Locating the policy at the front of the Plan highlights the Council’s commitment to addressing 

the impacts of climate change and achieving the Cumbria wide target of net zero carbon by 

2037.  

The replacement policy includes a greater number of actions that can be taken to reduce the 

impacts of development on climate change and sets out the reasoning why this is important. 

 
Policy CC1PO: Reducing the impacts of development on climate change 
 
 
To reduce the impact of development on climate change developers are encouraged to: 
 

 Use energy efficient construction methods and locally sourced, recycled 
materials; 

 Incorporate renewable energy production equipment, such as photovoltaics, 
hydrogen energy; 

 Incorporate low carbon or decentralised energy schemes appropriate to the scale 
and location;  

 Maximises the design of building(s), to ensure layout, design and materials are as 
energy efficient as possible, incorporating Passivhaus principles  

 Incorporates measures to reduce the consumption of energy, water and other 
resources post-completion 

 Steering new development away from areas at highest risk of flooding 

 Incorporates space to park cycles and charge electrical vehicles 

 Includes measures that incentivise local, sustainable travel, that also benefits 
health including; provision of walking and cycling routes and good access to 
public transport 

 
 

Policy DS2PU: Reducing the impacts of development on Climate Change 
  
The Council will support development proposals where they make a positive contribution 
towards achieving the Cumbria wide goal of net zero carbon by 2037, where this accords 
with the development plan. This includes, but is not limited to the following:  

 High quality design techniques, including the incorporation of Passivhaus 
principles and maximising the design and layout of buildings to improve energy 
efficiency 

Page 148



 
18 

 Supporting measures to avoid fossil fuel usage for transport, heating and power 
generation and offsetting any carbon intensive energy usage over full lifetime of 
development 

 Promoting active and low carbon travel in line with the transport hierarchy in 
CO5PO and encouraging the increased use of Electric Vehicles  

 Increasing resilience to the effects of climate change through elements such as 
reducing deforestation, providing SUDs and avoiding development in areas with 
high flood risk   

 Making sustainable use of resources, energy and water over the full lifecycle – 
moving higher up the materials/waste hierarchy towards circular economy 
principles. 

 Making the most efficient use of land by building at appropriate densities and 
encouraging the reuse of existing buildings and previously developed land  

 Promoting sustainable land use management, forestry and farming practices and 
encouraging agri-environmental schemes   

 Contribution towards environmental benefits, including but not limited to provision 
and enhancement of local green spaces, contributing to the creation of new 
woodlands, preserving existing woodlands, peatland restoration and preservation, 
provision of green roofs and walls, and native species preservation. 

 Contributing towards Local Nature Recovery Networks.  

 Requiring biodiversity net gain as part of all appropriate developments 
 
Additional aspects of sustainable design and development which contribute towards a 
reduced carbon footprint will also be looked at favourably by the Council. 
 

 

 Nuclear Development at Sellafield 

Proposed Change 

Amend policy CC6PU as shown below. 

Justification 

This change is anticipated to provide greater clarity surrounding the requirements we expect 

from development at Sellafield Ltd. The additional criteria recognises the fact that Sellafield is 

Copeland’s largest employer and that they have a role to play in meeting Cumbria’s carbon 

reduction targets. 

    
Policy CC6PU CC7PO - Nuclear Sector Development at Sellafield 
 
The Council’s approach to dealing with proposals for nuclear development including those 
related to decommissioning, site remediation and radioactive material management in the 
Borough is to work with operators of the facilities at the Sellafield licensed nuclear site and 
Cumbria County Council to ensure that:  
 

(A) All nuclear development proposals align with the Council’s approved “Nuclear 
Position Statements” unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise 

a) All nuclear development (other than monitoring, maintenance and investigatory 
work necessarily done off-site) shall be sited within existing designated Sellafield 
site boundary unless Criterion c) b) applies.   

b) Where any proposed development is outside the designated boundary at Sellafield 
it shall be sited on a designated employment site or on suitable sites within 

Page 149



 
19 

settlement boundaries in accordance with the principles set out in Policies DS2PO 
and DS3PO, or otherwise accompanied by a justifiable exceptional need case6.   

c) With the exception of irradiated fuel and nuclear materials, no radioactive material 
is imported for treatment or storage on the Sellafield licensed site unless the 
proposal represents the best practical environmental option and is an interim 
proposal pending agreement on a national disposal route. 

d) Proposals for any new development are submitted with include long term 
management plans to setting out how operations will be co-ordinated to minimise 
any harmful effects and mitigate or compensate for physical environmental 
impacts.  

e) Proposals include provision for adequate infrastructure to support the new 
development.  

f) Proposals involve and secure the support of the local community and stakeholders 
where relevant. 

g) Proposals include measures to mitigate any adverse effects of the proposed 
development and provide a positive local social impact by enhancing the social, 
environmental and economic wellbeing of the community. 

h) Proposals shall include satisfactory measures for carbon offsetting via off site / 
other agreed compensatory means where it has been demonstrated that they 
cannot be achieved on site. 
 
 

 

  

                                                           
6 A development proposal which is supported by a statement outlining the special `site specific` circumstances that 
demonstrate the need / reason for that development on planning grounds to be on that particular site (as opposed to 
elsewhere)and which justify the proposal in that location as an exception to established planning policies. 

Page 150



 
20 

 Changes to the Retail Chapter 

 Key Service Centres 

Proposed Change 

Merge the three policies into one clearer, more streamlined policy which covers all three Key 

Service Centres.  

Justification 

The existing three policies are quite repetitive, this change will make the wording more clear 

and streamlined. Care has been taken to ensure all criteria have been reflected, and 

settlement specific information will be incorporated into the supporting text. Wording changes 

have also been made in accordance with recommendations from Statutory Consultees.  

Policy R7aPO: Cleator Moor Town Centre 
 Development that provides opportunities to reduce the high level of vacancy rates, 
improve the viability, vitality and community spirit of Cleator Moor, Town Centre will be 
encouraged and supported where it accords with the Development Plan and:  
a) Provides opportunities that encourages residents, visitors and tourists to visit the 
Market Square and town centre;  
b) Diversifies the offer to meet needs of both residents and visitors;  
c) Results in the repair, regeneration and refurbishment of derelict buildings within the 
centre;  
d) Strengthens and diversifies the towns offer;  
e) Improves pedestrian safety, reduces on street parking and provides new appropriate 
parking provision. 
 

 

Policy R7bPO: Egremont Town Centre  
Development that provides opportunities to reduce the high level of vacancy rates, 
improve the viability, vitality and lack of investment in the Town Centre will be encouraged 
and supported where it accords with the Development Plan and:  
a) Provides opportunities for new leisure provision that encourages residents and visitors 
to the town centre;  
b) Builds upon the independent and community offer of the centre and supports additional 
use of the market hall;  
c) Provides improvements to public realm and signage;  
d) Results in the repair and renovation of derelict buildings ; and  
e) Involves the repair and renovation of vacant units in the gateways to the town.  
f) Strengthens and diversifies the towns offer. 
 

 

Policy R7cPO: Millom Town Centre  
Development that provides opportunities to decrease the need to shop on line, reduces 
the high level of vacancy rates, and improves the viability and vitality in the Town Centre 
will be encouraged and supported where it accords with the Development Plan and:  
a) Provides improvements to public realm across the town as well as a focus on Market 
Square; 
 b) Results in the regeneration of historic buildings;  
c) Results in the repair and renovation of derelict buildings;  
d) Builds on the wider retail and leisure offer;  
e) Improves transport and pedestrian links from the train station into the heart of the town 
centre; 

Page 151



 
21 

 f) Results in improved town centre coherence;  
g) Improves car parking provision; 
 h) Strengthens and diversifies the towns offer 
 

 

New Policy R7PU: The Key Service Centres  
 
Development that supports the roles of Cleator Moor, Egremont and Millom as the Key 
Service Centres, strengthens and diversifies their offer and improves vitality and viability 
will be encouraged, particularly where it builds upon the strengths and opportunities 
identified above and helps address the list of challenges. Development will be supported 
where it:   
  

a. Is located within the Town Centre boundaries of the Key Service Centres  
b. Builds upon and addresses the strengths, opportunities and challenges associated 

with each town, as set out in table *** 
c. Provides convenience and comparison shopping, or range of other services, 

including leisure provision to serve the settlement and surrounding communities  
d. Encourages evening and night time uses that contribute to the vibrancy, 

inclusiveness and economic vitality of the centres  
e. Diversifies the range of residential accommodation in the key service centres, 

including the re-use of vacant floors over shops;    
f. Provides improvements to public realm and signage  
g. Provides enhanced connectivity and town centre coherence, including providing 

active travel links to public transport hubs  
h. Provides or enhances car parking provision where appropriate  
i. Promotes the reuse of Brownfield Land  
j. Results in the repair and renovation of derelict and historic buildings, particularly 

those that are sited in prominent positions within the town centre and those that 
form part of a gateway into the town centre. 

 
 

 Local Service Centres, Sustainable Rural Villages and Other Rural Villages 

Proposed Change 

To remove Policy R9PO and R13PO and incorporate them into policy R8PO under a new 

name. Two amendments have also been made to the policy. Firstly, a criteria has been added 

to define what is meant by ‘small scale’ in the context of development in the open countryside. 

Secondly, a criteria has been added to state that ‘appropriate marketing’ of retail and services 

in rural settlements should be over a 12 month period. 

Justification 

There was a level of overlap between policy R8PO, R9PO and R13PO. A single policy relating 

to supporting existing provision as a means of maintaining the viability of smaller, rural centres 

is considered to be a more streamlined approach. This was advised by consultants producing 

the Retail Study to support the Local Plan and should provide clarity over what we expect 

within rural settlements.  

A figure of 150sqm has been included as our threshold for ‘small scale development’ in the 

open countryside. This is designed to provide greater clarity surrounding the development we 

will support in principle in the open countryside. This figure has been suggested by the 

consultants producing the Retail Study Update to support the emerging Local Plan based on 

Page 152



 
22 

their previous experience. The 150sqm figure is considered to be adequate size for a modest 

farm shop or small office development, for example. 

The criteria to market village services over a 12 month period has been included to further 

improve clarity. It also reflects the period of time required for a community asset transfer, which 

could help to prevent the loss of these services in the future.  

 
Policy R13PO: Loss of Village Shops, Post Offices and Public Houses  
 
 
The loss of existing village shops, post offices and public houses through new 
development requiring planning permission will only be permitted where it can be clearly 
demonstrated, to the satisfaction of the Council, that: 
 

a) Its continued use as a village shop, post office or public house is no longer 
feasible, having had regard to appropriate marketing (over an appropriate period of 
time and at a price which reflects its use, condition and local market values), the 
demand for the use of the site or premises, its usability and the identification of a 
potential future occupier; or 

b) There is sufficient provision of such facilities in the area; or 
c) That sufficient alternative provision has been, or will be made elsewhere which is 

equally accessible and of the same quality or better than the facility being lost. 
 

 

 
Policy R8PU R8PO: Local Services Centres, Sustainable Villages and Other Rural 
Villages Retail and service provision in rural areas 
 
Local Service Centres, Sustainable Villages and Other Rural Villages  
Development will be encouraged where it provides small scale retail and service provision 
that will support and strengthen sustainability and local community viability and is 
appropriate in scale to its location in accordance with Policy R2PO. Strong emphasis will 
be placed on the retention of existing provision. and any proposal for loss of retail or 
service use will need to be robustly justified. 
 
Open Countryside  
 
Small scale farm diversification, retail and leisure schemes (150sqm or less) will be 
considered where they meet the requirements of national policy the NPPF and where: 
 

a) The development respects the character of its setting and the countryside  
b) There are sustainable transport links 
c) The development would not lead to unacceptable harm to biodiversity interest  

assets  
d) It can be robustly justified that there is need for an open countryside location. 

 
 
Loss of retail and services in rural settlements  
The loss of existing village shops, post offices and public houses through new 
development requiring planning permission will only be permitted where it can be clearly 
demonstrated, to the satisfaction of the Council, that: 
 

a) Its continued use as a village shop, post office or public house is no longer 
feasible, having had regard to appropriate marketing (over twelve months and at a 

Page 153



 
23 

price which reflects its use, condition and local market values), the demand for the 
use of the site or premises, its usability and the identification of a potential future 
occupier; or 

b) Sufficient alternative provision is, or will be as part of the proposal, made 
elsewhere which is equally accessible and of the same quality or better than the 
facility being lost. 

 

 

  

Page 154



 
24 

 Changes to the Tourism Chapter  

 Tourism 

Proposed Change 

The deletion of policy T1PO below and moving the wording into supporting text 

Justification 

Policy T1PO acts as a statement rather than a policy. The policy is not necessary as tourism 

is covered under a number of other policies within this chapter. The wording will still be 

included as text to support the other tourism policies.  

 

Policy T1PO: Strengthening the Tourism Offer  

 

 
The Borough’s tourism offer will be strengthened and maximised through a sustainable 

and proactive approach to enhance Copeland’s role as a high quality and 
attractive destination for day visitors and longer stay tourists.   The Council will 
work positively and proactively with the Lake District National Park Authority, 
Cumbria Tourism, National Trust, Forestry England and other tourism 
organisations and developers in marketing, coordinating and managing the 
development of the Borough’s offer and to maximise the ‘Lake District Coast’ 
brand. 

 
 
 

 

  

Page 155



 
25 

 Changes to Copeland’s Communities Chapter  

 Distribution of Housing 

Proposed Change 

Amend the housing figures (housing requirement and growth figure) based on the latest SHMA 

and the revised plan period. The SHMA suggests a housing requirement of 149 dwellings per 

year and a growth figure of 200 dwellings per year. Amend the policy to bring it in line with the 

new settlement hierarchy and revise the proportion of dwellings directed to Local Service 

Centres and Sustainable Rural Villages. 

Note that the final column previously showed the additional growth required above the 

baseline housing requirement. This has been amended so that the column now shows the 

total figure which incorporates the baseline requirement. 

Justification 

The amended housing figure reflects the most up-to-date evidence as set out in the Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). The proportion of housing directed to each tier of the 

hierarchy reflects changes made within the hierarchy, namely that the number of Sustainable 

Rural Villages has grown and the number of Local Service Centres has fallen, ‘, and is 

designed to keep the balance of development across the tiers broadly consistent with the 

Preferred Options.  

 

Policy H4PU H4PO: Distribution of Housing 

The distribution of housing in the Borough will be broadly in line with the settlement hierarchy 

set out below. Additional housing will be supported within the Principal Town towns, Key 

Service Centres and Local Service Centres where it accords with the Development Plan. 

The amount of housing identified within the Sustainable Villages and Other Rural Villages, 

required to support economic growth, is limited to the amount shown below. 

 

Hierarchy of 
Settlement 

Settlements Proportion/amount 
of requirement  by 
tier (2520) 2533 

Proportion/amount 
of total inc 
additional growth 
(1080) 3400 

Principal Town Whitehaven 40% 
1008 dwellings 
1014 dwellings 

40% 
432 dwellings 
minimum 
1360 dwellings 
minimum 

Key Service Centres Cleator Moor 30% 
756 dwellings 
760 dwellings 

30% 
324 dwellings 
minimum 
1020 dwellings 
minimum 

Egremont 

Millom 

Local Service Centres 
 
 

Arlecdon & 
Rowrah 

20% 19% 
504 dwellings 
482 dwellings 

20% 19% 
216 dwellings 
minimum 
646 dwellings 
minimum 

Cleator 

Distington & 
Common End 

Page 156



 
26 

Drigg & Holmrook 

Frizington 

Haverigg 

Seascale 

St Bees 

Thornhill 

Bigrigg 

Sustainable Rural 
Villages 
 
 

Beckermet 7% 8% 
177 dwellings 
203 dwellings 
 
 

7% 8% 
76 dwellings 
maximum 
272 dwellings 
maximum 
 

Bigrigg 

Ennerdale Bridge 

Moresby Parks 

Moor Row 

Lowca 

Parton 

Calderbridge 

Other Rural Villages 
 

Calderbridge 3% 
76 dwellings 

3% 
102 dwellings 
maximum 

Hallthwaites 

Keekle 

Kirkland 

Kirksanton 

Summergrove 

The Green 

Lowca 

Nethertown7 

The Hill 

 

  

                                                           
7 The Hill and Nethertown have been removed from the Settlement Hierarchy due to their low settlement 
service score, and are now within the Open Countryside. Please see the Development Strategy and Hierarchy 
paper for more information 

Page 157



 
27 

 Housing Allocations 

Proposed Change 

Change plan period from 2017-2031 to 2021-2038 and delete or amend draft allocations 

where evidence shows the site is no longer deliverable or where full planning permission has 

been granted as shown in the tables below. We have also reordered the table according to 

the new settlement hierarchy positions. Indicative yield for Site HDI2 has been reduced to 

enable incorporation of open space.  

Justification 

These changes have been proposed to ensure the Local Plan covers a 15 year period from 

adoption as required by the NPPF. It also ensures that housing needs can be met by 

identifying a supply of deliverable allocations. The policy has been updated in light of the latest 

settlement hierarchy.  

Justification for removing or adding individual sites can be seen in Tables 3 and 4 respectively. 

Maps showing each of these sites can be seen in Appendices 4 and 5.  

Table 3: Allocations brought into the Local Plan  

Allocation 
Ref  

Settlement  Reasoning  Map 
number  

HDH38 Drigg/ 
Holmrook 

This has been brought in following the deletion of 
allocation HDH1. It is considered more suitable as it 
provides a more even split of allocations between 
the two settlements of Drigg and Holmrook  

13 

HSE3 Seascale This allocation has been brought in following the 
deletion of HSE1 

14 

HSB3 St Bees This allocation has been brought in following the 
deletion of HSB2 

15 

 

 Table 4: Allocations removed/ altered in the Local Plan 

Allocation 
ref  

Settlement  Reasoning  Map 
number  

HWH1 Whitehaven Section marked as Ws008a on the map will be 
deleted from draft housing allocation, with the 
remaining allocation only comprising of Ws013. This 
is because WS008 now has planning permission.  

16 

HAR2 Arlecdon/ 
Rowrah 

The site has been granted planning permission 
since the Preferred options was published 

17 

HDH1 Drigg/ 
Holmrook 

Issues surrounding landscape character and surface 
water 

18 

HFR1 Frizington Access issues and topography of site. It is proposed 
to keep the land within the settlement boundary 
should an acceptable and deliverable scheme be 
developed. 

19 

HSB2 St Bees Objection from CCC Highways Department 
surrounding difficulty accessing site.  

20 

                                                           
8 Please note we are awaiting confirmation of availability of Hill Farm, Holmrook (HDH3). This may result in 
removal of the site if it is not available. 

Page 158



 
28 

Allocation 
ref  

Settlement  Reasoning  Map 
number  

HSE1 Seascale Objection from CCC Flood department. In close 
proximity to waste water treatment works and 
development would be backland.  

21 

HBI1 Bigrigg Draft allocation HBI3 has been proposed for deletion 
as Bigrigg now sits within a lower tier in the 
hierarchy than previously and there is therefore no 
need for the site to be developed. 

22 

 

 
Policy H5PU H5PO: Housing Allocations 
 
The following sites are allocated for housing over the Plan period 2021-2038 2017-2035. 
The yields identified are indicative only and alternative yields will be accepted where 
appropriate in accordance with Policy H7PO. 
 

Settlement Site Ref (SHLAA 
reference is 
shown in 
brackets9) 

Address Indicative 
Yield 
(dwellings – 
based on 
25dph unless 
otherwise 
stated) 

Towns 
 

Whitehaven HWH1 (WE032 & 
WE001) 

Land at West Cumberland Hospital 
and Snekyeat Rd 

127 

HWH2 (WH011a) Red Lonning and Harras Moor* 37010 

HWH3 (WS008a 
& WS013) 

Land at Edgehill Park (former 
Marchon Car Park) 

510 120 

HWH4 
(WW018/WW022) 

Land south and west of St Mary's 
School 

98 

HWH5 (WW014) Former Marchon Site North* 532 

HWH6 (WW019a) Land South of Waters Edge Close 35 

Cleator Moor HCM1 (CM028 & 
CM038) 

Land at Jacktrees Road 127 

HCM2 (CM082a)  Land north of Dent Road 96 

HCM3 (CM008b) Former Ehenside School 40 

HCM4 (CM025a) Land at Mill Hill 81 

Egremont HEG1 (EG014, 
EG036 & EG050) 

Land north of Ashlea Road 108 

HEG2 (EG008, 
EG025 & EG032) 

Land at Gulley Flatts 170 

HEG3 (EG007) Land to south of Daleview Gardens 141 

Millom HMI1 (MI001) Land west of Grammerscroft 107 

HMI2 (MI022 & 
MI026) 

Moor Farm 195 

Local Service Centres 
 

                                                           
9 Please note, only part of the SHLAA site may form part of the allocated site. Please refer to the SHLAA for 
further details. 
10 Based on application discussions 

Page 159



 
29 

Arlecdon & 
Rowrah 

HAR01 (AR009 & 
AR020) 

Land East of Arlecdon Road 37 

HAR02 (AR018) Park Road 9 

Bigrigg HBI1 (BI001) Land north of Springfield Gardens 65 

HBI2 (BI002a) Land west of Jubilee Gardens 19 

HBI3 (BI009a) Springfield Farm 44 

Distington HDI1  
(DI013a) 

Land south of Prospect Works 30 

HDI2 (DI033) Land south west of Rectory Place 64 30 

Drigg & 
Holmrook 

HDH1 (DH004) Land north of Meadowbrook 32 

HDH2 (DH012) Wray Head, Station Road 22 

HDH3 (DH007) Hill Farm, Holmrook 40 

Frizington HFR1 (FR043) Land at Griffin Close 32 

St Bees HSB1 (SB001) Land adjacent Abbots Court 58 

HSB2 (SB005) Land north east Abbey Road 39 

HSB3 (Part 
SB018 Part 
SB028) Fairladies Extension 

30 

Seascale HSE1 (SE030) Land to west of Santon Way 45 

HSE2 (SE024) Fairways Extension 22 

HSE3 (SE006) Town End Farm East 10 

Thornhill HTH1 (TO002a) Land to south of Thornhill 69 

Sustainable Rural Villages 
 

Beckermet HBE1 (BE003 & 
BE023) 

Land north of Crofthouse Farm 46 

HBE2 (BE006) Land adjacent to Mill Fields 27 

Bigrigg HBI1 (BI001) Land north of Springfield Gardens 65 

HBI2 (BI002a, 
BI018 plus small 
section to east) 

Land west of Jubilee Gardens 19 

HBI3 (BI009a) Springfield Farm 44 

Moor Row HMR1 (MO009) Land to north of social club 37 

HMR2 (MO006a) Land to south of Scalegill Road 41 

Thornhill HTH1 (TO002a) Land to south of Thornhill 69 

Lowca HLO1 (LO004) Solway Road 22 

Other Rural Villages 
 

Lowca HLO1 (LO004) Solway Road 22 

Summergrove HSU1 (MO028) Land to South West of Summergrove 8037 

 

  

Page 160



 
30 

 Affordable Housing 

Proposed Change 

Amend policy H8PO to include a new requirement for 25% of affordable home ownership to 

be First Time Homes 

Justification 

As recommended in the draft SHMA, to bring the Policy in line with the latest NPPF (2021). 

Please note that the draft SHMA recommends alternative affordable housing requirements of 

20% and 25% are assessed through the Viability Study. The findings may result in a higher 

proportion of affordable housing being taken forward into the Publication Draft of the Local 

Plan. 

 

 
 
Policy H8PU H8PO: Affordable housing 
 
On sites of 10 units or more (or of 0.5ha or more in size), or on sites of 5 units or more 
within the Whitehaven Rural sub-area11, at least 10% of the homes provided should be 
affordable as defined in the NPPF 2019 2021 (or any document that replaces it) unless: 
 

1) this would exceed the level of affordable housing required in the area as identified 
in the Housing Needs Study; or 

2) The development falls into an exemption category listed in the NPPF 
 
Where the proposal involves the re-use or redevelopment of vacant buildings, a 
proportionate reduction in the affordable home contribution, equivalent to the existing 
gross floorspace of existing buildings, will be supported. 
 
The following tenure split should be applied to affordable housing developments: 
 

 40% discounted market sales housing, starter homes or other affordable home 
ownership routes12  (25% of these must meet the definition of First Homes). 

 60% affordable or social rented.  
 
A financial contribution may be accepted in lieu of on-site affordable housing provision, to 
secure the equivalent provision off site where this is justified and helps create mixed and 
balanced communities. Where the number of empty homes within the settlement is above 
the national average, this contribution may be used to improve the standard of empty 
properties within that settlement and bring them back into use as affordable housing. 
 
A lower proportion of affordable housing or an alternative tenure split will only be accepted 
in exceptional circumstances. In such cases developers must be able to demonstrate, to 
the Council’s satisfaction, why the current site specific circumstances mean that meeting 
the requirements of this policy would render the development unviable. This should be in 
the form of a clear, bespoke viability assessment that will be subject to independent 
assessment by the Council. 
 

 

                                                           
11 As identified in the Housing Needs Study 2020 
12 As defined in the NPPF Glossary 

Page 161



 
31 

 Changes to the Health, Sport and Community Facilities 

Chapter  

 Health and Well-being 

Proposed Change 

Incorporation of a new Health and Wellbeing policy into the Local Plan’s Communities chapter. 

Justification 

The Council recognises the issues surrounding health and wellbeing in the borough, and 

understand the importance of planning in contributing to improving this. Previously, health and 

wellbeing was an overarching theme of the plan, but this policy clearly outlines the Council’s 

commitment to improving health in the borough. A link to the design policy in the Development 

Standards chapter will be made in the supporting text to highlight the importance of high 

quality, inclusive design.  

 

Policy SC1PU: Health and Well-being 
 
The Council will promote and support health and well-being in the borough by: 
 

 Producing a Health Impact Assessment and Equalities Impact Assessment to 
support the Local Plan which identifies the impacts of the policies within it on 
health and inequality; 

 Implementing the policies within the Local Plan to help deliver high quality, safe 
developments and enhance our natural environment, improving air and water 
quality; 

 Implementing the policies within the Local Plan that promote active travel and 
protect or deliver new open spaces, sports, cultural and community facilities or 
seek developer contributions for such facilities; 

 Implementing policies within the Local Plan that support access to open spaces 
and the countryside; 

 Supporting local strategies to improve health, social and cultural well-being; 

 Supporting local communities to create spaces for food growing; 

 Supporting the opening up of educational facilities for community use and securing 
such use through Community Use Agreements where appropriate;  

 Contributing to the creation of mixed communities through new or improved 
developments that are located in areas with access to key services to reduce 
social isolation and create community resilience. 

 
 

 

 Impact of new development on sports facilities 

Proposed Change 

Incorporation of a new policy into the Local Plan’s Communities chapter that ensures new 

development (e.g. housing) does not have a prejudicial impact on existing sporting facilities 

and uses.  

Justification 

Page 162



 
32 

This reflects a suggestion made through the Preferred Options consultation by Sport England. 

It is designed to help ensure new development, particularly housing, does not prejudice 

existing sporting sport facilities, for example through the impacts of ball strike, noise and 

disturbance.  

 
Policy SC4PU: Impact of new development on sporting facilities  
 
New development must not prejudice the use of existing sports facilities within the vicinity 
of the development site. Potential impacts such as ball strike, noise and disturbance, 
impacts upon parking and access must be considered at an early stage when drawing up 
proposals to avoid or minimise complaints from future occupiers of the new development. 
 
Where potential harm is identified, mitigation measures must be agreed with the Council 
and Sport England. This may be in the form of acoustic fencing, landscaped bunds, ball 
strike zones etc and the exact measures will be dependent upon the specific 
development.  
 
Where ball strike zones are required opportunities should be taken to create multi-purpose 
spaces where appropriate which can act as spaces for biodiversity, drainage areas etc. 
 

 

  

Page 163



 
33 

 Changes to the Copeland’s Places Chapter  

 Heritage Coast 

Proposed Change 

Incorporation of a new policy into the Local Plan’s Places chapter that helps to conserve, 

protect and enhance the Heritage Coast. 

Justification 

This modification was suggested by statutory bodies during the consultation on the Preferred 

Options Draft of the Local Plan. It sets out the Council’s commitment to ensure that new 

development does not harm the Heritage Coast or its setting.   

 
Policy N7PU: St Bees Heritage Coast 
 
New development within, or that affects views into or the setting of, the St Bees Heritage 
Coast must preserve, protect and enhance the Heritage Coast and its setting and take 
opportunities to encourage the public to enjoy and understand the area by improving 
public access for all, and interpretation where possible.  
 
Developers should demonstrate that they have taken into consideration the features that 
contribute to the special character of the area and the importance of its conservation. 
 

 

 Protection of Watercourses 

Proposed Change 

Incorporation of a new policy into the Local Plan’s Places chapter that helps to protect 

Copeland’s watercourses.  

Justification 

This modification was suggested by a statutory consultee during the consultation on the Local 

Plan Preferred Options Draft. It sets out the Council’s commitment to help protect or improve 

the quality of the Borough’s surface and groundwater water resources.  

 
Policy N5PU: Protection of watercourses 
 
New development must seek to protect or improve the quality of surface and groundwater 
water resources, including designated coastal Bathing Waters and Shellfish Waters 
downstream. Proposals should follow the hierarchy for wastewater treatment with foul 
drainage connected to mains sewer wherever possible. 
 
The possibility of contamination from former uses on any application site and its effects on 
the water environment and human health needs to be considered and remediated where it 
is present. 
 
Proposals will be required to support the objectives of the Water Framework Directive, 
including the objectives for Protected Areas (such as Bathing Waters and Shellfish 
Waters) as set out in the North West River Basin Management Plan. 

Page 164



 
34 

 
New development should ensure there is sufficient water resource available to meet 
current and future needs, without putting the environment at risk. Wherever possible 
development should include water efficiency and saving measures.  

 

 Community Growing Spaces 

Proposed Change 

Incorporation of a new policy into the Local Plan’s Places chapter that encourages the 

provision of new community growing spaces.  

 Justification 

This policy is designed to support health and well-being in the borough and provides 

opportunities for social improvements and community cohesion. This is related to the Health 

and Wellbeing policy within the Health, Sport and Community Facilities Chapter 

 
Policy N14PU– Community Growing Spaces 
 
The Council will support opportunities for the creation of community-led growing spaces 
(including allotments and urban orchards) on disused sites where such spaces are to be 
managed and maintained by town or parish councils or community groups. Spaces must 
not have a detrimental impact upon the street-scene through inappropriate fencing or 
paraphernalia and adequate levels of parking for users should be available in close 
proximity to the site. 
 

 

 Green Infrastructure 

Proposed Change 

Incorporation of a new policy into the Local Plan’s Places chapter that emphasises the need 

to protect and enhance Green Infrastructure networks.   

Justification 

The Local Plan currently contains policies relating to specific types of Green Infrastructure but 

at present does not contain an overarching policy relating to it. Responses from statutory 

consultees at Preferred Options stage have requested such a policy is included to clarify the 

importance of Green Infrastructure. The following policy will demonstrate the council’s 

commitment to protecting and enhancing GI in the borough. 

 
Policy N9PU– Green Infrastructure 
 
A comprehensive, high quality network of green infrastructure will be identified through a 
Green Infrastructure Strategy for the Copeland Local Plan Area. This network will connect 
our towns and villages to the more rural parts of the borough and the coastline and will be 
formed of a variety of Green Infrastructure types including open countryside, green 
wedges, protected green spaces, local green spaces, rivers, ponds, grass verges, 
woodlands and trees, private gardens, green walls and green roofs. 
 
The amount of Green Infrastructure on the development site should be maximised and 
developers should take opportunities to create new connections, expand networks and 

Page 165



 
35 

enhance existing Green Infrastructure to support the movement of plants and animals. 
Green infrastructure should be multi-functional where possible and should be considered 
at the start of the design process. 
 

 

  

Page 166



 
36 

 Changes to the Copeland’s Connectivity Chapter  

 Sustainable Transport  

Proposed Change 

Include a new section in the Sustainable Transport Policy relating to the protection of disused 

rail infrastructure 

Justification 

This addition to the policy is designed to protect disused rail infrastructure. This ensures that 

development does not prevent future reuse of this infrastructure, and can improve 

opportunities for new active travel routes in the future. This shows our commitment to providing 

high quality and cohesive active travel links within the borough. 

Policy CO4PU CO4PO: Sustainable Travel    
 

 
 
The Council will support developments which encourage the use of sustainable modes of 
transport. In particular, the following will be encouraged:  

a) Proposals that have safe and direct connections to routes that promote active 
travel, such as walking and cycling, and those that provide access to regular public 
transport services.   

b) Proposals that encourage the sustainable movement of freight. 
c) Proposals that make provision for electric vehicles in line with policy CO7PO 

 
d) Proposals for the integration of electric vehicle charging infrastructure into new 

developments. This will have different requirements dependent on the scale of 
development.  

 
The Council will seek opportunities to use disused rail track beds to widen sustainable 
transport choices, encourage active travel within the borough and provide spaces for 
biodiversity.  
 
New development that would prejudice the future use of disused railway lines that are well 
connected either to settlements, other sustainable travel routes or key tourist facilities 
within the open countryside for this purpose will only be considered in exceptional 
circumstances. 
Developments that are likely to generate a large amount of movement will be required to 
be supported by a Transport Assessment and Travel Plan. The criteria for these 
requirements will be outlined in Appendix X.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 167



 
37 

 Electric Vehicles 

Proposed Change 

To include a new section in the Parking Standards Policy which relates to the provision of 

Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure   

Justification 

To set out the expectations we have surrounding the provision of electric vehicle charging 

infrastructure, following comments received through the Preferred Options Draft consultation. 

This reflects the goal of achieving the Cumbria target of net zero carbon by 2037, as well as 

the expectation that all vehicles will be electric in the future. Previously this was included as a 

brief point in the Sustainable transport policy, but it did not set out our expectations clearly 

enough.  

 
Policy CO7PU CO7PO: Parking Standards and Electric Vehicle Charging 
Infrastructure  
 
Proposals for new development will be required to provide adequate parking provision in 
accordance with the Cumbria Development Design Guide or any document that supersedes 
it, where appropriate. Where there is satisfactory evidence that this cannot be provided, 
sufficient on street parking will be required without detriment to the street scene or 
residential amenity. There will also be a requirement for the provision of secure cycle 
parking in all new car parks as well as accessible parking bays and associated development. 
 
Development will be supported where it accords with the Whitehaven Parking Strategy or 
any document that supersedes it. Proposals that provide new or improved Park and Ride 
Facilities for local employment and development sites will be supported where they will 
provide demonstrable benefits and will be situated in appropriate locations.   
 
The following new developments should integrate new Electric Vehicle Charging 
Infrastructure as follows:  
 

 For new residential development (excluding extensions and conversions), one 
charging point must be provided per dwelling with off street parking. Where off 
street parking is not provided, a commuted sum will be required to provide 
charging facilities in the immediate locality.  

 For major non-residential development, at least one charging point must be 
provided per 10 spaces and the infrastructure to enable future installation of 
charging points in every parking bay where possible and viable. Consideration 
should be given to grouping parking bays to optimise provision of charging 
infrastructure. Where off street parking is not provided as part of the proposal (e.g. 
due to a town centre location), the applicant must provide a commuted sum 
towards the alternative provision of Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure.    

 
 

 

 

  

Page 168



 
38 

 Appendices  

 Appendix A: Sites to be added to Settlement Boundaries  

This appendix sets out the sites which we are proposing to bring into the settlement 

boundaries. Please refer to Table 1 for more information on each site and the reasons for the 

decisions.  

Map 1: Land south Derwentwater Close, Millom  

 

Map 2: Crook Field, Millom  

 

 

Page 169



 
39 

Map 3: Land south of Fairladies, St Bees (Allocation HSB3) 

 

  

Page 170



 
40 

 Appendix B: Sites to be removed from Settlement Boundaries  

This Appendix sets out the sites which we are proposing to remove from the settlement 

boundaries. Please refer to Table 2 for more information on each site and the reasons for the 

decisions. 

Map 4: Land south Baybarrow Road, Egremont 

 

Map 5: Land north Back Bay View, Millom 

 

 

Page 171



 
41 

Map 6: Land to rear Hound Inn, Arlecdon and Rowrah 

 

 

Map 7: Land north Wray Head, Drigg and Holmrook 

 

 

 

 

Page 172



 
42 

 

 

Map 8: Land north west Holme Forge, Beckermet 

 

Map 9: Land at Moor Row, Moor Row 

 

 

Page 173



 
43 

Map 10: Land behind Vicarage Lane, Ennerdale Bridge 

 

 

 

  

Page 174



 
44 

 Appendix C: Changes to Employment Allocations  

This appendix shows the additional sites that have been brought into proposed Policy E5PU 

in the employment chapter as existing employment sites.  

Map 11: Energy Coast Business Park  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Map 12: Haverigg Industrial Estate  

  

Page 175



 
45 

 Appendix D: Additional Housing Allocations 

This appendix shows the additional housing allocations that we are proposing to include 

within the Local Plan. Please refer to Table 3 for more information  

Map 13: HDH3, Hill Farm, Holmrook  

 

Map 14: HSE3, Seascale 

 

Page 176



 
46 

 

Map 15: HSB3, Land south of Fairladies, St Bees  

  

Page 177



 
47 

 Appendix E: Deleted/ altered Housing Allocations  

This appendix shows the additional housing allocations that we are proposing to delete from 

the plan. Please refer to Table 4 for more information  

Map 16: HWH3, Whitehaven   

Please note, the site with the red outline shows revised site HWH3. The section outlined in 

black is the part which will be removed.  

 

Map 17: HAR2, Arlecdon and Rowrah 

 

 

 

Page 178



 
48 

Map 18: HDH1, Drigg and Holmrook 

 

Map 19: HFR1, Frizington  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 179



 
49 

Map 20: HSB2, St Bees 

 

Map 21: HSE1, Seascale 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 180



 
50 

Map 22: HBI3, Bigrigg   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meetings held on 22 June 2021 and 28 July 2021
	Minutes
	$$MDocPackPublic280721
	Minutes


	8 Mayor's Executive Report
	9 Legionella and Asbestos Policy Update 2021/22
	LEGIONEALLA POLICY DOCUMENT 2021 Rev C
	Asbestos Policy Rev D draft 2021

	10 Shopfront Design Guide SPD Adoption
	2021-09-07 - Shopfront Design Guide SPD Appendix A
	2021-09-07 - Shopfront Design Guide SPD Appendix B

	11 Copeland Local Plan 2021-38: Pre-Publication Focussed Consultation
	Local Plan Focussed Consultation Appendix A


